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UNITED STATES
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
Washington, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-K

(Mark One)
ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 FOR
THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2009
Or
| TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
For the transition period from to

Commission file number 1-10113

ACURA PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.
(Exact name of registrant as specified in its @rart

New York 11-085364C
(State or other jurisdiction of Incorporation oganization) (I.R.S. Employer Identification No
616 N. North Court, Suite 120, Palatine, lllinois 60067
(Address of principal executive offic (Zip code)

Registrant's telephone number, including area c@4ié:705 7709

Securities registered pursuant to section 12(b) dfie Act:
Common Stock, par value $0.01 per share

Securities registered pursuant to section 12(g) d¢iie Act:
(Title of Class)
None
Indicate by check mark if the registrant is a welbwn seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 405ed8#dturities Act. YeBl No
Indicate by check mark if the registrant is notuieed to file reports pursuant to Section 13 orti®eacl5(d) of the Act. YeEl No
Indicate by check mark whether the registranth@s filed all reports required to be filed by Sewtl3 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange
of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for ssiohrter period that the registrant was requirefilécsuch reports), and (2) has been su
to such filing requirements for the past 90 dayssX¥l No O
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant hemnitted electronically and posted on its corpok&feb site, if any, every Interactive D
File required to be submitted and posted pursuamRule 405 of Regulation $8§232.405 of this chapter) during the precedi@grionths (c
for such shorter period that the registrant wasired to submit and post such files). Y8s No O
Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquétdrs pursuant to Iltem 405 of RegulationKS8229.405 of this chapter is not contai
herein, and will not be contained, to the bestegistrant's knowledge, in definitive proxy or infaation statements incorporated by referen
Part 11l of this Form 10-K or any amendment to theem 10-K.[X]

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a-sxcelerated filer, or a smaller report
company.

O Large Accelerated FileEdI Accelerated Fileld Non-Accelerated Filef,l Smaller Reporting Company.

Indicate by check mark whether the registrantsbel company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exgje Act). Yedd No

Based on the last sale price on the NASDAQ Captatket of the Common Stock on June 30, 20($5.98) (the last business day of
registrant's most recently completed second figuatter), the aggregate market value of the vattogk held by noraffiliates of the registra
was approximately $57,306,507.

As of February 28, 2010, the registrant had 43@28shares of Common Stock, par value $0.01, odstg.
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Forward-Looking Statements

Certain statements in this Report constitute "fodalaoking statements" within the meaning of the Pmv&ecurities Litigatic
Reform Act of 1995. Such forwaldeking statements involve known and unknown rigkscertainties and other factors which may caus
actual results, performance or achievements to atenmlly different from any future results, perfaance, or achievements expresse
implied by such forwardeoking statements. The most significant of suattdes include, but are not limited to, our abilépd the ability ¢

King Pharmaceuticals Research and Development,(tKing”) (to whom we have licensed our Aversié'@nTechnoIogy for certain opic
analgesic products in the United States, Canadavamndco) and the ability other pharmaceutical comips, if any, to whom we may licer

our Aversion® Technology, to obtain necessary regulatory appsoeald commercialize products utilizing our Aversidomand ImpedeT™
Technologies, the ability to avoid infringementpzftents, trademarks and other proprietary righthiol parties, and the ability to fulfill tl
U.S. Food and Drug Administration’s (“FDA"equirements for approving our product candidates dommercial manufacturing &
distribution in the United States, including, withidimitation, the adequacy of the results of thledratory and clinical studies completed to
and the results of laboratory and clinical studies may complete in the future, to support FDA apploof our product candidates,
adequacy of the development program for our prodantlidates, including whether additional clinisaldies will be required to support F|
approval of our product candidates, changes inla¢ony requirements, adverse safety findings ne¢atd our product candidates, the risk
the FDA may not agree with our analysis of ouriclihstudies and may evaluate the results of teasdies by different methods or concl
that the results of the studies are not statigyicidnificant, clinically meaningful or that theveere human errors in the conduct of the studi
the risk that further studies of our product caathg are not positive or otherwise do not suppba Bpproval, whether or when we are abl
obtain FDA approval of labeling for our product datates for the proposed indications or for abusterdent features, whether our prot
candidates will ultimately deter abuse in commérsddtings, and the uncertainties inherent inrddie research, drug development, labora
and clinical trials and the regulatory approvalgass. Other important factors that may also affgatre results include, but are not limited
our ability to attract and retain skilled personmlr ability to secure and protect our patentsjemarks and other proprietary rights; litiga
or regulatory action that could require us to panificant damages or change the way we conductbusiness; our ability to comp
successfully against current and future competitous dependence on thiphrty suppliers of raw materials; our ability tacgee U.S. Dru
Enforcement Administration ("DEA") quotas and saurthe active ingredients for our products in depelent; difficulties or delays
conducting clinical trials for our product candigstor in the commercial manufacture and supply wf groducts; and other risks ¢
uncertainties detailed in this Report. When usethis Report, the words "estimate," "project," eipiate," "expect,” "intend," "believe," a
similar expressions identify forward-looking statmts.

PART |
ITEM 1. BUSINESS

Overview

We are a specialty pharmaceutical company engagedsiearch, development and manufacture of proclamdidates intended

provide abuse deterrent features and benefitziatiliour proprietary Aversion® and Impede™ Techgas. Our Aversiorf’ Technolog
opioid analgesic product candidates are intendedffextively relieve pain while simultaneously discaging common methods of opi
product misuse and abuse, including the:

- intravenous injection of dissolved tablets or cégs!
« nasal snorting of crushed tablets or capsules
« intentional swallowing of excess quantities of &blor capsules.

All of our opioid product candidates utilize Avesa® Technology and are covered by two issued U.S. paterich in combination with o
anticipated product labeling and drug product figtstrategies are anticipated to provide our oppioducts with protection from gene
competition through the expiration of our patent2025.

In addition to Acurox®, our lead product candidavee (and/or our licensee, King) are developing W& ® (hydrocodon
bitartrate/niacin/APAP), Acurace? (oxycodone HCl/niacin/ APAP) and additional undised opioid product candidates utilizing
Aversion® Technology. Four opioid product candidates arenged to King under our License, Development andnr@ercializatiol
Agreement dated October 30, 2007. We are alsolal@ng an undisclosed benzodiazepine tablet prodacididate utilizing Aversig®
Technology.




In addition to our Aversiorf’ Technology, as part of our continuing researchreffove are investigating and developing n
mechanisms to incorporate abuse deterrent chaistitterinto abused and misused pharmaceutical ptedun this regard we are engage
initial laboratory testing of a new product candeaeveloped with our novel Impede™ Technologypéde™ Technology is primar
intended to inhibit the conversion of pseudoepimedHCI (a legally available nasal decongestant) imethamphetamine (an illicit a
frequently abused drug).

Acurox ® Tablets, our lead product candidates, is an oeininistered immediate release tablet containingadone HCI as its sc

active analgesic ingredient. On December 30, 26@8submitted a 505(b)(2) New Drug Application (“WD) for Acurox ® Tablets to the FD
and on June 30, 2009 we received from the FDA aleten Response Letter (“CRL")The CRL raised issues regarding the potential ¢

deterrent benefits of Acuro%. On September 2, 2009 we and King met with the FDA agreed that the data and evidence supportir
Acurox ® Tablets NDA would be presented to an FDA Advisom@nittee. The FDA has not yet scheduled the Adyiswmmittee meetir
to review the NDA for AcuroX’ Although the FDA stated that no new Acurdxlinical trials are required at this time, we anohdK are
conducting an additional clinical study (see “AcufoTablets Development Prograrb&low) to further support the abuse deterrent feato
Acurox®.

The misuse and abuse of pharmaceutical producgeneral, and opioid analgesics in particular, isigmificant societal proble
described as epidemic in nature. It is estimatedl 75 million people in the U.S. suffer from paémd, according to U.S. government surv
34.9 million people, or more than 10% of the U.Spulation, have used prescription opioid analgesmsmedically at some point in th

lifetime. We expect our Aversiofi Technology opioid product candidates to competenarily in the market for immediate release og
products (“IR Opioid Products\vhich are commonly prescribed for relief of paim fturations generally less than 30 days. In 2005
Health reported 252 million prescriptions dispenf@dopioid analgesic tablets and capsules, of Wwiaipproximately 236 million were for
Opioid Products and 16 million were for extendekkase opioid tablet and capsule products (“ER @pkioducts”)which are common
prescribed for relief of chronic pain for duratiorenging from several weeks to several months ngdo. We have contracted, througt
independent market research firm, numerous madsstarch studies including two which surveyed 401 486 opioid analgesic prescrib
U.S. based physicians, respectively. These studiesaled that physicians are keenly aware of dpaialgesic abuse and are perso
concerned with the potential impact of drug abusetheir respective medical practices. Our study@f physicians indicated that of
prescriptions likely to be written for our prodwztndidates that utilize the analgesic oxycodonb 88l be switched from immediate rele:

products containing either hydrocodone or oxycodavith the remaining 41%being switched from other currently marketed op@ailgesi
products such as codeine, propoxyphene, morphitetramadol. Ninetfour percent (94%) of 401 physicians surveyed iatdid they woul
either prescribe one of the Aversi@nTechnoIogy products profiled in the market reseajuobstionnaire for one of their last five patit

receiving an opioid prescription or they are awafe patient in their practice for whom AversignTechnoIogy opioid analgesic prodt
would be an appropriate choice.

We have established and intend to pursue futuagesgfic alliances and licensing agreements withrpheeutical companies to enha
our ability to develop and commercialize our pradwandidates. In October 2007, we entered into eeride, Development &
Commercialization Agreement with King to develoglasommercialize certain opioid analgesic produtilizimg our proprietary Aversiof?
Technology, including AcuroX Tablets. The King Agreement initially provided IKginvith an exclusive license in the United Statesnatl
and Mexico (the “King Territory”) to AcuroX Tablets and Acurac&(oxycodone HCl/niacin/acetaminophen) Tablets, and@ion to licens
future opioid analgesic product candidates utiiziour Aversion® Technology in the King Territory. In May and Dedaen 2008, Kin
exercised its option and licensed an undisclosedidpnalgesic tablet product and Vycaveri®drocodone bitartrate/niacin/acetaminop!
Tablets, respectively. Under the terms of the Kérggeement, King made an upfront cash payment tof 30 million. As of February 2
2010, we had received an additional $26.2 millimmf King in the form of milestone payments, optfeas and reimbursement for research
development expenses. In addition, we are elidimduture regulatory and sales milestone paymeeismjbursement for certain research
development expenses and royalties on combinedahnetisales of all products commercialized unkderiding Agreement.




We conduct research, development, laboratory, naaturfing, and warehousing activities at our operatifacility in Culver, Indiar
and lease an administrative office in Palatinéndis. In addition to internal capabilities andieities, we engage numerous clinical rese
organizations (“CROs"ith expertise in regulatory affairs, clinical fridesign and monitoring, clinical data managemeiastatistics, medic
writing, laboratory testing and related servic&ich CROs perform, under our direction, developnaeik regulatory services relating to

Aversion® and Impede™ Technology product candidates.
Our Strategy

Our goal is to become a leading specialty pharntammducompany focused on addressing the growingesacproblem ¢
pharmaceuticaldrug abuse by developing a broad portfolio of pratsluvith abuse deterrent features and benefiteciigally, we intend to:

« Capitalize on our Experience and Expertise in tresdarch and Development of Pharmaceutical Produdts Abuse Deterre
Features and Benefil. Our strategy is to facilitate rapid product depenent and minimize risk by utilizing active phaceutice
ingredients with proven safety and efficacy prafileith known potential for abuse, and develop nesdpcts utilizing our proprieta

Aversion® and Impedem Technologies using the FDA’s 505(b)(2) and othgulatory processes.

o Emerge as a Leader in Developing and Commercigif#noducts with Abuse Deterrent Features and Bendfble to Unique
Address the Growing Problem of Abuse of Prescnipfimugs. We believe that AcuroX and our other opioid product candidate

development have demonstrated that Averé%Trechnology allows products to provide the analgésnefit they were intended
deliver, while simultaneously having features tha intended to deter misuse and abuse. We bdliege benefits will be attract
to physicians, third party payers, and public adeyogroups sensitive to the problem of prescriptinrg abuse

« Optimize Shareholder Value and Temper Risk by bkicgnour Product Candidates to Strategically Foaigeharmaceutici
Companies in the U.S. and Other Geographic Tergwr On October 30, 2007, we and King entered intoKing Agreement 1
develop and commercialize in the United States,aGanand Mexico opioid analgesic products utiIizjﬁwgersion® Technology
including Acurox® Tablets and AcuracétTablets. We believe opportunities exist to entéo similar agreements with other parti
for these same opioid products outside the Kingifbey, and in the United States and worldwide dereloping additional Aversioh
Technology and Impedg Technology product candidates for other abusahlgsisuch as tranquilizers, stimulants, sedativel
decongestants. By licensing our product candiddtesstrategically focused companies with expert@®d infrastructure
commercialization of pharmaceuticals, we are ableeterage our expertise, intellectual propertyhtsgand Aversioff and ImpedéM
Technologies without the need to build costly saled manufacturing infrastructure. We anticipagg our future revenue, if any, v
be derived from milestone and royalty paymentsteeldo the commercialization of products utiliziogr Aversion® and Impedem
Technologies

*  Apply our Aversior® and Impedem Technologies to Non-Opioid Drugs that are SubjectAbuse. We intend to first develop
portfolio of opioid analgesic products, and thereafve intend to expand to other pharmaceuticabyeb categories containi

potentially abusable active ingredients such asquidlizers (brand products such as valifm Xanax® Klonopin® and Ativan®),
stimulants (brand products such as Dexedfinadderall®, Ritalin® and Concertg), sedatives (brand products such as NembButal

Butisol ® , and Secona(?) and decongestants (brand products such as S®lafsttec-D®, Allegra-D®, and Clarinex-D®)Thest
products, like the opioid analgesics on which wearrently focused, may also be prone to misudeabose

« Maintain our Efficient Internal Cost Structu. We maintain a streamlined and highly efficieostcstructure focused on: (i) select
formulation development, laboratory evaluation, ofanture, quality assurance and stability testihgestain finished dosage fo
product candidates; (ii) development and prosenutibour patent applications; and (iii) negotiatiand execution of license &
development agreements with strategically focudeatmpaceutical companies. By outsourcing the higgt elements of our prodi
development and commercialization process, we \eelibat we substantially reduce required fixed bead and capital investm
and thereby reduce our business risk. We curreltipot intend to use a physician focused salefto commercialize products
our own.




Aversion ®Technology Opioid Product Candidates in Development

Aversion® Technology opioid analgesic product cdatks which have demonstrated Proof of Conéezpre set forth in the tat

below.
Our Product Candidatt Stage of Developmel
NDA submitted to FDA on 12/30/08; Complete Respdusiter
Acurox® (oxycodone HCl/niacin) Tablets received 6/30/09; FDA Advisory Committee meetinggiag
scheduling

Investigational New Drug Application ("IND") filediith FDA and

® L
Acuracet” (oxycodone HCl/niacin/APAP) Tablets active beginning -1-08. Testing for NDA submission in progre

Vycaver® (hydrocodone bitartrate/niacin/APAP) Tabl Proof of Concept complete. Testing for IND filimgprogress
4" (undisclosed opioid analgesic) Tablets Proof of Concept complet

5™ (undisclosed opioid analgesic) Tablets Proof of Concept complete

6" (undisclosed opioid analgesic) Tablets Proof of Concept complete

7" (undisclosed opioid analgesic) Tablets Proof of Concept comple

g (undisclosed opioid analgesic) Tablets Proof of Concept comple

! Proof of concept is attained upon demonstratiogesfain product stability and bioavailability pareters defined in the King Agreeme
Refer to description of the King Agreement in tRisport. With one exception, King has either licehse has an option to license all opi
product candidates listed above in the U.S., CanadaVexico.

Aversion ® Technology Overview

Aversion ® Technology is a proprietary platform technology pding abuse deterrent features and benefits tyosaministere
pharmaceutical drug products containing potentiallysable active ingredients. Our focus has beetilize our Aversior’” Technology witl

opioid analgesics administered in tablet form.adidition, we believe Aversio(%TechnoIogy is a versatile technology which may ppliaable
to nonopioid active ingredients subject to abuse and aidteired in tablet or capsule form, including traifigers, sedatives and stimula
(See “Aversion® Technology Non-Opioid Product Caadés in Development” below).

Aversion © Technology opioid analgesic product candidatesuthela unique composition of active and inactiverpla&eutice
ingredients. The opioid active ingredients areridied to provide effective relief from pain whitetproprietary mixture of inactive ingredie
provide nontherapeutic functionality. When dissolved in wateother solvents, the functional inactive ingredéequickly form a viscous g
which increases the difficulty of extracting thei@g active ingredient in a form and volume suigafir injection. In addition, the combinat
of functional inactive ingredients is intended twduice nasal passage discomfort and disliking efféficthe tablets are pulverized

snorted. Aversiof? Technology opioid product candidates may also thelniacin, an active ingredient in vitamins, chtdes reducers at
nutritional supplements, in amounts determined Hyoube well tolerated when our product candidatesadministered at recommended d
but which are intended to induce temporary distikeffects as increasing numbers of tablets arelewedl in excess of the recommen
analgesic dose. When AversignTechnoIogy is utilized, it is intended that theuléieg product provides the same therapeutic behef th

non Aversion® Technology product, while simultaneously discounggthe most common methods of pharmaceutical ptochisuse an
abuse.

Intended to Deter I.V. Injection of Opioids Extraet from Dissolved Table!

Prospective drug abusers may attempt to dissoluermly marketed opioidontaining tablets or capsules in water, alcoholptbe
common solvents, filter the dissolved solution, #émeh inject the resulting fluid intravenously totain euphoric effects. In product candid
utilizing Aversion® Technology, extracting the active ingredient usiigmerally available solvents, including water arolbl, into a volum
and form suitable for intravenous (“I.V.ipjection, converts the tablet into a viscous geéktare and traps the active ingredient in
gel. Additionally, it is not possible, without @dulty, to draw this viscous gel through a neeidb® a syringe for I.V. injection. We believe t
this gel forming feature will inhibit prospective/l drug abusers from extracting and injecting apactive ingredients from product candidi

developed utilizing Aversioft Technology.




Intended to Deter Nasal Snortin

Prospective drug abusers may crush or grind cuyremérketed pharmaceutical opioddntaining tablets or capsules and snor
resulting powder. The abused active ingredienthénpowder is absorbed through the lining of theahpassages providing the abuser w

rapid onset of euphoric effects. Aversi%ﬁ'echnology products are intended to discouragel isa®ating by burning and irritating the ne

passages of a prospective drug abuser who crusitesnarts such products. We believe products whitdize Aversion® Technology wil
inhibit prospective nasal drug abusers from sngrtirushed tablets.

Intended to Deter Swallowing Excess Quantities ablets

Niacin, an active ingredient in vitamins, cholestereducers and nutritional supplements, is inaflide the majority of our opio
analgesic product candidates utilizing Avers?bm'echnology. We believe that should a person swadacess quantities of tablets utiliz

Aversion ® Technology with niacin they will experience disfig symptoms, including intense flushing, itchirgyyeating and/or chill
headache and a general feeling of discomfort assaltrof the increasing dose of niacin. It is extpd that these niacinduced dislikin
symptoms will begin approximately 10 to 15 minus#er the excess dose is swallowed and will digsiggproximately 75 to 90 minu
later. In addition, we believe it is generally sgaized by physicians, nurses, and other health paoviders that niacin has a well establit

safety profile in long term administration at do$asexceeding the amounts in each product carelid@lizing Aversion® Technology witl
niacin. We believe the undesirable niacin effattescalating doses will not prevent, but are ebgqubto deter, swallowing excess quantitie
product candidates utilizing Aversion® Technologyhaniacin.

U.S. Market Opportunity for Opioid Analgesic Products Utilizing Aversion ® Technology

The misuse and abuse of prescription drug prodnaeneral, and opioid analgesics in particulag ggnificant societal problem tl
has been described as epidemic in nature by Joseflalifano, Jr., Chairman and President, NaticBahter for Addiction and Substal
Abuse at Columbia University, July 2005. Resuftem the2008 National Survey on Drug Use and Headtstimated that 34.9 million peog
or more than 10% of the population, have used pipggm opioid analgesics nomedically at some point in their lifetime. In atoln, it is
estimated that more than 75 million people in th8.Wuffer from pain, which is more than the numisepeople with diabetes, heart dise
and cancer combined. For many pain sufferers,id@nalgesics provide their only pain relief. Asesult, opioid analgesics are among
largest prescription drug classes in the U.S. withr 252 million tablet and capsule prescriptioispensed in 2009 of which approximately
million were for IR Opioid Products and 16 millievere for ER Opioid ProductsHowever, physicians and other health care providetsne:
are reluctant to prescribe opioid analgesics far & misuse, abuse, and diversion of legitimaesgriptions for illicit use.

We expect our Aversion®@echnology opioid product candidates to competmarily in the IR Opioid Product segment of the
opioid analgesic market, a segment which has gm@aiven4% compounded annual rate over the last faa@sy On average, an IR Opioid Pro
prescription contains approximately 57 tablets apsules. According to tH208 National Survey on Drug Use and Heaifescription dru
abusers have supplanted abusers of all illicit liesgcept marijuana. Of these abused prescriptiotugts, IR Opioid Products, which typice
provide rapid onset of analgesia and require dosiveyy 4 to 6 hours, comprise the vast majoritythi§ abuse compared with ER Opi
Products, which release their opioids gradually\egally over a 12 to 24 hour period. Due to fewentified competitors and the significar
larger market for dispensed prescriptions for IRo@pProducts compared to ER Opioid Products, weehaitially focused on developing
Opioid Products utilizing Aversion® Technology.

According to IMS Health, in 2009, sales in the IRi@d Product segment, comprised of 97% generiadyets, were $1
billion. Assuming the FDA approves differentiatatiel claims of the abuse deterrent features andflie of our product candidates, of wt

no assurance can be given, we anticipate that verston® Technology IR Opioid Products will be premium pdceompared to gene
products resulting in rapid growth of sales in lReOpioid Product market segment.




Despite considerable publicity regarding the atmfs@xyContin® Tablets and other ER Opioid Products, U.S. govenragtistic
suggest that far more people have used IR OpiaduRts normedically than ER Opioid Products. These statigtgtimate that nearly 5 tin

as many people have misused the IR Opioid Prodvictzdin ®  Lortab® and Lorcet® (hydrocodone bitartrate/APAP) as have ever at

OxyContin®. We estimate 60-95% of the 34.9 million lifetirkS opioid abusers have nomedically used the active ingredients in ou
Opioid product candidates. As indicated in théofeing chart, the top five abused opioid produetsavailable only as IR Opioid Products.

Lifetime Non-Medical Use of Selected Pain Relieverége 12 or Older: 2008

Vicodin®, Lortab®, & Lorcet® |G

Carvocet®, Darvon® & Tylenok® wiCodeine
Parcocet®, Percodan® & Tylox®
Hydrocodone

Codeina

CheyContin®

Morphine

Demeral®

L itran®

=

5 10 15 20 25

Numbers (in millions)

[ 'mmediate Release Only || Extended & Immediate Release

Source: SAMHSA, Office of Applied Studies, 2008tidaal Survey on Drug Use and Health.

We have commissioned, through an independent meg&etairch firm, three physician market researdiesuvith 282, 401 and 435 opi
prescribing U.S. based physicians, respectively\sampling of key findings from these approximatg|¥00 physicians includes:

Physicians are keenly aware of opioid analgesic abu

« The 282 physicians surveyed estimated on averageatiout one out of six prescriptions for oxycodand hydrocodone containi
products are abuse

o 94% of the 435 physicians surveyed experienceeast lone suspicious incident regarding opioid abusige past month, while nea
64% experienced four or more discretely differewidents regarding opioid abuse in the past m¢

Physicians are personally concerned with opioid &leus impact to their respective practices

« Following the survey of 282 physicians, the researchers udadl|"abuse [of opioid analgesics] is a particular probfer physician
because many are not fully sure who is abusingetbpids, and they view such abuse as a legaittioetheir practice.” More tha
half [of the physicians surveyed] believe their gibian colleagues are more concerned about avogtetg review [of their opio
prescribing habits] than meeting [professional eisgimn] pain guidelines [for their patier”.

*  After the survey of 435 physicians the researchersluded “the primary motive for prescribing theeksion® Technology product[
is the concern physicians have about opioid abnderee threat it represents to their prac”




Physicians are favorably inclined toward prescrilgiropioids with abuse deterrent features and bergefit

*  94% of the 401 physicians surveyed indicated they tvould either prescribe one of the Avers@oﬁechnology products profiled
the market research questionnaire for one of theirfive patients receiving an opioid prescript@rthey are aware of a patient in tl

practice for whom Aversioft Technology products would be an appropriate choice.

- 57% of the 435 physicians indicated that their @p@nalgesic prescribing would increase if they everore certain they were |
aiding abusers

* Following the survey of 401 physicians, the resears concluded “these [Aversio(?l Technology oxycodone products] wo
disproportionately replace current immediate redeasycodone [and oxycodone/acetaminophen] presmmigt but would also dre
substantial volume from hydrocodone/acetaminophieduycts’

Overall, we believe the availability of opioid agasics with abuse deterrent features, includinglyets using our Aversioft
Technology, will greatly impact the selection obgucts used for relief of pain. Our market reseatarvey of the 401 physicians indicated
of the prescriptions likely to be written for ouropuct candidates that utilize oxycodone, 59% héllswitched from immediate release proc
containing either oxycodone or hydrocodone, with tbmaining 41% being switched from other currentrketed opioid analgesic prodt
such as codeine, propoxyphene, morphine and trdmado

A majority of pharmaceutical products in the U.& paid for by third party payers such as insunehsrmacy benefit managers, self-
insured companies and the federal and state gowesmsnthrough Medicare, Medicaid and other prograwise. believe our product candide
will have to demonstrate a clinical benefit to gatient and/or an economic benefit to third padyegrs and/or a benefit to health care prov
to receive favored reimbursement status by thergaye

Independent estimates have been made assessipgtdially significant cost impact of prescriptiopioid abuse to insurers.
analysis of health and pharmacy insurance clainsden 1998 and 2002 for almost 2 million Americapnaducted by Analysis Group, i
and others indicated that enrollees with a diagnotiopioid abuse had average claims of approxim&®4,000 per year higher than an age-
gender matched noopioid abuse sample. A 2007 report by the Coalidgainst Insurance Fraud inflated this excess pesfpatient to mo
than $16,000 for 2007, and by applying the U.S.egoments estimated 4.4 million annual opioid abusers, kated that opioid abuse col
costs health insurers up to $72.5 billion a year.

Acurox ® Tablets Development Program

We submitted a 505(b)(2) NDA for AcurdkTablets to the FDA on December 30, 2008 and redetv€omplete Response Le
(“CRL") on June 30, 2009. On September 2, 2009 we and detgvith the FDA and agreed that the data andeenied supporting the Acur

® Tablets NDA would be presented to an FDA Advisopm@nittee. The FDA has not yet scheduled the Adyi€&smmittee meeting to revie
the NDA for Acurox®.

The NDA for Acurox® Tablets includes results from numerous clinical #&twbratory studies assessing the efficacy andysaf

Acurox ® Tablets and to demonstrate abuse deterrent featmedenefits, including the data and results fedudies set forth in the tal
below.




Studies in the Acur(® Tablets 505(b)(2) NDA Submissic Summary of Result

AP-ADF-101 I Identified appropriate niacin dose in each
Phase Niacin dos-response (0-75mg) Acurox® Tablet
AP-ADF-104 Bioequivalence to non Aversion® Technology Refeeeshisted Acurox® Tablets are bioequivalent to the
Phase Drug Reference Listed Dru
AP-ADF-108 . : ] Acurox® Tablets demonstrate single d¢
Phase slinglie el ety e e e linearity. Absorption is delayed by foc
AP-ADF-109 . . . Acurox® Tablets demonstrate mi-dose
Multi-dose linearity ; .
Phase linearity
AP-ADF-106 Evaluate effects of nasal snorting in subjects wittistory of N,
Phase snorting and nasal drug abt e
AP-ADF-103 . Confirmed appropriate niacin dose in each
Phase | Repeat dose safety and tolerabi Acurox® Tablet
AP-ADF-107 I Confirmed appropriate niacin dose in ei
Phase | Niacin dos-response (0-600mg) Acurox® Tablet
AP-ADF-102 Evaluate relative dislike of oxycodone HCl/niaciersus S
Phase | oxycodone HCl alon Refer to summary in this Report
AP-ADF-111 Evaluate abuse liability of oxycodone HCl/niacirrsigs oxycodon A e
Phase | HCl alone Refer to summary in this Repc
AFI):;ﬁaE)sFe-IlI(I)S Evaluate safety and efficacy in relief of modertatsevere pail Refer to summary in this Repc
Extraction Tes Laboratory test quantifying I.V. abuse deterremigarties Refer to summary in this Repc
Syringe Tes Laboratory test quantifying I.V. abuse deterremigarties Refer to summary in this Rep

Although the FDA stated that no new AcurBxlinical trials are required at this time, we anthd are performing an additior
clinical study (Refer to Study AP-ADF-114 below)ftother support the abuse deterrent features aféc” .

Study AP-ADF-114 or Study 114: Study 114 is a randomized, double-blind, placeba activezontrolled study designed to as:
the relative abuse potential of Acuroxi®@blets. In Study 114, approximately 47 fastedeational drug abuse subjects received single
doses in five test treatments including (a) twoeptitlly abused excess doses of Acurox®y€odone/niacin) Tablets, (b) two potenti
abused excess oral doses of oxycodone HCI alomk{@nplacebo. Dosing occurred every 48 hoursorRo the first test treatment, e:
subject first demonstrated, through naloxone chghe that they were not dependent on opioids. ,Adach subject demonstrated their at
to distinguish, on a 10Peint VAS like/dislike scale, between placebo andyomdone doses randomly administered on a bli
basis. Endpoints assessing abuse potential incdubgective assessments on a padit VAS of drug liking/disliking, take drug agaianc
global overall drug liking/disliking. Study 114 fiaompleted enrollment and we are awaiting resiitee statistical analysis.

Study AP-ADF-106 or Study 106: Study 106 was a two part, Phase I, single-cestegle-blind, clinical study in nodependet
subjects with a history of recreational intranasploid use to assess the safety, tolerability ahdrmacodynamic effects of intranas
administered crushed Acurox®&blets, crushed generic oxycodone HCI tabletspamd oxycodone HCI powder. The primary objectif®ar
1 (15 subjects enrolled, 13 subjects completedubjects analyzed) was to determine the maximuenat#d dose of crushed AcuroX@blet:
that subjects could snort in a single administratiBubjects were administered escalating dosesished Acurox®@Tablets (7.5/30 mg) starti
at one half tablet and increasing in half tabletéments on successive days. Part 1 also asges®ed hours after administration) vital sic
subjective ratings of liking and somatic (bodily)sebmfort, and objective assessments of the naawtyc determined by endoscc
and intranasal photography. Part 2 (15 subjeutslled, 12 subjects completed, 10 subjects and)yassessed the relative abuse liabilit
intranasally administered crushed AcuroX@blets (7.5/30 mg), crushed generic oxycodone ili@lediate release tablets and pure oxyco
HCI powder, all with a quantity of oxycodone HCludeplent to the group median highest tolerated adsscurox® Tablets determined in P
1. Part 2 measurements were made over 12 hoursnahaled vital signs, subjective measures of tikend somatic (bodily) discomfc
objective assessments of the nasal cavity andhhemacokinetics of oxycodone after intranasal adstration.

Part 1 of the study determined the maximum toler&&anasal dose of crushed AcuroX@blets was 15 mg oxycodone HCI/60
niacin (i.e. 2 x 7.5/30 mg Acurox® Tablets).
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In Part 2 of the study, nasal administration ofished AcuroX Tablets (7.5/30 mg ) resulted in disliking and Ipasitive drug effe:
on the Overall Drug Experience and Overall Drugitdkscales. In comparison, crushed generic oxyeeddCl| tablets and oxycodone
powder resulted in high drug liking and positiveigleffects with the mean difference being statidiicsignificant at p< 0.0035. Furthermor

subjects were much less willing to take crushedrdxe{ Tablets again compared to crushed oxycodone tahtetsoxycodone powder

0.0007). Intranasal administration of crushed Azt Tablets caused significantly greater negative dhjecffects for nasal congestion
discharge (p< 0.0223) and negative subjective effects for nasahing, congestion and need to blow nose (20038). The results were
statistically significant for the objective assessitnof nasal irritation.

Examination of endoscopy and external photographgaled visible differences between the treatmastsnly the crushed Acurdk
treatment was associatedith white foamy substance in the interior and nhéddirbinate of the nose and visible facial flughirOxycodon
bioavailability was similar between all three treants. In both Parts of the study, no serious advevents were reported. All adverse e\
were classified as mild or moderate with the maestvalent adverse events being nasal symptoms (stagediscomfort, discharge), flushi
tearing and euphoria.

The principal investigator’s overall conclusion wihsit, based on Study 106 results, intranasal &adiration of crushed Acuré
Tablets has a distinctively lower abuse potentiahtthe same oxycodone HCI dose administered afetugeneric oxycodone HCI tablet
pure oxycodone HCI powder.

Study AP-ADF-102 or Study 102: Study 102 was a Phase Il, single center, randomdmable blind crossover design clinical trie
24 subjects with a history of opioid abuse withrianary endpoint to assess, whether the subjeciiketisthe drug effect they were feeling wl
varying levels of niacin were administered in conaion with 40 mg of oxycodone HCI| compared to 49 axycodone HCI (alone) anc
placebo. Each subject was randomized to a dostéggesice that included doses of niacin (0, 240, 4&0d 600 mg) administered
combination with 40 mg oxycodone HCI, while the jgabs were fasted and 600 mg niacin in combinatigih 40 mg oxycodone Ht
administered following a standardized hifgtt-meal. Each dosing day, vital sign measuressaihjective and behavioral effects were asst
before dosing (baseline) and at 0.5, 1, 1.5, 4,3, 6, and 12 hours after dosing. After completof the study, subjects responded
Treatment Enjoyment Assessment Questionnaire extselhich of the treatments they would take agdihe maximum scale response to
guestion “Do you dislike the drug effect you aresliieg now?” (i.e., the “Disliking Score”)was designated as the primary effic
variable. Study results were as follows:

» In the fasting state, all three doses of niacioambination with oxycodone HCI 40mg produced sigaifit (p< .05) Disliking Score
compared to oxycodone HCI 40mg alone. No othejestibe measure was significantly affected by tiaeim addition to oxycodoni

« The high fat meal eliminated the niacin effect atgb delayed the time to oxycodone peak blood $evel

« The addition of niacin to oxycodone HCI alters sudbjective response to oxycodone HCI as indicatethé significant responses
the Disliking Score. This observation in conjunatiwith the results from the Treatment Enjoyment Qio@naire indicates that t
addition of niacin reduces the attractiveness gtorone to opiate abuse

« There were no serious adverse events. Niacin peatlacdose related attenuation of pupillary constri¢ diastolic blood presst
increase and probably systolic blood pressure @sereproduced by oxycodone HCI. The alterations ilagim on the vital sig
responses to oxycodone 40 mg were minimal, wene gemarily with the 600 mg niacin dose and weréalimically significant.

The principal study investigata@’overall conclusion was that the results of St@g supported the hypothesis that the additic

niacin to oxycodone HCI in a minimal ratio of 30 mgacin to 5 mg oxycodone HCI is aversive compai@dxycodone HCI alone. T
addition of niacin did not alter the safety profitoxycodone HCI alone.
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Study AP-ADF-111 or Study 111: Study 111 is entitled "A Phase Il, Single-Cenfeandomized, DoublBlind, Assessment of tl

Abuse Liability of Acurox® (oxycodone HCI and niacin) Tablets in Subjects witHistory of Opioid Abuse". In Study 111, 30 faktibject
with a history of opioid abuse received a singlsalof study drugs every 48 hours for 9 days ane warolled in two dosing sequences.

first dosing sequence (Sequence 1) included rarmirdoses of (i) niacin 240mg alone; (ii) a combiaraof oxycodone HCI 40mg with niac
240mg (4 times the expected recommended dose abAdlTablets 5/30mg); and (jii) placebo tablets. Theotive of Sequence 1 was
assess the effects of oxycodone HCI on the effefctdacin. The second dosing sequence (Sequenagl2ped randomized doses of (

combination of oxycodone HCI 40mg with niacin 240ifdgtimes the expected recommended dose of Aclirdablets 5/30mg) and (

oxycodone HCI 40mg alone. Sequence 2 was designadsess the abuse liability and abuse deterqgoteatial of Acurox® Tablets verst
oxycodone HCl alone. On each dosing day, vitah sigpasures and subjective and behavioral effeats assessed before dosing (baseline
at0.5,1, 1.5, 2,3,4,5, 6, and 12 hours aftsird). Vital signs included measurement of puigi sblood pressure, heart rate, oral temper
and respiratory rate. For both Sequence 1 ande®equ2, subjective changes were measured with aténo Drug Rating Questionnaire-
Subject (DRQS) and a 40 item short form of the &tidh Research Center Inventory (ARCI). The ARGIswwomprised of three scale sc
including the Morphine Benzedrine Group scale (MB@asuring euphoria, the LSD/dysphoria scale megasgsomatic/bodily discomfort a
dysphoria and the Pentobarbital Chlorpromazine Bdtd@roup scale (PCAG) measuring apathetic sedatiar Sequence 2 only, in addit
to the DRQS and ARCI, subjects also completed @eBtalue Assessment Questionnaire and a Treatfrjayment Assessme
Questionnaire.

Sequence 1 results demonstrated that responsadio 1240 mg alone compared to placebo causes isigmifdislike scores (p = .0
and significant LSD/dysphoria scores (p < .001Lhwitese negative niacin induced effects manifegtapidly, reaching peak at 0155 hour
and thereafter diminishing. At 0.5 hours aftergdadministration, oxycodone HCI 40 mg has limitéfit& on niacininduced disliking an
dysphoric effects. At the one hour observation afitekward, oxycodone may attenuate niacin-indutisliking and dysphoric effects.

Sequence 2 demonstrated that the combination afoalgne HCI 40mg and niacin 240mg (4 times the ebgoleecommended dose

Acurox ® Tablets 5/30mg) had the potential to be aversivenmtompared to oxycodone HCI 40mg alone as showstdiistically significar
and clinically meaningful results in the dislikk#i scores (p = .033), the Treatment Enjoyment Assesnt scores (p = .005) and
LSD/dysphoria scores (p<.001). The dislike/likerecat 0.5 hours was designated the primary measwabuse liability and abuse deterre

potential for AcuroxX® Tablets 5/30mg and the Treatment Enjoyment Assassseeres and LSD/dysphoria scores at 0.5 hours aedlitione

measures of the abuse deterrence potential of AcUiablets. Subjective measures not achieving statissignificance included the ME
scores measuring euphoria, the PCAG score measagathetic sedation and the Street Value Assess@eeastionnaire score, in wh

subjects indicated they would pay more for oxycadbi€Cl alone compared to Acur8xTablets (p=.097).

In this study of 30 subjects with a history of ddi@abuse there were no serious adverse eventstedpohlterations by niac
compared to placebo on vital signs were minimal aodclinically meaningful. The differences inalitsigns between oxycodone HCl/nie

and niacin alone at 4 times the expected recomntedadse of AcuroX Tablets were minimal and not clinically meaningful.

Study AP-ADF-105 or Study 105: Study 105 is entitled “A Phase Ill, Randomizeauble-blind, Placebaentrolled, Multicente

Repeat-dose Study of the Safety and Efficacy ofrext? (oxycodone HCI and niacin) Tablets versus Placebadhe Treatment of Acul
Moderate to Severe Postoperative Pain Followingi@ettomy Surgery in Adult PatientsA total of 405 patients were randomized to or

three treatment arms of approximately 135 patipetsarm. One treatment arm received a dose ofAwoox ® Tablets 5/30 mg, a secc

treatment arm received a dose of two Acufokablets 7.5/30 mg, and the third treatment armivedea dose of two placebo tablets. S
drugs were administered every 6 hours for 48 holite primary endpoint was the sum of the diffeeeit pain intensity, measured o
100mm visual analog scale (VAS), compared to baseativer a 48 hour period (“SPIR”). Prior to initiating Study 105, the study des

endpoints and statistical analysis plan were subthito and agreed by the FDA under a Special PobtAssessment and the study
conducted accordingly. Results of Study 105 dertnatesthat compared to placebo, Acurdsablets5/30 mg and 7.5/30 mg both met
primary pain relief endpoint with p=.0001 and p<Q@Qrespectively. AcuroX Tablets were generally well tolerated with the mmstvalen

reported adverse events in patients receiving Acflirbablets being nausea, vomiting, dizziness, prudin flushing; side effects known to
consistent with opioid and niacin therapies. Mmdterse events were mild or moderate and there meserious adverse events. Six pat

(2.2%) receiving AcuroX Tablets withdrew from the study due to treatmentergent adverse events compared with no withdsadad t
treatment-emergent adverse events for the placehgpg
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Extraction Test - In consultation with experts in the field, a laktorg protocol for evaluating the relative 1V abu&bility of
Acurox® Tablets was designed. To provide unbiaseikntifically derived and documented study resulte engaged a laboratory CRO
specializing in pharmaceutical product analysiexecute the protocol. The protocol was intendednibmic the uncontrolled "real worl
environment, except that professional chemists a@tbess to a wide range of laboratory equipmentsaipglies would pose as potential
drug abusers. As would be the case with a potehiadrug abuser, these chemists were allowed uricésd access to information
developing oxycodone extraction methods and teciasig The CRO was provided with a list of ingretiefactive and inactive) containec
each test product, allotted up to 80 hours tométto complete the evaluations and allowed to ngenzethodology and/or solvents desire
attempt to extract oxycodone HCI from the tablats iform suitable for 1.V. injection. The test guzts were: OxyContin ®okycodone HC
Tablets 1 x 40 mg (Purdue Pharma), Oxycodone HB85®Bax 5 mg (Mallinckrodt), Percocet ®d¢ycodone HCI/APAP) Tablets 8 x 5/325
(Endo) and -Acurox ®dxycodone HCl/niacin) Tablets 8 x 5/30 mg (Acur@he results of the Extraction Test suggest thatectly markete
oxycodone HCI containing tablets may be easilyatigsd in water in as little as 310 minutes for potential abuse via IV injection. &yntras
the Extraction Test simulation suggests that piegaan injectable form of Acurox®&ablets is difficult and not practical due to thmd
required (almost 6 hours) and the inability to a@bta sufficient oxycodone vyield that would providey degree of euphoric effect to
prospective drug abuser.

Syringe Test- The Syringe Test was developed to simulate théiveldifficulty of abusing dissolved opioid tableasd capsules v
IV injection. The test was designed as a sciedtificreproducible method to quantitatively meastire difficulty of drawing into a syringe
solution made from tablets or capsules dissolvedairying types and volumes of solvent. The te8izas seven (7) solvents available
potential abusers, the largest syringe barrel abksl without a prescription and the largest borediee in the subcutaneous syringe
family. The needle and barrel are much larger tiypically used by abusers and represent a wosst saenario (e.g. easier to prepare ¢
injection). The Syringe Test results suggest firaparing an injectable form of Acurox®ablets using a variety of available solvent
impractical due to high solvent volume requiremeamsl the viscous/gelatinous mixture formed whemsalisng Acurox® Tablets in lowe
volumes of the solvents tested. Even if a "Thécadly Injectable" solution of crushed Acurox®ablets is achieved it would require furt
processing by the prospective abuser to separateodane from other tablet ingredients (includingam and numerous excipients) ar
reduction in total volume to provide a solutioreivolume and form that is practically suitable férinjection.

Expectations for AcuroX’ Tablets Product Labeling

The FDA has publicly stated that an explicit indica or claims of abuse deterrence will not be pted in product labeling unle
such indication or claims are supported by doubtallzontrolled clinical studies demonstrating @tual reduction in product abuse by pati
or drug abusers. We believe the cost, time andtipedity of designing and implementing clinicalidies adequate to support explicit labe
claims of abuse deterrence are prohibitive. TheARias stated that scientifically derived data anfbrimation describing the physi
characteristics of a product candidate and/or ¢selts of laboratory and clinical studies simulgtproduct abuse may be acceptable to in

in the product label. We intend to include in taieels of our Aversioff Technology product candidates both a physical ifgtgmn of the abus
deterrent characteristics and information from mumerous laboratory and clinical studies desigonesrulate the relative difficulty of abusi
our product candidates. The extent to which saébrination will be included in the FDA approved guat label will be the subject of ¢
discussions with and agreement by the FDA as ffatttedo NDA review process for each of our produatdidates. Further, because F
closely regulates promotional materials, even ifAHDitially approves labeling that includes a déstion of the abuse deterrent characteri:
of the product, the FDA will continue to review theceptability of promotional labeling claims anebguct advertising campaigns for
product candidates.

King Agreement

On October 30, 2007, we and King Pharmaceuticake&eh and Development, Inc. (“King”), a whotiyned subsidiary of Kir
Pharmaceuticals, Inc., entered into a License, Dpweent and Commercialization Agreement (the “KiAgreement”)to develop an
commercialize in the United States, Canada and édegihe "King Territory") certain opioid analgesgicoducts utilizing our proprieta

Aversion®Techn0I0gy. The King Agreement initially provid&ihg with an exclusive license in the King Terrigdior Acurox® (oxycodon
HCl/niacin) Tablets and Acuracgt(oxycodone HCl/niacin/APAP) Tablets, utilizing A\mmn®TechnoIogy. In addition, the King Agreem

provides King with an option to license in the Kifigrritory all future opioid analgesic products diped utilizing Aversior? Technology. A
December 31, 2009, King had exercised its optiolicemse two additional product candidates inclgdam undisclosed opioid analgesic te

product and Vycavef? (hydrocodone bitartrate/niacin/APAP) Tablets, eattvhich utilize our Aversior? Technology. We are responsible
using commercially reasonable efforts to developrAg® Tablets through regulatory approval by the FDA.e King Agreement provides tt

we or King may develop additional opioid analggsiocduct candidates utilizing our Aversi@ﬁl’echnology and, if King exercises its optiol
license such additional product candidates, thélybmisubject to the milestone and royalty paymeanis other terms of the King Agreement.
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Pursuant to the King Agreement, we and King fornaefbint steering committee to oversee developmeaudt @ommercializatic

strategies for Aversion® opioid analgesic produimsnsed to King. We are responsible for all AcufoTablet development activities, 1
expenses for which we are reimbursed by King, thhoiDA approval of a 505(b)(2) NDA. After NDA apmal King will be responsible fi

commercializing Acurox® Tablets in the U.S. With respect to all other ptd licensed by King pursuant to the AgreemenalinKing
Territories, King will be responsible, at its owxpense, for development, regulatory, and commézeitidbn activities. All products develog
pursuant to the King Agreement will be manufactupgKing or a third party contract manufacturer enthe direction of King. Subject to 1
King Agreement, King will have final decision magiauthority with respect to all development and o@rtialization activities for all licens
products. We have reviewed our participation in Klireg-Acura joint steering committee in light of the ré@gments of Emerging Issues T
Force, Issue No. 00-21, “Revenue Arrangements Mitktiple Deliverables” (“EITF 00-21"and concluded that this activity has no stande
value therefore it does not meet the criteria tedresidered a separate unit of accounting.

At December 31, 2009, we had received aggregatm@atgs of $56.2 million from King, consisting of 80 million nonrefundabl
upfront cash payment, $15.2 million in reimbursesearch and development expenses relating to A@ufablets, $6.0 million in fees relati

to King’s exercise of its option to license an wulthsed opioid analgesic tablet product and Vyda%@ablets, and a $5.0 million milestone

relating to our successful achievement of the prymendpoints for our pivotal Phase Il clinical gyufor Acurox ® Tablets. The Kin
Agreement also provides for King's payment to usad$3.0 million fee upon King’ exercise of its option for each future opioid dua
candidate. In the event that King does not exeritgs option for a future opioid product candid&@g may be required to reimburse us
certain of our expenses relating to such futureidgiroduct candidate. Further, we may receivéoup23 million in additional nomefundabl

milestone payments for each product candidate $egérto King, including AcuroX Tablets, which achieve certain regulatory milessoir
specific countries in the King Territory. We cdaareceive a onéme $50 million sales milestone payment upon ttet attainment of $7¢
million in net sales of all of our licensed prodaiecross all King Territories. In addition, fotesaoccurring following the one year anniver:
of the first commercial sale of the first liceng@duct sold, King will pay us a royalty at one6ofates ranging from 5% to 25% based ot
level of combined annual net sales for all prodlicensed by us to King across all King Territori@asth the highest applicable royalty r
applied to such combined annual sales. King's ltpygayment obligations expire on a product by prctdand country-byountry basis upc
the later of (i) the expiration of the last validtpnt claim covering such product in such coundny(ii) fifteen (15) years from the fi
commercial sale of such product in such countrg. nimum annual fees are payable by either partieuthe King Agreement. Referenc
made to Item 9 of Note A of the Notes to Consobddatinancial Statements included as a part ofRbjgort, entitled Revenue Recognition a
Deferred Program Fee Revenue” for a descriptiadh@fevenue recognition method employed by the Gompinder the King Agreement.

The King Agreement expires upon the expiration dhg&s royalty payment and other payment obligationseunthe King
Agreement. King may terminate the King Agreemenits entirety or with respect to any product ay #me after March 31, 2010, upon

provision of not less than 12 months’ prior writteatice, and in its entirety if regulatory approwdlthe NDA for Acurox® Tablets is nc
received prior to March 31, 2010 and with resped particular product with respect to a countryhich regulatory approval for such proc

is withdrawn by a regulatory authority in such coyn We do not expect to receive FDA approval of the NDAAcurox ® Tablets prior t
March 31, 2010. As a result, King may terminate King Agreement at any time following such dat®mpvritten notice to us. We m
terminate the King Agreement with respect to a pobdn the United States in the event such pro@ticbt commercially launched by Ki
within 120 days after receipt of regulatory apptogf such product or in its entirety if King comntwas any interference or opposil
proceeding challenging the validity or enforceapiiny of our patent rights licensed to King untler King Agreement. Either party has
right to terminate the King Agreement on a prodogtproduct and country-bgeuntry basis if the other party is in material dwle of it
obligations under the King Agreement relating talsproduct and such country, and to terminate thee@ment in its entirety in the event
other party makes an assignment for the benefiteditors, files a petition in bankruptcy or othesgvseeks relief under applicable bankru
laws, in each case subject to applicable cure gerio
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In the event of termination, no payments are dwepithose royalties and milestones that have adgpuor to termination under t
King Agreement and all licenses under the King Agnent are terminated. For all Acura terminatiomd grmination by King where we
not in breach, the King Agreement provides forttia@sition of development and marketing of thered products from King to us, includ
the conveyance by King to us of the trademarksalnegulatory filings and approvals solely usedamnection with the commercializatior
such licensed products and, in certain cases, iftg’& supply of such licensed products for a trmisal period at King’s cost plus a mark-up.

The foregoing description of the King Agreement teams forward-looking statements about AcufdTablets, and other prod
candidates being developed pursuant to the Kingeédment. As with any pharmaceutical products umtdelopment or proposed to
developed, substantial risks and uncertaintieq @xidevelopment, regulatory review and commerzélon process. There can be no assu
that the King Agreement will not be terminated kg/terms prior to receipt of regulatory approval &my product developed pursuant to
King Agreement. Further, there can be no assur#meany product developed, in whole or in padrspant to the King Agreement v
receive regulatory approval or prove to be comnadlscsuccessful. Accordingly, investors in the Quany should recognize that there i
assurance that the Company will receive the mifesfmayments or royalty revenues described in ting ligreement or even if such milestc
are achieved, that the related products will becassfully commercialized and that any royalty resen payable to us by King v
materialize. For further discussion of other rigksl uncertainties associated with the Company|tege 1A in this Report under the heac
“Risks Factors”.

Patents and Patent Applications

In April 2007, the United States Patent and Tradén@ffice (“USPTQO"), issued to us a patent titledléthods and Compositions
Deterring Abuse of Opioid Containing Dosage Fornfsie “920 Patent”).The 54 allowed claims in the 920 Patent encompastait
pharmaceutical compositions intended to deter tbstrnommon methods of prescription opioid analgesaduct misuse and abuse. Tt
patented pharmaceutical compositions include sipemifioid analgesics such as oxycodone HCI anddoaitone bitartrate among others.

In January 2009, the USPTO issued to us a pateat“@02 Patent”)with 18 allowed claims. The 402 Patent encompase€esir
combinations okappaandmuopioid receptor agonists and other ingredientaitiéel to deter opioid analgesic product misuse andea

In March 2009, the USPTO issued to us a patent‘{thé Patent”with 20 allowed claims. The 726 Patent encompaasesler rang
of abuse deterrent compositions than our 920 Patent

In addition to our issued U.S. patents, we hawfilnultiple U.S. patent applications and intermalgatent applications relating
compositions containing abusable active pharmazautigredients. Except for those rights confetirethe King Agreement, we have retai
all intellectual property rights to our Aversion@dhnology, Impede™ Technology, and related prodatiidates.

Reference is made to Item 1A, “Risk Factofsf a discussion, among other things, of pendingmaapplications owned by th

parties including claims that may encompass ourrdieli Tablets and other product candidates. If sucld tharty patent applications resul
valid and enforceable issued patents containinignelan their current form, we or our licensees dobé required to obtain a license to ¢
patents, should one be available, or alternatitellter our product candidates to avoid infrimgguch third-party patents.

Competition in the Opioid Product Market

We compete to varying degrees with numerous comegaim the pharmaceutical research, development,ufaetauring an
commercialization fields. Many of our competitorgvl substantially greater financial and other resesiand are able to expend more fi
and effort than us in research and developmerttef tompetitive technologies and products. Althoadarger company with greater resou
than us will not necessarily have a higher liketilaof receiving regulatory approval for a particuteoduct or technology as compared
smaller competitor, the company with a larger refeand development expenditure will be in a pogito support more development proj
simultaneously, thereby potentially improving tlilelihood of obtaining regulatory approval of a aoercially viable product or technolc
than its smaller rivals.
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We believe potential competitors may be developp@id abuse deterrent technologies and produatsh $otential competitc
include, but may not be limited to, Pain Therapsutf South San Francisco, CA, (in collaboratiothvding Pharmaceuticals Inc.), Pur
Pharma of Stamford, CT, Atlantic Pharmaceuticafsitlanta, GA, Egalet a/s, of Verlose, Denmark &@uallegium Pharmaceuticals, Inc.,
Cumberland, RI. These companies appear to be ifagtiseir development efforts on ER Opioid Produetsle our lead product candide

Acurox ® Tablets, and the majority of our other Aversf%n'echnology opioid analgesic product candidates uddeelopment, are IR Opic
Products.

Aversion ®Technology Non-Opioid Product Candidates in Develapent

We are developing a benzodiazepine product careidtiizing our Aversion®Technology intended for the treatment of an»
disorders. According tBrugs of Abuse published by the US Drug Enforcement Administmatitranquilizers are abused in manners simil
opioid analgesics. Th2008 National Survey on Drug Use and Healtttimates that 21.5 million people have abusedcpp®n tranquilizer
(including benzodiazepines) at some point in thifgtime and 5.1 million have abused tranquilizershe past year.

We have completed a 2-way pilot crossover pharmaetik study in 9 healthy adult subjects of a singtal dose of the Aversi@n
Technology benzodiazepine product candidate cordp@aréhe reference listed drug. While the Averg&iohechnology product candidate
not achieve bioequivalence to the reference lidired in this pilot study, the Aversion®echnology product candidate demonstrated su
bioavailability of the active benzodiazepine ingesd and we believe such product candidate may dsetratte bioequivalence to the refere
listed drug in a larger pivotal scale study.

The Aversion®Technology benzodiazepine product candidate isited to be encompassed by numerous pending paielidedion:
filed with the USPTO by the Company. However,tas tstage, there can be no assurances that sudinggratent applications will result
issued patent claims encompassing our benzodiazepoduct candidate.

Impede™ Technology Product Candidates in Developmén

We are engaged in laboratory testing of a pseudsirpte HC1 product candidate utilizing our novebbfdem Technology. Impedg
Technology is primarily intended to inhibit the emmnsion of pseudoephedrine HC1 into methamphetanaindllicit and frequently abus
drug.

Most pseudoephedrine containing products are ékeddiy the FDA for sale Over-The-Counter (with@utloctors prescription) ar
most product formulations do not require the apptosf a New Drug Application by the FDA to initiatsommercial distribution at
marketing. In 2006 regulations relating to otlee- counter sale of pseudoephedrine HCI producte wmended with the enactment of
federal Combat Methamphetamine Abuse Act (CMAAhe TCMAA was enacted in response to an alarmingeas® in and widespre
conversion of pseudoephedrine containing produntts inethamphetamine. Among other things, the CMAduires retail stores to maint
their inventory of pseudoephedrine containing potslin a secured location and restricts the amofipseudoephedrine products a store
sell to an individual customer. Implementatiortttd CMAA initially reduced the number of illegal thamphetamine laboratories as, the 1
commonly used process for conversion of pseudoepteeth methamphetamine requires substantial qiiestf pseudoephedrine. Howeve
newer, more efficient process for converting psepth@drine to methamphetamine requires less psehedepe. Possibly as a result of
more efficient process, the DEA reported a 15%sdase in clandestine methamphetamine laboratoryresiin 2008. Impede™ Technolog
designed to deter a wide range of processes ofamgthetamine production including both the older meer processes.

Government Regulation

All pharmaceutical firms, including us, are subjerextensive regulation by the federal governmenngcipally by the FDA under tl
Federal Food, Drug and Cosmetic Act (the “FD&C Actind, to a lesser extent, by state and local govemtsn Before our products may
marketed in the U.S., they must be approved by for commercial distribution. Additionally, weere subject to extensive regulation by
DEA under the Controlled Substances Act for redgadevelopment and manufacturing of controlled sarxes. We are also subjec
regulation under federal, state and local laws)utling requirements regarding occupational safédporatory practices, environmer
protection and hazardous substance control, ando@aybject to other present and future localesfatieral and foreign regulations, incluc
possible future regulations of the pharmaceuticdlstry. We cannot predict the extent to which way rhe affected by legislative and ot
regulatory developments concerning our productsthadhealthcare industry in general.
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However, because of recent developments in thel&ie and regulatory framework within which drpgpducts are reviewed &
approved by FDA, approval of drug products by FDAymbe subject to continuing obligations intendedassure safe use of
products. Specifically, effective March 25, 2008der Title IX of Subtitle A of the Food and Drugiministration Amendments Act of 20
(“FDAAA™), FDA may require a Risk Evaluation and Njation Strategy (“‘REMS”Jo manage known or potential serious risks assextiadtt
drugs or biological products. If FDA finds that £RS is necessary to ensure that the benefits opmaucts outweigh the risks associ
with the products, FDA will require a REMS and, sequently, that we take additional measures torersafe use of the product. Compon
of a REMS may include, but are not limited to a Mation Guide, a marketing and sales communicatlan, elements to assure safe pro
use, a REMS implementation system, and a timefablEDA'’s assessment of the effectiveness of th&/BE

The FD&C Act, the Controlled Substances Act andeotfederal statutes and regulations govern théntgsmanufacture, quali
control, export and import, labeling, storage, rdckeeping, approval, pricing, advertising, prorantisale and distribution of pharmaceu
products. Noncompliance with applicable requireradrdth before and after approval, can subject wsthord party manufacturers and ot
collaborative partners to administrative and jualisianctions, such as, among other things, waietters, fines and other monetary payme
recall or seizure of products, criminal proceedjrgysspension or withdrawal of regulatory approvaierruption or cessation of clinical trie
total or partial suspension of production or digition, injunctions, limitations on or the limitati of claims we can make for our products,
refusal of the government to enter into supply @ts for distribution directly by governmental agees, or delay in approving or refusa
approve new drug applications. The FDA also hasithkority to revoke or withhold approvals of nemg applications.

The Federal Controlled Substances Act imposes wariegistration, recordeeping and reporting requirements, procuremen
manufacturing quotas, labeling and packaging reguénts, security controls and a restriction ongigion refills on certain pharmaceuti
products. Establishments may not handle contraled) substances until they have been inspectedemistered by the DEA. Facilities m
be equipped to meet DEA security requirements. iAcgpal factor in determining the particular reguirents, if any, applicable to a produt
its actual or potential abuse profile. A pharmaialiproduct may be “scheduled” as a C-I, C-II,IC-C-1V or C-V controlled substance, w
C-I substances considered to present the highastofi substance abuse andvGsubstances the lowest. Because of the potertiahlfuse
opioid analgesic active pharmaceutical ingrediams finished drug products, including all of oureksion® Technology product candidat

are regulated, or scheduled, under the Controlidgbtances Act. Because it contains oxycodone wW€believe that Acurof Tablets will b
a DEA C-Il product.

FDA approval is required before any "new drug," b@nmarketed. A "new drug" is one not generallyogeized as safe and effect
for its intended use. Our products are new drugehSapproval must be based on adequate and weliotled laboratory and clinic
investigations. In addition to providing requireafety and effectiveness data for FDA approval,ugdnanufacturer's practices and procec
must comply with current Good Manufacturing Pragsiq“cGMPs”),which apply to the manufacturing, receiving, hotdiand shipping
Accordingly, manufacturers must continue to expgme, money and effort in all applicable areastietpto quality assurance and regula
compliance, including production and quality cohtmcomply with cGMPs. Failure to so comply rigkslays in approval of drug products
possible FDA enforcement actions, such as an itjpmcagainst shipment of products, the seizure afi-complying products, crimin
prosecution and/or any of the other possible canseces described above. We are subject to peiigpection by the FDA and DEA.

The FDA Drug Approval Process

The process of drug development is complex andtgngrhe activities undertaken before a new phasutical product may |
marketed in the U.S. generally include, but arelimoted to, preclinical studies; submission to tHeA of an IND, which must become act
before human clinical trials commence; adequatewagittcontrolled human clinical trials to establish tlefesy and efficacy of the produ
submission to the FDA of an NDA; acceptance fandjlof the NDA by FDA; satisfactory completion af &DA preapproval inspection of tl
clinical trial sites and manufacturing facility facilities at which the both the active ingredieatsl finished drug product are produced to a
compliance with cGMPs; and FDA review and apprafdhe NDA prior to any commercial sale and disitibn of the product in the U.S.
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Preclinical studies include laboratory evaluatidnpmduct chemistry and formulation, and in someesa animal studies and ot
studies to preliminarily assess the potential gatetd efficacy of the product candidate. The rasolt preclinical studies together w
manufacturing information, and analytical data #wen submitted to the FDA as a part of an IND. IND must become effective prior to 1
commencement of human clinical trials. The IND bree effective 30 days following its receipt by fBA unless the FDA objects to,
otherwise raises concerns or questions and imposésical hold. In the event that FDA objectsthbe IND and imposes a clinical hold,
IND sponsor must address any outstanding FDA coscer questions to the satisfaction of the FDA befdinical trials can proceed. Th
can be no assurance that submission of an INDreslllt in FDA authorization to commence clinicahls. Once an IND is in effect, t
protocol for each clinical trial to be conductedlanthe IND must be submitted to the FDA, which maynay not allow the trial to proceed.

Human clinical trials are typically conducted ime phases that often overlap:

Phase I: This phase is typically the first involving humairgicipants, and involves the smallest number oo participan
(typically, 2050). The investigational drug is initially introced into healthy human subjects or patients artddder safety, dosa
tolerance, absorption, metabolism, distribution ardretion. In addition, it is sometimes possildegain a preliminary indication
efficacy.

Phase 1I: Once the preliminary safety and tolerability of th&tlg in humans is confirmed during phase |, phbse/olves studies in
somewhat larger group of study subjects. Unlikagehl studies, which typically involve healthy sdi§, participants in phase
studies maybe affected by the disease or condibiowhich the product candidate is being developetase Il studies are intende
identify possible adverse effects and safety riskgvaluate the efficacy of the product for sged#irgeted diseases, and to deter
appropriate dosage and tolerance.

Phase llI: Phase Il trials typically involve a large numbeafspatients affected by the disease or conditianwibich the produ
candidate is being developed.. Phase lll clinicald are undertaken to evaluate clinical efficanyd safety under conditic
resembling those for which the product will be usedctual clinical practice after FDA approval the NDA. Phase lll trials a
typically the most costly and time-consuming of dfiaical phases.

Phase IV: Phase IV trials may be required by FDA after thprapal of the NDA for the product, as a conditidrtlee approval,
may be undertaken voluntarily by the sponsor ofttied. The purpose of phase IV trials is to cong to evaluate the safety i
efficacy of the drug on a longrm basis and in a much larger and more diverSerigoopulation than was included in the prior s
of clinical investigation.

After clinical trials have been completed, the smnmust submit an NDA to the FDA including theulées of the preclinical ar
clinical testing, together with, among other thindstailed information on the chemistry, manufacigy quality controls, and proposed proc
labeling. There are two types of NDAs; a 505(b}hd a 505(b)(2). A 505(b)(1) NDA is also known a%dl NDA" and is described t
section 505(b)(1) of the FD&C Act as an applicatmmtaining full reports of investigations of sgfeind effectiveness, in addition to ot
information. The data in a full NDA is either ownby the applicant or are data for which the applideas obtained a right of reference. A 505
(b)(2) application is one described under secti®f(b)(2) of the FD&C Act as an application for whimformation, or one or more of 1
investigations relied upon by the applicant forrappl "were not conducted by or for the applicamd éor which the applicant has not obtai
a right of reference or use from the person byoorwihom the investigations were conducted”. Thisvigion permits the FDA to rely f
approval of an NDA on data not developed by thdiegpt, such as published literature or the FDAlglihg of safety and effectiveness «
previously approved drug. 505(b)(2) applications submitted under section 505(b)(1) of the FD&C #Awctl are therefore subject to the s
statutory provisions that govern 505(b)(1) applaad that require among other things, "full repbra$ safety and effectiveness. The F

provided written guidance to us stating that Acufdbablets is a suitable product candidate for subiprisas a 505(b)(2) NDA and in Febru
2009 accepted our Acurox® Tablets NDA for filing.
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Each NDA requires a user fee, pursuant to the remgnts of the Prescription Drug User Fee Act (“FHBY), as amended. Accordi
to FDA'’s fee schedule, effective on October 1, 2009,Her2010 fiscal year, the user fee for an applicafé® requiring clinical data (such
an NDA) is $1,247,200. The FDA adjusts PDUFA uses on an annual basis. PDUFA also imposes arshpmeduct and facility fees. T
annual product fee for prescription drugs and lgme for the 2010 fiscal year is $71,250 and theuah facility fee for facilities used
manufacture prescription drugs and biologics far 8010 fiscal year is $425,600. A written request be submitted for a waiver of
application fee for the first human drug applicatithat is filed by a small business, but no waiversproduct or establishment fees
available. Where we are subject to these fees,ahegignificant expenditures that may be incuimeithe future and must be paid at the tim
submission of each application to FDA. The Kingrédgment provides that King will reimburse us foe tiDA application fee for Acur@
Tablets and pay user fees for all products licetgetthe Company to King pursuant to the King Agreem

After an NDA is submitted by an applicant, andtifsi accepted for filing by the FDA, the FDA wilien review the NDA and, if a
when it determines that the data submitted arewsatedo show that the product is safe and effedtvéts intended use, the FDA will apprc
the product for commercial distribution in the UTere can be no assurance that any of our pradunctidates will receive FDA approval
that even if approved, they will be approved widbdling that includes descriptions of its abusesrdent features. Moreover, even if
product candidates are approved with labeling ithetides descriptions of the abuse deterrent cheniatics of our products, advertising
promotion for the products will be limited to thegesgific claims and descriptions in the FDA appropeaduct labeling.

The FDA requires drug manufacturers to establigh maintain quality control procedures for manufaaty, processing and holdi
drugs and investigational products, and productstrhe manufactured in accordance with defined fpations. Before approving an NC
the FDA usually will inspect the facility(ies) atweh the active pharmaceutical ingredients andgfied drug product is manufactured, and
not approve the product unless it finds that cGMihgliance at those facility(ies) are satisfactoifythe FDA determines the NDA is r
acceptable, the FDA may outline the deficiencieshim NDA and often will request additional inforneet, thus delaying the approval c
product. Notwithstanding the submission of anyuested additional testing or information, the FDfnuately may decide that the applicat
does not satisfy the criteria for approval. Afgerproduct is approved, changes to the approveduptoduch as adding new indicatic
manufacturing changes, or changes in or additioribe approved labeling for the product, may regsitbmission of a new NDA or, in sa
instances, an NDA supplement, for further FDA reviand approval. Postpproval marketing of products in larger or differegatien
populations than those that were studied duringeldgwnent can lead to new findings about the safetefficacy of the products. Ti
information can lead to a product sponsoequesting approval for and/or the FDA requighgnges in the labeling of the product or evel
withdrawal of the product from the market.

The Best Pharmaceuticals for Children Act, or BP@&came law in 2002 and was subsequently reaudtbdnd amended
FDAAA. The reauthorization of BPCA provides an #iddal six months of patent protection to NDA apphts that conduct accepts
pediatric studies of new and currentharketed drug products for which pediatric inforimatwould be beneficial, as identified by FDA i
Pediatric Written Request. The Pediatric Researmghit{z Act (“PREA”"), became law in 2003, and was also subsequently hvedzed an
amended by FDAAA. The reauthorization of PREA iiegglthat most applications for drugs and biologredude a pediatric assessn
(unless waived or deferred) to ensure the drugkbéologics' safety and effectiveness in childr&uch pediatric assessment must contain
gathered using appropriate formulations for eaoh gigup for which the assessment is required, dhatadequate to assess the safet
effectiveness of the drug or the biological prodiactthe claimed indications in all relevant ped@subpopulations, and to support dosing
administration for each pediatric subpopulationvidrich the drug or the biological product is safel @ffective. The pediatric assessment:
only be deferred provided there is a timeline fog tompletion of such studies. FDA may waive {phytor fully) the pediatric assessm
requirement for several reasons, including if thpli@ant can demonstrate that reasonable attemgotiuce a pediatric formulation neces
for that age group have failed. We have requesteeferral of the pediatric assessment in our Ac®rdablets NDA submission.

The terms of approval of any Acurox®blet NDA, including the indication and produdbéding (and, consequently advertising
promotion) may be more restrictive than what isgbaun the NDA or what is desired by us. AdditibpaFDA may condition approval
abuse deterrence statements and claims for Acurbf®ets on phase IV clinical studies for continessessment of such statement
claims. The Acurox@lablet testing and FDA approval process requiréstsumtial time, effort, and financial resources] are cannot be st
that any approval will be granted on a timely bai§iat all.
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Further, as a condition of approval of any NDA, FD#ay require a REMS to ensure the safe use andtonimgj of any of oL
products. If required, a REMS may include, but maybe limited to, use of an FD&pproved Medication Guide and/or Patient Packagert
a communication plan for patients or healthcarevigigrs concerning the drug, a description of elemém assure safe use of the product, ¢
timetable for FDA'’s assessment of the effectiveradéshe REMS.

In addition, we, our suppliers and our licensees r@quired to comply with extensive FDA requirensehbth before and af
approval. For example, we or our licensees areired| to report certain adverse reactions and ptimtu problems, if any, to the FDA, anc
comply with certain requirements concerning adsar and promotion for our products, which, as uised above, may significantly affect
extent to which we can include statements or claigisrencing our abuse deterrent technology in ybdéabeling and advertising. Al
quality control and manufacturing procedures muostioue to conform to cGMP after approval to avibid product being rendered misbrar
and/or adulterated under the FD&C Act as a reduthanufacturing problems. In addition, discovefyany material safety issues may resu
changes to product labeling or restrictions onapct manufacturer, potentially including removittee product from the market.

Whether or not FDA NDA approval in the U.S. hasrbeétained, approvals from comparable governmeegallatory authorities
foreign countries must be obtained prior to the w@ncement of commercial activities in those coestriThe approval procedure varie
complexity from country to country, and the timgué&ed may be longer or shorter than that requioedDA approval.

Facilities for Research, Development, and Manufacting

We conduct research, development, laboratory, naatufing and related activities for product cantidautilizing Aversion® anc
Impede™ Technologies at our Culver, Indiana faciliThe 28,000 square foot facility is registeredhwthe DEA to perform resear:
development and manufacture of certain DEA Schedalgtive pharmaceutical ingredients and finishedade form products. We obt
quotas for supply of DEAcheduled active pharmaceutical ingredients froenldBA and develop finished drug product candidatsade form
in our Culver laboratories. We manufacture clihiceal supplies of drug products in our Culver ifig in volumes sufficient to meet FC
standards for NDAs. King is responsible for comeis@rmanufacture of the product candidates licenseter the King Agreement. We exg
that all future product candidates developed byvilisbe commercially manufactured by our licenseesther qualified third party contr:
manufacturers.

Segment Reporting

We operate in one business segment; the reseaehlopment and manufacture of innovative abusermete orally administere
pharmaceutical product candidates.

Legal Proceedings
We are not involved in any material legal procegdin
Environmental Compliance

We are subject to regulation under federal, statklacal environmental laws and believe we are atemal compliance with su
laws. We incur the usual waste disposal cost aatativith a pharmaceutical research, developmehtreanufacturing operation.

Raw Materials

To purchase certain active ingredients requiredofaor development and manufacture of product camesdatilizing our Aversiorf’
Technology, we are required to file for and obtaupply quotas from the DEA. No assurance can bengihat we will be successful
obtaining adequate DEA quotas in a timely manneenEassuming adequate and timely DEA quotas, tbanebe no assurances that
approved manufacturers of raw materials for oudpod candidates will supply us with our requirensefor the active or inactive ingredie
required for the development and manufacture ofppaduct candidates.
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Subsidiaries

Our Culver, Indiana research, development, and fiaaturing operations are conducted by Acura Phaguézal Technologies, In
an Indiana corporation and our wholly-owned sulasidi

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

Our future operating results may vary substantifibyn anticipated results due to a number of fagtorany of which are beyond
control. The following discussion highlights sormfetteese factors and the possible impact of theswifa on future results of operations. If
of the following factors actually occur, our busisefinancial condition or results of operationsildobe materially harmed. In that case,
value of our common stock could decline substdutial

Risks Relating to Our Business and Industry

We have a history of operating losses and may radtiave profitability sufficient to generate a paisié return on shareholders’
investment.

We had a net loss of $15.8 million for trear ended December 31, 2009, net income of $hélion for the year ended Decem
31, 2008 and a net loss of $4.3 million the yeateghDecember 31, 2007. Our future profitability wepend on several factors, including:

« our receipt of milestone payments and royaltieatirg to products developed and commercialized unde license agreeme
with King (as more fully described under the cap“Item 1. Busines— King Agreemer”); and

« the receipt of FDA approval and the successful censialization by King and other future licensedsa(iy) of products utilizin
our Aversion® and Impede™ Technologies without infringing theegpas and other intellectual property rights ofdtparties.

We cannot assure you that we will ever have a modpproved for commercialization by the FDA orttihwe or our licensees w
bring any product to market.

We recognized revenues of $3.8 million and $44.4ianiin the years ended December 31, 2009 and 208&ectively, fror
payments received under the King Agreement. Howewe have not yet generated any revenues from sha@® Technology produ
sales. Even if we succeed in commercializing anmare of our Aversion® echnology product candidates, we expect to coatiming cas
reserves for the foreseeable future. Our expensgsinecrease in the foreseeable future as a refubrtinued research and developmet
additional product candidates, maintaining and egpsy the scope of our intellectual property, aridny of additional research a
development staff.

We will need to generate royalty revenues from pobdales to achieve and maintain profitabilitywl cannot successfully devel
obtain regulatory approval for and commercialize moduct candidates licensed to King under thegkigreement or other product candid
under similar license agreements anticipated toegmtiated and executed with other pharmaceutaalpanies, of which no assurance ca
given, we will not be able to generate such royetenues or achieve future profitability. Our diaé to achieve or maintain profitability wo
have a material adverse impact on the market pficeir common stock.

We must rely on current cash reserves, technoldggnsing fees and third party financing to fund opions.

Pending the receipt of milestone payments and fiegalif any, under the King Agreement or underikimlicense agreemet
anticipated to be negotiated and executed withrggtharmaceutical companies, of which no assuraanébe given, we must rely on our cur
cash reserves and thipdwty financing to fund operations and product dgy@ent activities. No assurance can be given t¢hatent cas
reserves will be sufficient to fund the continugzbrations and development of our product candidatéssuch time as we generate additi
revenue from the King Agreement or similar liceragreements anticipated to be negotiated and exkeuith the other pharmaceuti
companies. Moreover, no assurance can be giveémwthavill be successful in raising additional fimamg or, if funding is obtained, that st
funding will be sufficient to fund operations unfiiroduct candidates utilizing our Aversich and Impede™ Technologies may
commercialized.
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Our product candidates are unproven and may notapproved by the FDA.

We are committing a majority of our resowrd¢e the development of Acurdk Tablets and other product candidates utilizing
Aversion® Technology. In December 2008 we submitted a 5Q8(DA for Acurox® Tablets to the FDA and on June 30, 2009 we rec
the FDA's CRL. The FDA intends to have an Advis@ymmittee review the NDA for Acurox. There can be no assurance that the FDA
ultimately approve AcuroX Tablets or any other product candidate utilizingeﬁs'ron® Technology for commercial distribution. Furthdrete
can be no assurance that other product candidatedoped using AversioR or Impede™ Technology will achieve the targeted pauhts ir
the required clinical studies or perform as intehdle other preclinical and clinical studies or lead to a NDA subsion. Our failure t

successfully develop and achieve final FDA appr@fa product candidate utilizing Aversigﬁrechnology will have a material adverse ef
on our financial condition.

Even if the FDA Approves AcuroX Tablets for commercial distribution, if AcuroX Tablets are not approved with labeling describing
its abuse deterrent features, we will be unabledéer to the abuse deterrent characteristics of Aex ® to promote the product.

Our strategy for AcuroX Tablets depends upon our ability to distinguish msu® from other immediate release oxycodone
containing products based primarily on abuse dete¢fieatures. As with all of our product candidatélizing Aversion® Technology, even

Acurox ® Tablets are approved by the FDA, our failure toieah approval of product labeling that sufficiendifferentiates AcuroX Tablet:
from other immediate release oxycodone HCI comtgirtablets may adversely affect our business aadltseof operations. The FDA t
publicly stated that explicit indications or clairnabuse deterrence will not be permitted unlesh $ndications or claims are supportec
double blind controlled clinical studies demonsirgtan actual reduction in product abuse by paientdrug abusers. Because the cost,
and practicality of designing and implementing icla studies adequate to support explicit claimatfise deterrence are prohibitive, we ar:
pursuing and have not conducted the clinical tm&sessary to include an explicit product labehelaf abuse deterrence. Instead, we intel

rely on certain clinical and laboratory studiesstgpport the inclusion of information about the abudeterrent characteristics of AcurBx
Tablets to support promotion by our licensee(sjhef product. We intend to include in the prodwdiels of our product candidates bo
physical description of the abuse deterrent charistics and information from our multiple labomat@nd clinical studies designed to simu
the relative difficulty of abusing our product cishates. However, the extent to which such infororativill be included in the FDA approv
product label will be the subject of our discussiovith, and agreement by, the FDA as part of theAN&view process for each of our proc
candidates. The outcome of those discussions tv@éhFDA will determine whether we will be able taarket our product candidates w
labeling that sufficiently differentiates them fromther products that have comparable therapeutifilgs. If the FDA does not approve

Acurox ® Tablet labeling with such information, we will nio¢ able to promote AcurdkTablets based on its abuse deterrent featuresno

be able to differentiate Acuroxfrom other oxycodone HCI containing immediate rete@roducts, and may not be able to charge a pme
above the price of such other products which couddierially adversely affect our business and resaflbperations.

Because FDA closely regulates promotional matedal$ other promotional activities, even if FDA ialty approves product labeli
that includes a description of the abuse deteneatacteristics of our product, FDA may object tiw marketing claims and product advertic
campaigns.

Relying on third party contract research organizatis ("CROs") may result in delays in our prelinical, clinical or laboratory testing. |
pre<clinical, clinical or laboratory testing for our poduct candidates are unsuccessful or delayed, wielvei unable to meet our anticipat:
development and commercialization timelines.

To obtain FDA approval to commercially sell andtdimite in the U.S. any of our prescription prodoahdidates, we or our licens
must submit to the FDA an NDA demonstrating, amotiger things, that the product candidate is sateedfective for its intended use. T
demonstration requires significant testing. As wendt possess the resources or employ all the peesmecessary to conduct such testing
rely on CROs for the majority of this testing widbir product candidates. As a result, we have lessa over our development program the
we performed the testing entirely on our own. Tipadties may not perform their responsibilitiesaur anticipated schedule. Delays in
development programs could significantly increaseproduct development costs and delay product certiadization.
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The commencement of clinical trials with our prodoandidates may be delayed for several reasotisding but not limited to dela
in demonstrating sufficient prainical safety required to obtain regulatory apmioto commence a clinical trial, reaching agreetsiea
acceptable terms with prospective licensees, matwfag and quality assurance release of a suffigepply of a product candidate for us
our clinical trials and/or obtaining institutionaview board approval to conduct a clinical trinhgrospective clinical site. Once a clinicall
has begun, it may be delayed, suspended or temifgt us or regulatory authorities due to sevexretdis, including ongoing discussions \
regulatory authorities regarding the scope or desifj our clinical trials, failure to conduct clik trials in accordance with regulat
requirements, lower than anticipated recruitmentedention rate of patients in clinical trials, )estion of the clinical trial operations or t
sites by regulatory authorities, the impositioractlinical hold by FDA, lack of adequate fundingcntinue clinical trials, and/or negative
unanticipated results of clinical trials.

Clinical trials required by the FDA for commercigproval may not demonstrate safety or efficacgwfproduct candidates. Succ
in pre<linical testing and early clinical trials does rastsure that later clinical trials will be successResults of later clinical trials may 1
replicate the results of prior clinical trials apee-clinical testing. Even if the results of our piviopdase 11l clinical trials are positive, we ¢
our licensees may have to commit substantial timeaditional resources to conduct further gieical and clinical studies before we or
licensees can submit NDAs or obtain regulatory apairfor our product candidates.

Clinical trials are expensive and at times diffictd design and implement, in part because theysabgect to rigorous regulatc
requirements. Further, if participating subjectpatients in clinical studies suffer druglated adverse reactions during the course of siah
or if we, our licensees or the FDA believes thatipipating patients are being exposed to unactéptaealth risks, we or our licensees |
suspend the clinical trials. Failure can occur ay atage of the trials, and we or our licenseesldc@ncounter problems causing
abandonment of clinical trials or the need to cadualditional clinical studies, relating to a protloandidate.

Even if our clinical trials and laboratory testiage completed as planned, their results may ngiatigommercially viable prodtc
label claims. The clinical trial process may faildemonstrate that our product candidates areassafecffective for their intended use. S
failure may cause us or our licensees to abangwoduct candidate and may delay the developmeothefr product candidates.

We or our licensees may not obtain required FDA apyal; the FDA approval process is time-consumingdexpensive.

The development, testing, manufacturing, markegind sale of pharmaceutical products are subjesttensive federal, state and Ic
regulation in the United States and other count@eadisfaction of all regulatory requirements twyllig takes years, is dependent upon the
complexity and novelty of the product candidate] amquires the expenditure of substantial resouimesesearch, development and tes
Substantially all of our operations are subjeatampliance with FDA regulations. Failure to adherepplicable FDA regulations by us or
licensees would have a material adverse effect umoperations and financial condition. In addition,the event we are successfu
developing product candidates for distribution aatk in other countries, we would become subjemgalation in such countries. Such fore
regulations and product approval requirements gpected to be time consuming and expensive.

We or our licensees may encounter delays or rejestiluring any stage of the regulatory review gmut@val process based upon
failure of clinical or laboratory data to demongtraompliance with, or upon the failure of the prodcandidates to meet, the FRA’
requirements for safety, efficacy and quality; éimase requirements may become more stringent dakaoges in regulatory agency polic
the adoption of new regulations. After submissibarmNDA, or a 505(b)(2) NDA, the FDA may refusefite the application, deny approval
the application, require additional testing or datal/or require postarketing testing and surveillance to monitor théety or efficacy of
product. The FDA commonly takes more than a yegraot final approval for an NDA, or 505(b)(2) NDAhe Prescription Drug User Fee .
(“PDUFA”) sets time standards for FDA'’s review oDR’s. The FDA's timelines described in the PDUFA gnaaare flexible and subject
change based on workload and other potential reigsues and may delay the FRA'eview of an NDA. Further, the terms of approsfadny
NDA, including the product labeling, may be morstrietive than we or our licensees desire and cafflett the marketability of our produc
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Even if we comply with all the FDA regulatory recginents, we or our licensees may never obtain aggyl approval for any of o
product candidates. If we or our licensees failotatain regulatory approval for any of our produendidates, we will have few
commercialized products and correspondingly lowerenues. Even if regulatory approval of our proslustreceived, such approval n
involve limitations on the indicated uses or proimadl claims we or our licensees may make for aodpcts, or otherwise not permit label
that sufficiently differentiates our product caratiels from competitive products with comparableapeutic profiles but without abuse deter
features. Such events would have a material ag\affact on our operations and financial condition.

The FDA also has the authority to revoke or suspemglovals of previously approved products for eaus debar companies ¢
individuals from participating in the drugpproval process, to request recalls of allegediative products, to seize allegedly violai
products, to obtain injunctions to close manufantuplants allegedly not operating in conformitythvcurrent Good Manufacturing Practi
(“cGMP”) and to stop shipments of allegedly violative pradudn the event the FDA takes any such actioatired to our products (if any ¢
approved by FDA), such actions would have a mdtadeaerse effect on our operations and financiabdton.

We must maintain FDA approval to manufacture clirat supplies of our product candidates at our fatyli failure to maintair
compliance with FDA requirements may prevent or dglthe manufacture of our product candidates andst® of manufacture may |
higher than expected.

We have installed the equipment necessary to metunéaclinical trial supplies of our Aversidhand Impede™ Technology prod
candidates in tablet formulations at our Culvedidna facility. To be used in clinical trials, afl our product candidates must be manufact
in conformity with cGMP regulations. All such prazticandidates must be manufactured, packaged ateted and stored in accordance
cGMPs. Modifications, enhancements or changes inufaaturing sites of marketed products are, in meingumstances, subject to F
approval, which may be subject to a lengthy appbecaprocess or which we may be unable to obtaim. Qulver, Indiana facility, and those
any thirdparty manufacturers that we or our licensees may age periodically subject to inspection by theAFBnd other governmen
agencies, and operations at these facilities coelohterrupted or halted if the FDA deems sucheetipns are unsatisfactory. Failure to con
with FDA or other governmental regulations can kesufines, unanticipated compliance expendituresall or seizure of products, total
partial suspension of production or distributionsgension of FDA review of our product candidatesmination of ongoing resear
disqualification of data for submission to regutgtauthorities, enforcement actions, injunctiond ariminal prosecution. We do not have
facilities, equipment or personnel to manufactusenmercial quantities of our product candidates tuedefore must rely on our licensee:
other qualified third party companies with apprafei facilities and equipment to contract manufactcommercial quantities of produ

utilizing our Aversion® and Impede™ Technologies. These licensees aresaltgect to cGMP regulations.

We develop our products, and manufacture clinicalpplies, at a single location. Any disruption &ti$ facility could adversely affe
our business and results of operations.

We rely on our Culver, Indiana facility for develog our product candidates and the manufacturdimital supplies of our produ
candidates. If the Culver, Indiana facility wer@nthged or destroyed, or otherwise subject to dismpit would require substantial legidae
to repair or replace. If our Culver facility wea#fected by a disaster, we would be forced to egitirely on CROs while repairs were be
made. Although we believe we possess adequateaimse for damage to our property and for the gigwa of our business from casualt
such insurance may not be sufficient to cover albbur potential losses and may not continue to \@élable to us on acceptable terms, ¢
all. Moreover, any disruptions or delays at outv€y Indiana facility could impair our ability tdevelop our product candidates utilizing

Aversion® or Impede™ Technologies, which could adverselycféeir business and results of operations.

Our operations are subject to environmental, healthd safety, and other laws and regulations, withiash compliance is costly and
which exposes us to penalties for non-compliance.

Our business, properties and product candidatesudnject to federal, state and local laws and egguis relating to the protection
the environment, natural resources and worker iheaidtl safety and the use, management, storageigpabdl of hazardous substances, v
and other regulated materials. Because we owropedate real property, various environmental lalge enay impose liability on us for t
costs of cleaning up and responding to hazardobstauces that may have been released on our propaeluding releases unknown
us. These environmental laws and regulations edgadd require us to pay for environmental remediatind response costs at thixaity
locations where we dispose of or recycle hazardobstances. The costs of complying with theseouarenvironmental requirements, as
now exist or may be altered in the future, couldeasely affect our financial condition and reswt®perations.
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If our licensees do not satisfy their obligationsie will be unable to develop our licensed produahdidates.

On October 30, 2007, we entered into an Agreemétht King (as more fully described under the captitiem 1. Business King
Agreement”). At December 31, 2009 we had recei@ggdregate payments of $56.2 million from King, dstisg of a $30.0 million non-
refundable upfront cash payment, $15.2 millionembursed research and development expenses getatiour licensed product candida
$6.0 million in option exercise fees relating tonkis exercise of its option to license an undisclospibid analgesic tablet product ¢

Vycavert® Tablets, and a $5.0 million milestone fee relatingur successful achievement of the primary erdtpdor our pivotal Phase

clinical study for Acurox® Tablets. Our future revenue, if any, will be dedvfrom milestone payments and royalties under Ky
Agreement and under similar license agreementsipated to be potentially negotiated and executitd @her pharmaceutical companies.
assurance can be given that we will receive theestohe and royalty payments provided for in thegkikgreement, or that we will
successful in entering into similar agreements vather pharmaceutical companies to develop and @wialize products utilizing o

Aversion® or Impede™ Technologies.

As part of such license agreements, we will notehday-today control over the activities of our licenseethwespect to any prodt
candidate. If a licensee fails to fulfill its ofditions under an agreement with us, we may be anatdssume the development of the prc
candidate covered by that agreement or to enteraltérnative arrangements with another thuedty. In addition, we may encounter delay
the commercialization of the product candidate thdhe subject of a license agreement. Accordingly ability to receive any revenue fr
the product candidates covered by such agreemeéihtsendependent on the efforts of our licensee. teld be involved in disputes witt
licensee, which could lead to delays in or termarabf, our development and commercialization paogs and result in time consuming
expensive litigation or arbitration. In additiomyasuch dispute could diminish our licenseebmmitment to us and reduce the resources
devote to developing and commercializing our prdsiué any licensee terminates or breaches itsesmeat, or otherwise fails to complete
obligations in a timely manner, our chances of eastully developing or commercializing our prodoahdidates would be materially adver:
effected. Additionally, due to the nature of therked for our product candidates, it may be necgskarus to license all or a significant port
of our product candidates to a single company themiminating our opportunity to commercialize ethproduct candidates with otl
licensees.

If we fail to maintain our license agreement withikg, we may have to reduce or delay our product datate development.

Our plan for developing, manufacturing and comnaizing Acurox®Tablets and other opioid analgesic product candgatilizing
our Aversion®Technology currently requires us to successfullyntaén our license agreement with King to advangemrograms and provi
funding to support our expenditures on AcuroX®@blets and other opioid analgesic product candglain addition to other custom
termination provisions, the King Agreement providkat King may terminate the King Agreement in etstirety if FDA approval of tt
Acurox® Tablets NDA is not received prior to Mar8th, 2010. We anticipate FDA approval of the NDA Azurox® Tablets will not occt
prior to March 31, 2010 as the Advisory Committemains unscheduled. As a result, King may termittateking Agreement following su
date upon written notice to us. If King electstemminate the King Agreement, or if we are otheewimable to maintain our exist
relationship with King, we may have to limit theeaior scope of, or delay or abandon the developwfe®tcurox® Tablets and other opic
analgesic product candidates or undertake anddemdlopment of these product candidates oursdfie® were required to fund developm
and commercialization efforts with respect to Ac®oTablets and other opioid analgesic product candglan our own, we may neec
obtain additional financing, which may not be aabié on acceptable terms, or at all.

If King is not successful in commercializing AcuroX Tablets and other licensed product candidates inpmrating the Aversion®
Technology our revenues and our business will suffe

Pursuant to the King Agreement, King is responsibienanufacturing, marketing, pricing, promotirsglling, and distributing certe
of our product candidates in the US, Canada andiddexf such agreement is terminated in accordanitk its terms, including due tc
party’s failure to perform its obligations or responsilgs under the agreement, then we would neednmnercialize the products ourselves
which we currently have no infrastructure or altgively enter into a new agreement with anotherrplageutical company, of which
assurance can be given. In this event our revesmug¥®r royalties for these products could be ablgimpacted.
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King’'s manufacturing facility is currently the satemmercial source of supply for Acurox@d our other product candidates licel
to King. If King’s manufacturing facility fails to obtain sufficieB®tEA quotas for the opioid active ingredients camd in such produ
candidates, fails to source adequate quantitiescttfe and inactive ingredients, fails to compljthmegulatory requirements, or otherv
experiences disruptions in commercial supply ofmaduct candidates, product revenue and our fiegaibuld be adversely impacted.

King has a diversified product line for which Acuf® and our other product candidates licensed togKwill vie for King’s
promotional, marketing, and selling resourcesKitfg fails to commit sufficient promotional, markgg and selling resources to our prodt
product revenue and our royalties could be adweisgbacted.

The market for our opioid product candidates ishhigompetitive with many marketed non abuse det#rbrand and generic prodt
and other abuse deterrent product candidates iela@went. If King prices our product candidateapioropriately, fails to position c
products properly, targets inappropriate physicipecialties, or otherwise does not provide sufficgromotional support, product revenue
our royalties could be adversely impacted.

The market may not be receptive to products incagimg our Aversion® Technology.

The commercial success of our products will depemdcceptance by health care providers and othatstich products are clinice
useful, cost-effective and safe. There can be saraace given that our products utilizing the Aians or Impede™ Technologies would

accepted by health care providers and others. Fatttat may materially affect market acceptanceuwfproduct candidates include but are
limited to:

« the relative advantages and disadvantages of odupts compared to competitive produ
« the relative timing to commercial launch of our gwots compared to competitive produt
« the relative safety and efficacy of our productsipared to competitive produc

» the product labeling approved by the FDA for owdarcts;

. the willingness of third party payers to rbeumse for our prescription products; and
. the willingness of consumers to pay for ouodoicts.

Our product candidates, if successfully developed eommercially launched, will compete with bothrremtly marketed and ne
products launched in the future by other comparnikeslth care providers may not accept or utilizg ahour products. Physicians and o
prescribers may not be inclined to prescribe oodpcts unless our products demonstrate commeraigdlyle advantages over other prod
currently marketed for the same indications. Camens may not be willing to purchase our produdtsour products do not achieve mar
acceptance, we may not be able to generate signifievenues or become profitable.

If we, our licensees or others identify serious @&dse events or deaths relating to any of our prottuonce on the market, we may
required to withdraw our products from the markethich would hinder or preclude our ability to genate revenues.

We or our licensees are required to report to eglevegulatory authorities all serious adverse &ven deaths involving our prodi
candidates or approved products. If we, our lieess or others identify such events, regulatorhaittes may withdraw their approvals
such products; we or our licensees may be requiredformulate our products; we or our licenseey e to recall the affected prodt
from the market and may not be able to reintrodheen onto the market; our reputation in the madkegmay suffer; and we may become
target of lawsuits, including class actions sufsy of these events could harm or prevent saleb®faffected products and could mater
adversely affect our business and financial coouliti
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In the event that we or our licensees are succeksflbringing any products to market, our revenuesay be adversely affected if we -
to obtain insurance coverage or adequate reimbursetfor our products from third-party payers.

The ability of our licensees to successfully coneiedize our products may depend in part on thelabiity of reimbursement for o
prescription products from government health adstiation authorities, private health insurers, atiger thirdparty payers and administratc

including Medicaid and Medicare. We cannot prethet availability of reimbursement for newly-apprdveroducts utilizing our Aversioft
Technology. Thirdsarty payers and administrators, including statedibbd programs and Medicare, are challenging ttieep charged fi
pharmaceutical products. Government and other-fhartly payers increasingly are limiting both coveramd the level of reimbursement
new drugs. Thirgsarty insurance coverage may not be available teema for any of our products candidates. The iooiig efforts o
government and thirgarty payers to contain or reduce the costs ofthealre may limit our commercial opportunity. Ifvgsnment and oth

third-party payers do not provide adequate cover@yd reimbursement for any product utilizing ourefsion ® Technology, health ce
providers may not prescribe them or patients mdy their health care providers to prescribe competimoducts with more favorat
reimbursement. In some foreign markets, pricing prafitability of pharmaceutical products are sabj® government control. In the Uni
States, we expect there may be federal and stapogals for similar controls. In addition, we expiat increasing emphasis on managed
in the United States will continue to put pressamethe pricing of pharmaceutical products. Costrabinitiatives could decrease the price
we or our licensees charge for any of our prodircthe future. Further, cost control initiativesuta impair our ability or the ability of o
licensees to commercialize our products and odityaln earn revenues from commercialization.

Consolidation in the healthcare industry could lead demands for price concessions or to the exausof some suppliers from certa
of our markets, which could have an adverse effentour business, financial condition or results operations.

Because healthcare costs have risen significamtijnerous initiatives and reforms by legislaturegutators and thirgharty payers 1
curb these cost increases have resulted in a tretigk healthcare industry to consolidate produgipiers and purchasers. As the healtt
industry consolidates, competition among supplierprovide products to purchasers has become mezase. This in turn has resulted
will likely continue to result in greater pricinggssures and the exclusion of certain suppliersy famportant market segments as gt
purchasing organizations, and large single accouwotginue to use their market power to influencedpct pricing and purchasi
decisions. We expect that market demand, goverhnegulation, thirdparty reimbursement policies and societal presswiksontinue tc
influence the worldwide healthcare industry, rdaagltin further business consolidations, which magre further downward pressure on
prices of our anticipated products. This downwaritipg pressure may adversely impact our businésancial condition or results
operations.

Our success depends on our ability to protect auteilectual property.

Our success depends on our ability to obtain aniditaia patent protection for products developediziig our technologies, in tl
United States and in other countries, and to eefthese patents. The patent positions of pharmiaaé@irms, including us, are genere
uncertain and involve complex legal and factualsjoes. Notwithstanding our receipt of U.S. Patliot 7,201,920 and U.S. Patent

7,476,402 from the United States Patent and Trade@ice (“USPTO”") encompassing our opioid prodaandidates utilizing our Aversidh
Technology, there is no assurance that any of atenp claims in our other pending nprevisional and provisional patent applicationatiek
to our technologies will issue or if issued, thay auch patent claims will be valid and enforceagainst thirdearty infringement or that o
products will not infringe any thirgarty patent or intellectual property. Moreovery gratent claims relating to our technologies ma lve
sufficiently broad to protect the our products. dddition, issued patent claims may be challengedentially invalidated or potentia
circumvented. Our patent claims may not afford tatgetion against competitors with similar techrgylar permit the commercialization
our products without infringing third-party patemtsother intellectual property rights.

Our success also depends on our not infringingnaissued to others. We may become aware of jgdbehdnging to competitors ¢
others that could require us to obtain licensesutth patents or alter our technologies. Obtainirgl dicenses or altering our technology ct
be time consuming and costly. We may not be ablebtain a license to any technology owned by arniged to a third party that we or
licensees require to manufacture or market onearerof our products. Even if we can obtain a liegntke financial and other terms may
disadvantageous.
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Our success also depends on maintaining the conigdiéy of our trade secrets and kndww. We seek to protect such informatior
entering into confidentiality agreements with enygles, potential licensees, raw material supplierstract research organizations, pote
investors, consultants and other parties. Theseeaggnts may be breached by such parties. We malgenable to obtain an adequate
perhaps, any remedy to such a breach. In additian,trade secrets may otherwise become known dndependently developed by 1
competitors. Our inability to protect our intelleat property or to commercialize our products withmfringing thirdparty patents or oth
intellectual property rights would have a mateaidlerse affect on our operations and financial itemd

We may become involved in patent litigation or othiatellectual property proceedings relating to ouhversion ® or Impede™
Technologies or product candidates which could résa liability for damages or delay or stop our delopment and commercializatis
efforts.

The pharmaceutical industry has been charactebyeignificant litigation and other proceedingsasting patents, patent applicati
and other intellectual property rights. The sitoiasi in which we may become parties to such litagatir proceedings may include:

« litigation or other proceedings we may initiate iagathird parties to enforce our patent rightethrer intellectual property right

. litigation or other proceedings we may initiate iagathird parties seeking to invalidate the patdmtld by such third parties or
obtain a judgment that our products do not infrisgeh third parti€’ patents

« litigation or other proceedings third parties maitiate against us to seek to invalidate our patentto obtain a judgment that tr
party products do not infringe our pater

- if our competitors file patent applications thaaiol technology also claimed by us, we may be fotoegarticipate in interference
opposition proceedings to determine the priorityneention and whether we are entitled to pategtits on such invention; at

« if third parties initiate litigation claiming thaiur products infringe their patent or other inteflel property rights, we will need
defend against such proceedin

The costs of resolving any patent litigation orestintellectual property proceeding, even if resdhin our favor, could be substan:
Many of our potential competitors will be able testin the cost of such litigation and proceedimgse effectively than we can becaus
their substantially greater resources. Uncertansulting from the initiation and continuationpzftent litigation or other intellectual prope
proceedings could have a material adverse effecuprability to compete in the marketplace. Patgigation and other intellectual prope
proceedings may also consume significant managetimest

Our technologies may be found to infringe claimgatents owned by others. If we determine or ifase found to be infringing
patent held by another party, we or our licenseighiniave to seek a license to make, use, andheepatented technologies. In that case, \
our licensees might not be able to obtain sucmfieeon acceptable terms, or at all. The failurebtain a license to any technology that ma
required would materially harm our business, finahcondition and results of operations. If a legation is brought against us, we could it
substantial defense costs, and any such actiontmigtbe resolved in our favor. If such a dispstecisolved against us, we may have to pa
other party large sums of money and use of oumiglolgy and the testing, manufacturing, marketingae of one or more of our prodt
could be restricted or prohibited. Even prior tedlation of such a dispute, use of our technology the testing, manufacturing, marketin
sale of one or more of our products could be reetli or prohibited.

We are aware of a competitor who has suggestech¢oUSPTO that the USPTO should declare an interéerebetween th

competitor’'s pending patent application and onewfU.S. patents for the Aversig)nTechnoIogy. We believe that there is no valid bdsi
declaring such an interference and that even ifi surcinterference were declared, that we wouldgtehere can be no assurance, how
that such an interference will not be declaredf aleclared, that we will ultimately succeed suchtttihis competitor would not obtain pal
claims which could encompass our lead product ceteiand other product candidates in development.

We are aware of certain United States and inteynakipending patent applications owned by thirdigarwith claims potential
encompassing our product candidates. While we dexmmect the claims contained in such pending pateplications will issue in their pres
form, there can be no assurance that such patetfitaons will not issue as patents with claimg@npassing one or more of our prot
candidates. If such patent applications resulvatid and enforceable issued patents, containiagnd in their current form or otherw
encompassing our products we or our licensees magduired to obtain a license to such patentsjldlane be available, or alternatively, &
our products so as to avoid infringing such tipatty patents. If we or our licensees are unablebtain a license on commercially reason
terms, or at all, we or our licensees could berictstl or prevented from commercializing our pragud@dditionally, any alterations to ¢
products or our technologies could be time consgnaind costly and may not result in technologiepr@ducts that are nonfringing ot
commercially viable.
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We cannot assure you that our products and/orreciio developing our products will not infringerthparty patents. Our failure
avoid infringing thirdparty patents and intellectual property rightshie tlevelopment and commercialization of our prosglweduld have
material adverse affect on our operations and €igucondition.

We may be exposed to product liability claims andymot be able to obtain adequate product liabilitgurance.

Our business exposes us to potential product iabikks, which are inherent in the testing, mamwtfiring, marketing and sale
pharmaceutical products. Product liability claimigimi be made by patients, or health care providergthers that sell or consume our prodi
These claims may be made even with respect to thiaskicts that possess regulatory approval for ceroial sale. We are currently cove
by clinical trial product liability insurance ondaimsimade basis. This coverage may not be adequatevey emy product liability claim
Product liability coverage is expensive. In theufet we may not be able to maintain or obtain qurcduct liability insurance at a reason:
cost or in sufficient amounts to protect us agalosses due to product liability claims. Any claitigt are not covered by product liabi
insurance could have a material adverse effecuomuasiness, financial condition and results ofrapens.

The pharmaceutical industry is characterized bgueat litigation. Those companies with significinancial resources will be bet
able to bring and defend any such litigation. Nsuaance can be given that we would not become wedoin such litigation. Such litigati
may have material adverse consequences to ourcfalamndition and results of operations.

We face significant competition which may result athers developing or commercializing products bef@r more successfully than \
do.

The pharmaceutical industry is highly competitivedais affected by new technologies, governmentgulegions, health ca
legislation, availability of financing, litigatiomnd other factors. If our product candidates recdiDA approval, they will compete witt
number of existing and future drug products andapies developed, manufactured and marketed bysotBisting or future competi
products may provide greater therapeutic convesientinical or other benefits for a specific indioa than our products, or may ol
comparable performance at lower costs. If our pctglare unable to capture and maintain market sharer our licensees may not achi
significant product revenues and our financial ¢oon and results of operations will be materiaiyversely affected.

We or our licensees will compete for market shagairest fully integrated pharmaceutical companiesotirer companies tt
collaborate with larger pharmaceutical companiesadamic institutions, government agencies and othdrlic and private reseal
organizations. Many of these competitors have prtsdalready approved, marketed or in developmaeraddition, many of these competits
either alone or together with their collaboratiatpers, operate larger research and developmegtgms, have substantially greater finar
resources, experience in developing products, b FDA and other regulatory approvals, formulgtiand manufacturing drugs, ¢
commercializing products than we do.

We are concentrating a substantial majority of efforts and resources on developing product catelidatilizing our Aversiorf

Technology. The commercial success of productsziuti Aversion® Technology will depend, in large part, on the isignof competitior
FDA approved product labeling for our products canegl to competitive products, and the relativerigrand sequence for commercial lat

of new products by other companies developing, etarg, selling and distributing products that cotepeith the products utilizing Aversioh
Technology. Alternative technologies and rapieid products are being developed to improveeplace the use of opioid analgesics. Ir

event that such alternatives to opioid analgesiesnadely adopted, then the market for productBzirg our Aversion® Technology may t
substantially decreased thus reducing our abiityenerate future profits.
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Key personnel are critical to our business and aurccess depends on our ability to retain them.

We are dependent on our management and sciermtifin,tincluding Andrew D. Reddick, our President @tief Executive Office
Ron J. Spivey, Ph.D., our Senior Scientific AdvjsBiobert Jones, our Senior Vice President and Qbjdrating Officer, and Albert \
Brzeczko, Ph.D, our Vice President of Technicala#. We may not be able to attract and retain persoanedcceptable terms given
intense competition for such personnel among biotelogy, pharmaceutical and healthcare compani@sersities and nomprofit researc
institutions. While we have employment agreemerits eertain employees, all of our employees ar@iitemployees who may terminate tr
employment at any time. We do not have key perdanearance on any of our officers or employeese Tdss of any of our key personnel
the inability to attract and retain such personm&ly significantly delay or prevent the achievenwdur product and technology developn
and business objectives and could materially agWeedfect our business, financial condition ansutes of operations.

The U.S. Drug Enforcement Administration (“DEA”)imits the availability of the active ingredientssed in our product candidates and, a
result, our quota may not be sufficient to completinical trials or may result in development delsly

The DEA regulates certain finished drug products active pharmaceutical ingredients, includingaaerbpioid active pharmaceuti
ingredients and pseudoephedrine HCI in our cunpenduct candidates. Consequently, their manufactesearch, shipment, storage, sale
use are subject to a high degree of regulatiorthEtmore, the amount of active ingredients we d#ain for our clinical trials is limited by tl
DEA and our quota may not be sufficient to complgieical trials. There is a risk that DEA regutats may interfere with the supply of
products used in our clinical trials.

Prior ownership changes limit our ability to use otax net operating loss carryforwards.

Significant equity restructuring often results im Baternal Revenue Section 382 ownership changelithéds the future use of N
Operating Loss (“NOL")carryforwards and other tax attributes. We haverd@ned that an ownership change (as defined lojide382 o
the Internal Revenue Code) did occur as a resukesifucturing that occurred in 2004. Neither &neount of our NOL carryforwards nor -
amount of limitation of such carryforwards claim@dus have been audited or otherwise validatedhéyrtternal Revenue Service, which cc
challenge the amount we have calculated. The rettog and measurement of our tax benefit includsimates and judgment by
management, which includes subjectivity. Changesstimates may create volatility in our tax ratduture periods based on new informa
about particular tax positions that may cause mamagt to change its estimates. If we establisbnéirgyent tax liability reserve, interest i
penalties related to uncertain tax positions wdndctlassified as general and administrative exgense

Risks Relating to Our Common Stock
Our quarterly results of operations will fluctuateand these fluctuations could cause our stock prtoedecline.

Our quarterly and annual operating results ardylit@fluctuate in the future. These fluctuatiomaild cause our stock price to decl
The nature of our business involves variable fagtsuch as the timing of the research, developmethtregulatory submissions of our proc
candidates that could cause our operating resufisdtuate. The forecasting of the timing of saté our product candidates is difficult du
the uncertainty inherent in seeking FDA and otheressary approvals for our product candidatesa Aesult, in some future quarters or y
our clinical, financial or operating results mayt nteet the expectations of securities analystsrarestors which could result in a decline in
price of our stock.

Volatility in stock prices of other companies magrdribute to volatility in our stock price.

The market price of our common stock, like the meargrice for securities of pharmaceutical and hibt®logy companies,
historically been highly volatile. The stock marketm time to time experiences significant priced arolume fluctuations unrelated to
operating performance of particular companies. dfactsuch as fluctuations in our operating resudligjre sales of our common stc
announcements of technological innovations or negrapeutic products by us or our competitors, ancements regarding collaboral
agreements, laboratory or clinical trial resul@ygrnment regulation, developments in patent ocergpinoprietary rights, public concern as tc
safety of drugs developed by us or others, chamgegimbursement policies, comments made by séesrrdnalysts and general ma
conditions may have a substantial effect on thekatgrice of our common stock. In the past, follogvperiods of volatility in the market pr
of a companys securities, securities class action litigatiols bften been instituted. A securities class actioit against us could result
substantial costs, potential liabilities and theedsion of managemest’attention and resources and result in a matadiatrse affect on o
financial condition and results of operations.
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Our stock price has been volatile and there may betan active, liquid trading market for our commaatock.

Our stock price has experienced significant pricel aolume fluctuations and may continue to expegervolatility in the
future. Factors that have a material impact onptfiee of our common stock, in addition to the etissues described herein, include resul
or delays in our prelinical and clinical studies, any delays in, oiuee to receive, FDA approval of our product catades, the success of
license agreement with King, announcements of t@dgncal innovations or new commercial productsusyor others, developments in pat
and other proprietary rights by us or others, fatsales of our common stock by existing stockhsldexgulatory developments or change
regulatory guidance, the departure of our officeisgectors or key employees, and periods@iod fluctuations in our financial results. A
you may not be able to sell your shares at thernasket price if trading in our stock in not actiweif the volume is low. There is no assur
that an active trading market for our common stwwitkbe maintained on the NASDAQ Capital Market.

The National Association of Securities Dealers,,loc NASD, and the Securities and Exchange Coniamis®r SEC, have adopi
rules relating to the listing of publicly tradesk. If we were unable to continue to comply witltls rules, we could be delisted from trac
on the NASDAQ Capital Market and thereafter tradimgur common stock, if any, would be conductetigh the Over-th&ounter Bulletil
Board of the NASD. As a consequence of such detjstin investor would likely find it more difficuld dispose of, or to obtain quotations ¢
the price of, our common stock. Delisting of oumeoon stock from the NASDAQ Capital Market couldaatesult in lower prices per share
our common stock than would otherwise prevail.

We do not have a history of paying dividends on @ammon stock.

Historically we have not declared and paid any adisidends on our common stock. We intend toime&dl of our earnings for tt
foreseeable future to finance the operation anduwmesipn of our business. As a result, you may ostgive a return on your investment in
common stock if the market price of our common ksiocreases.

GCE Holdings LLC can control all matters requiringpproval by shareholders.

GCE Holdings LLC beneficially owns approximately.9% of our outstanding common stock as of DecerBthe2009 (calculated
accordance with Rule 138lpromulgated under the Securities Exchange A@98#, as amended). As a result, GCE Holdings Lih@jew of
its ownership percentage of our common stock, lvéliable to control all matters requiring approwablor shareholders, including the apprt
or rejection of mergers, sales or licenses of miubstantially all of our assets, or other busrasmbination transactions. The interests of
Holdings LLC may not always coincide with the irsts of our other shareholders and as such we akayaction in advance of its interest
the detriment of our other shareholders. Accongingou may not be able to influence any actiontale or consider taking, even if it requ
a shareholder vote.

We are currently a “Controlled Companyivithin the meaning of the NASDAQ Capital Market lting Requirements and, as a resl
are exempt from certain corporate governance reguirents.

Because GCE Holdings LLC controls more than 50%hefvoting power of our common stock, we are culyetonsidered to be
“controlled company’for purposes of a NASDAQ Capital Market listing uségments. As such, we are permitted, and hawaegleto opt ot
of the NASDAQ Capital Market listing requirementsat would otherwise require our board of directiardhave a majority of independ
directors, our board nominations to be selectedecommended for the boasdselection either by a nominating committee cosgatientirel
of independent directors or by a majority of indegent directors, and our compensation committeleeteaomprised entirely of independ
directors. Accordingly, you may not have the sgraections afforded to stockholders of companiieg are subject to all of the NASD/
Capital Market corporate governance requirements.
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Any future sale of a substantial number of sharagiuded in our current registration statement coultepress the trading price of o
stock, lower our value and make it more difficulbf us to raise capital.

In accordance with the terms of the Securities Ifase Agreement dated August 20, 2007 between utharidvestors named ther¢
we filed a registration statement with the SECetgister the shares included in our Units issueduaut to the Securities Purchase Agreer
including shares underlying warrants included ia Units. In addition, pursuant to the exercisgmviously granted piggyback registral
rights, each of GCE Holdings, LLC, Galen PartnéisLLP., Galen Partners International I, L.Palén Employee Fund llI, L.P., Care Caf
Investments Il, LP, Care Capital Offshore Investtadh LP and Essex Woodlands Health Ventures \P. lhave exercised their piggyb
registration rights to include an aggregate of 26,816 shares in such registration statement. Assalt, 34,243,273 shares (represet
approximately 64% of our shares outstanding onlg-filuted basis -including all derivative securities, whether or ratrently exercisable
a prereverse stock basis) were included in the registragtatement for resale by selling stockhold&ach registration statement was decl
effective by the SEC on November 20, 2007. If samnall of such shares included in such registratitatement are sold by our affiliates
others it may have the effect of depressing thairicaprice of our common stock. In addition, setes could lower our value and mak
more difficult for us to raise capital if needectlive future.

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

The Company has received no written comments re@ggapkriodic or current reports from the staff loé ISEC that were issued 180
days or more preceding the end of its 2009 fiseal yhat remain unresolved.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

We lease from an unaffiliated Lessor, approximaieB00 square feet of administrative office spacg@l® N. North Court, Suite 1Z
Palatine, lllinois 60067. The lease agreement h&srra expiring March 31, 2011. The lease agreerpentides for rent, property tax
common area maintenance, and janitorial servicemnoamnnualized basis of approximately $29,200 par.yWe utilize this lease space for
administrative, marketing and business developrierdtions.

We conduct research, development, laboratory, deweént scale and NDA submission batch scale matwifiag and other activiti¢
relating to developing product candidates usingrAivm® and Impede™ Technologies at our facility located @235 State Road 17, Cul

Indiana. At this location, our whollgwned subsidiary Acura Pharmaceutical Technolodies, owns a 28,000 square foot facility with Q
square feet of warehouse, 10,000 square feet ofifaeturing space, 6,000 square feet of researctdanelopment labs and 5,000 square
of administrative and storage space. The faciditipcated on 30 acres of land.
ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

None.

ITEM 4. (RESERVED)
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PART I

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, RELA TED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER
PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Market and Market Prices of Common Stor

Until February 1, 2008, our common stock was tradedhe Over-the-Counter (“OTCBulletin Board. Commencing February
2008, our common stock was admitted for tradingh@nNASDAQ Capital Market under the symbol “ACUR”.

Set forth below for the period January 1, 2008 dfo February 1, 2008 are the high and low bid prioe our common stock f
trading in our common stock on the OTC Bulletin Bbas reported by the OTC Bulletin Board. Such g@hercounter market quotations refl
inter-dealer prices, without retail mark-up, maxkach or commission and may not necessarily represgntl transactions.

Bid Prices
Period High $ Low $
2008 Fiscal Yeal
First Quarter (through February 1, 20t 8.6( 5.9C

Set forth below for the periods indicated are tighland low sales prices for trading in our comnstock on the NASDAQ Capil
Market as reported by the NASDAQ Capital Market.

Sale Price:

Period High $ Low $
2008 Fiscal Yeal

First Quarter (commencing February 4, 20 10.5( 6.7

Second Quarte 10.0( 7.4¢

Third Quartel 8.97 5.7¢

Fourth Quarte 7.8¢ 3.43
2009 Fiscal Yea

First Quartel 7.6¢ 4.07

Second Quarte 9.0C 4.8t

Third Quartel 6.51 4.8t

Fourth Quarte 5.7¢ 4.0C
2010 Fiscal Yea

First Quarter (through January 31, 20 5.54 4.8t

Holders

There were approximately 600 holders of recordwfapmmon stock on February 28010. This number, however, does not ref
the ultimate number of beneficial holders of oumomon stock.

Dividend Policy

The payment of cash dividends is subject to thereimn of our Board of Directors and is dependgydn many factors, including ¢
earnings, our capital needs and our general fishoondition. Historically we have not paid any ltavidends.

Securities Authorized for Issuance under Equity Compensation Plans

Reference is made to “Iltem 11 - Executive CompémsatRestricted Stock Unit Award Plan; and Securitiesh&uized for Issuant
under Equity Compensation Plans”.
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The selected consolidated financial data preseb&olw for the years ended December 31, 2009, 2R087, 2006 and 2005 :
derived from our audited Consolidated Financiate3tents. The Consolidated Financial Statement$ Becember 31, 2009 and 2008 anc
each of the years in the thrgear period ended December 31, 2009, and the seffmteon, are included elsewhere in this Repbwt. Selecte
financial information as of December 31, 2007, 20&6d 2005 and for the years ended December 38 200 2005 are derived from

audited Consolidated Financial Statements not ptedén this Report.

The information set forth below is qualified by esfnce to, and should be read in conjunction wtke, Consolidated Financ
Statements and related notes thereto included kkyewin this Report and "ltem 7. Management's Bisicn and Analysis of Financ
Condition and Results of Operations". All shareadgives effect to the 1 for 10 reverse stock gpilemented December 5, 2007.

OPERATING DATA (in thousands) except per share 2009 2008 2007 2006 2005
Revenue! $ 383 $ 44437 $ 640 $ — 3 —
Operating expense

Research and developméht 5,67¢ 14,32: 7,16¢ 5,17 6,26¢

Marketing, general and administrative exper@es 11,66: 9,13: 4,141 5,65¢ 5,29¢
Interest expens — — (1,207 (1,140 (63€)
Interest incomt 147 78C 26¢ 18 36
Amortization of debt discount & deferred privatébtieffering cost: — — (2,700 (189 —
(Loss) gain on fair value change of conversionuiesg — — (3,489 4,23¢ —
(Loss) gain on fair value change of common stockravds — — (1,905 2,16¢ —
(Loss) gain on asset dispos 3 2 22 (22 81
Other (expense) incon — ()] 3 (213) 5
(Loss) income before income t (13,35¢) 21,75¢ (13,919 (5,967 (12,079
Income tax expense (benel 2,47¢ 7,28t (9,600 — —
Net (loss) incom $(15,83H) $ 14,47: $ (4,319 $ (5967 $ (12,07
Net (loss) income per share: Ba $ (035 $ 03z $ (011 $ (0.7 $ (1.8))
Net (loss) income per share: Dilut $ (035 $ 02¢ $ 01y $ (079 $ (@1.8)
Weighted average shares used in computing net ia¢toss) per share: Bas 45,93: 45,67¢ 39,157 34,49¢ 6,68(
Weighted average shares used in computing net ia¢toss) per

share: Dilutec 45,93: 49,41¢ 39,15% 34,49¢ 6,68(

(1) Includes stoclbased compensation expense of $1,904, $560, $206% and $3,325 for years 2009, 2008, 2007, &b 200t

respectively.

(2) Includes stoclased compensation expense of $7,300, $3,290, $#=/817, and $3,133 for years 2009, 2008, 20076 20t 200t

respectively.

BALANCE SHEET DATA®

(in thousands 2009 2008 2007 2006 2005
Working capital (deficiency $ 28,75( $ 35,99. $ 22,30¢ $ (28,64)% (2,47¢)
Total asset 31,917 42,96 45,62¢ 1,61¢ 1,792

Total debt, net”

Total liabilities 2,007 5,891 26,90¢

— 28,781 7,615

39,89¢ 7,95¢
Accumulated defici (323,22) (307,38¢) (321,86() (317,54) (291,61¢)
Stockholders' equity (defici $ 29,91( $ 37,06« $ 18,72( $ (38,280 % (6,162)

(3) Reflects impact of $30 million received fromni§iin December, 2007.

(4) Includes estimated fair value of conversiondess of convertible debt outstanding as of Decerithe2006.

34




ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FIN ANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

This discussion and analysis should be read inucatipn with our financial statements and accompanpotes included elsewhere
this Report. Operating results are not necessardicative of results that may occur in the futperiods. Certain statements in this Re
under this Item 7, Item 1, "Business”, Item 1A, sRiFactors” and elsewhere in this Report constititevard{ooking statements” within tl
meaning of the Private Securities Litigation RefoAnt of 1995. Such forwartboking statements involve known and unknown r
uncertainties and other factors which may causeactural results, performance or achievements arsing results, to be materially differ:
from any future results, performance, or achievamenpressed or implied by such forwdodking statements. See page 3 of this Report
description of the most significant of such factors

Company Overview

We are a specialty pharmaceutical company engagessearch, development and manufacture of prasardidates intended
provide abuse deterrent features and benefitziatiliour proprietary Aversiofi and Impede™ Technologies. Our Aversioii®chnolog'
opioid analgesic product candidates are intendedffectively relieve pain while simultaneously discaging common methods of opi
product misuse and abuse, including:

« intravenous injection of dissolved tablets or cégs!
« nasal snorting of crushed tablets or capsules; and

- intentional swallowing of excess quantities of &blor capsule:

In addition to AcuroxX® , our lead product candidate, we (and/or our liceng@gey Pharmaceuticals Research and Developmeny

are developing Vycaveﬁ (hydrocodone bitartrate/niacin/APAP), Acura@e(bxycodone HCl/niacin/APAP) and additional undiseldpioic
product candidates utilizing Aversion®chnology. Four opioid product candidates arenéed to King under the King Agreement. We

also developing a benzodiazepine tablet produdlidate utilizing our Aversioft Technology.

Our research efforts continue to investigate anctld@ novel mechanisms to incorporate abuse detectearacteristics into abus
and misused pharmaceutical products. In this tegar are engaged in laboratory testing of a newlywbcandidate developed with our nc

Impede™ Technology. ImpedMeTechnology is primarily intended to inhibit the e@mnsion of pseudoephedrine HCI (a legally availatdss
decongestant) into methamphetamine (an illicit frequently abused drug).

Company’s Present Financial Condition

At December 31, 2009, we had cash and cash eqotsaté $30.2 million compared to $35.4 million afst, cash equivalents, :
shortterm investments at December 31, 2008. We had workapital of $28.8 million at December 31, 2008npared to working capital
$36.0 million at December 31, 2008. We had an mctated deficit of approximately $323.2 million a$#807.4 million at December 31, 2(
and December 31, 2008, respectively. We had aftoss operations of approximately $13.5 million amdet loss of $15.8 million for the y
ended December 31, 2009, compared to income fraematipns of $21.0 million and net income of $14 #liom for the year ended Decem|
21, 2008. As of February 28, 2010 we had cashcasl equivalents of approximately $28.4 million.

During the year ended December 31, 2009, we rezedmevenues of $3.8 million derived from the $8ilion amortized portion ¢
the $30.0 million upfront cash payment receivedrfiging in December 2007 and $0.8 million for reimd®ment of research and developr

expenses for AcuroX Tablets licensed to King under the King Agreemddtiring the year ended December 31, 2008, we rezedmevenue
of $44.4 million derived from the $21.9 million amiaed portion of the $30.0 million upfront cashypeent received from King in Decem|
2007, $6.0 million in option exercise fees paidisoby King for licenses to the third and fourthagianalgesic product candidates, $5.0 mi
in an Acurox® Tablet development milestone payment received fikong, and $11.5 million paid to us by King for rddrsement of resear
and development expenses for AcufoTablets. We have yet to generate any royalty neggrfrom product sales. To fund our contir
operations, we expect to rely on our current caslources and additional payments that may be mader uhe King Agreement and un
future license agreements with other pharmaceutwailpany partners, of which there can be no asserahobtaining. Our cash requireme
for operating activities may increase in the futeasewe continue to conduct pekrical studies and clinical trials for our produwandidate:
maintain, defend, if necessary and expand the sobper intellectual property, hire additional pemgel, or invest in other areas.
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In 2007, we recognized revenue of $6.4 million dedi from $3.4 million which was the amortized pontiof the $30.0 million non-
refundable cash payment received from King in Ddoem2007 and $3.0 million received from King inméiursement of our Acurox Table
development expenses incurred under the King AgeaemOur losses have resulted principally fromsascurred in connection with reses
and development activities, salaries and otheroperstelated costs and general corporate expenses.aiRbsand development activit
include costs of prelinical studies, clinical trials, and clinicaldfiproduct supplies associated with our productickies. Salaries and ot
personnel-related costs include non-cash, sbaded compensation associated with stock optiows rastricted stock units granted
employees and non-employee directors.

Results of Operations for the Years Ended Decem®kr2009 and 200

December 3:
2009 2008 Change
$00C's $00Cs Percen
Revenues
Program fee revent 3,077 27,941 (24,869 (89)%
Collaboration fee revent 756  11,49¢ (10,739 (93)%
Milestone revenu — 5,00( (5,000 (100%
Total revenue 3,83t 44,437 (40,70 (92)%
Operating expenst
Research and development expe 567: 14,32 (8,649 (60)%
Marketing, general and administrative expe 11,66 9,13: 2,52¢ 28%
Total operating expens: 17,33t 23,45¢ (6,120 (26)%
(Loss) income from operatiol (23,5000 20,98 (34,487 (169)%
Other income (expens
Interest incomu 147 78C (633) (81)%
Loss on asset disposi (©)] 2 Q) 5%
Other expens — D 1 10C%
Total other incomi 144 777 (639) (81)%
(Loss) income before income t (13,35¢) 21,75¢ (35,11H (161)%
Income tax expens 2,47¢ 7,28¢ (4,80€) (66)%
Net (loss) incom: (15,835 14,47¢ (30,309 (209%
Revenue

In December 2007, King paid us a $30.0 million opfrfee in connection with the closing of the KiAgreement. Program f
revenue recognized during 2009 from amortizing tipfront fee was $3.0 million compared to $21.9lioml in 2008. We have assigned
equal portion of the program fee revenue to eacthiefe product candidates identified under the Kiggeement. We have completed
development activities on 2 of the 3 product caatéid and have fully amortized the portion of th&ar fee for those two product candid:
in 2008. We currently estimate the developmenippefior the third product candidate to end in Debem2010. Also, included in program
revenue in 2008 are two $3.0 million option exexdses paid by King to us in May and December 20@&ectively, upon the exercise o
option to license a third and fourth opioid analggwoduct candidate under the King Agreement.unel2008, King paid us a $5.0 mill
milestone payment for successfully achieving theary end points in our pivotal Phase Il study,-APF-105 for Acurox®Tablets. We he
no milestone revenue in 2009.
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Collaboration revenue recognized in 2009 was $0il8om for reimbursement, pursuant to the King Agmeent, of our Acura®
Tablets development and regulatory expenses intulueng 2009. We invoice King in arrears on a ndber quarter basis for our reimburs:
development and regulatory expenses under the Kgrgement. We expect the amount and timing ofataliation revenue to fluctuate
relation to the amount and timing of the underlymegearch and development expenses. The Compangatlabloration revenue of $1:
million for 2008.

Operating Expenses

Research and development expense during 2009 &&v2€ére primarily for product candidates utiliziagr Aversion®Technology
including costs of preclinical, clinical trials,imical supplies and related formulation and desigsts, salaries and other personnel re
expenses, and facility costs. Included in the 2808 2008 results are non-cash stbeked compensation charges of $1.9 million and
million, respectively, associated with the grantstdck options and restricted stock units. Exclgdine stocksased compensation expel
there is a $10.0 million decrease in developmeperges primarily attributable to a reduction of olimical study costs. During 2008,
conducted and completed our pivotal Phase Il cdihirial for Acurox®.

Marketing expenses during 2009 and 2008 considtédsersion® Technology customized market data research stuGiessgener:
and administrative expenses primarily consistetegal, audit and other professional fees, corpaoirsgarance, and payroll.. Included in
2009 and 2008 results are non-cash stuacked compensation charges of $7.3 million and ®8I®n, respectively, associated with the graf
stock options and restricted stock units. Excluding stockbased compensation expense, there is a decredkSomillion in marketing
general and administrative expenses including et of $0.9 million in payroll, $0.3 million legand accounting professional services,
$0.3 million state franchise taxes.

Other Income (Expense)

During 2009 and 2008, we had no debt and cash edsceeceived pursuant to the King Agreement weragsily invested in mone
market funds, U.S. Treasury Bills, bank commerpiber, and overnight sweep investments, resultingterest income of $0.1 million a
$0.8 million, respectively.

Income Tax Expense (Benefit)

Deferred income taxes have been recognized in pears for temporary differences between finanstalement and income tax be
of assets and liabilities and loss cafoywards for which income tax benefits are expedtede realized in future years. During 2009
recorded a valuation allowance to reduce our nfetrcil income tax assets to the amount that is tilagky than not to be realized. Net loss
2009 includes a provision for income tax expens&ab million for such adjustment to our valuatiaifowance as we determined that
utilization of certain deferred tax assets recordegrior years cannot be reasonably predicted hag®n financial forecast for succeec
years.

Net income for 2008 includes a provision for incotag expense of $8.5 million which has been pdytiaffset by $1.2 million ¢
income tax benefits recorded from the anticipatization of some of our deferred tax assets agdrom net operating loss carryforwards.
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Results of Operations for the Years Ended Decembgr2008 and 200

December 31

2008 2007 Change
$00C's $00Cs  Percen
Revenues
Program fee revent 27,941 3,427 24,51 715%
Collaboration fee revent 11,49¢ 2,971 8,51¢ 28€
Milestone revenu 5,00(¢ — 5,00( 10(%
Total revenue 44,43 6,40/  38,03: 594%
Operating expenst
Research and development exper 14,32: 7,16¢ 7,15: 10C%
Marketing, general and administrative exper 9,13: 4,141 4,92 121%
Total operating expens 23,45 11,31 12,14t 107%
Income (loss) from operatiol 20,98: (4,90¢) 25,88¢ 52&%
Other income (expens
Interest income (expense) 78C (939) 1,71¢ 18%%
Amortization of debt discout — (2,700 2,70( 10C%
Loss on fair value change of conversion feat — (3,489 3,48t 10(%
Loss on fair value change of common stock warr — (1,90%) 1,90¢ 10C%
(Loss) gain on asset dispos 2 22 (24) (109%
Other expens Q) (©)] 2 67%
Total other incomi 777 (9,009) 9,78¢ 10<%
Income (loss) before income t 21,75¢ (13,914 35,67 25€%
Income tax expense (bene! 7,28¢ (9,600 (16,885 232%
Net income (loss 14,47¢ (4,319 18,78¢ 43€%
Revenue

In December 2007, King paid us a $30.0 million opfrfee in connection with the closing of the KiAgreement. Program f
revenue recognized during 2008 from amortizing tipfront fee was $21.9 million compared to $3.4lionl in 2007. We have assigned
equal portion of the program fee revenue to eacthiafe product candidates identified under the Kiggeement. We have completed
development activities on 2 of the 3 product caatdéid and have fully amortized the portion of th&ar fee for those two product candid:
in 2008. We currently estimate the developmenibgeior the third product candidate to end in Debem2010. Also, included in program
revenue are two $3.0 million option exercise feaisl ppy King to us in May and December 2008, respelst, upon the exercise of its optior
license a third and fourth opioid analgesic proctarididate under the King Agreement. In June 28083 paid us a $5.0 million milesto
payment for successfully achieving the primary @uihts in our pivotal Phase Il study, AP-ADF-108r fAcurox® Tablets. We had t
milestone revenue in 2007.

Collaboration revenue recognized in 2008 was $hilbon for reimbursement, pursuant to the King Agment, of our Acura®
Tablets development and regulatory expenses intulueng 2008. We invoice King in arrears on a odber quarter basis for our reimburs:
development and regulatory expenses under the Kgrgement. We expect the amount and timing ofataliation revenue to fluctuate
relation to the amount and timing of the underlyingearch and development expenses. The Compargohaldoration revenue of $3.0 milli
for 2007 representing such reimbursable expenses eptember 19, 2007, the commencement date ifobuesement purposes set fortt
the King Agreement, to December 31, 2007.
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Operating Expenses

Research and development expense during 2008 @ntiv@ére primarily for product candidates utiliziogr Aversion®Technology
including costs of preclinical, clinical trials,imical trial supplies and related formulation arebsidn costs, salaries and other personnel r¢
expenses, and facility costs. Included in the 2808 2007 results are non-cash stbeked compensation charges of $0.6 million and
million, respectively. Excluding the stodiased compensation expense, in 2008 there wasOan$ilfion increase in development exper
primarily attributable to increasing clinical studgsts, including our pivotal Phase Il clinicabtrfor Acurox®.

Marketing expenses during 2008 and 2007 considstéd/ersion® Technology customized market data research studiesgener:
and administrative expenses primarily consistetegél, audit and other professional fees, corparaterance, and payroll costs. Include
the 2008 and 2007 results are non-cash dhasled compensation charges of $3.3 million and 80lfn, respectively, associated with
grant of stock options and restricted stock urfitscluding the stocksased compensation expense, there is an increa$2.®dfmillion ir
marketing, general and administrative expensesdiaty $0.8 million of payroll costs, $0.3 milliorf éegal services, $0.5 million of st
franchise taxes, $0.2 million of tax reserves a@d $nillion of audit and tax services.

Other Income (Expense)

During 2008, we had no debt and cash proceedsvestpursuant to the King Agreement were primarilyeisted in bank commerc
paper with maturity dates less than 12 months, momerket funds, U.S. Treasury Bills and in overniglveep investments, resulting in inte
income of $0.8 million.

During 2007 we incurred interest on our $5.0 milli®ecured Term Note at the variable rate of prilne B.5% through August 1
2007 and thereafter at the fixed rate of 10% peuan Upon the closing of the King Agreement on &aber 7, 2007, we repaid this Seci
Term Note in full. We also incurred interest o $t0.544 million Senior Secured Convertible Brid¢mtes (collectively, the “Bridge Loans”
at the fixed rate of 10%. On August 20, 2007, ¢émtire $10.544 million principal amount of the By& Loans was converted into Ui
consisting of our common stock and warrants in edaroce with our Unit Offering.

Other expense for 2007 includes a) debt discourgrgmation expense of $2.7 million arising from we$ assigned to convers
features on issuances of bridge loans, b) $3.8amilbss on fair value changes to amended convefsiatures on bridge loans being accou
for as mark-to-market liabilities and ¢) $1.9 naifliloss on fair value changes to common stock wgstiaeing accounted for as markr@rke
liabilities.

Income Tax Expense (Benefit)

Deferred income taxes have been recognized in peiars for temporary differences between finargtialement and income tax be
of assets and liabilities and loss cafoywards for which income tax benefits are expedtetle realized in future years. At the same time
recorded a valuation allowance to reduce net daflanmcome tax assets to the amount that is moedyltkan not to be realized. Net income
2008 includes a provision for income tax expens8b million which has been offset by $1.2 milliohincome tax benefits recorded from
anticipated utilization of some of our deferred #&msets arising from net operating loss carryfodaar

In 2007, based upon the receipt of the $30 millimder the King Agreement we determined that we béllable to realize defen
income tax assets in the future and therefore \jgstatl the valuation allowance by $9.6 million whis reflected as a tax benefit in the 2
statement of operations.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

At December 31, 2009, we had cash and cash eqotsaté $30.2 million compared to $35.4 million iast, cash equivalents,
shortterm investments at December 31, 2008. We had ingrsapital of $28.8 million at December 31, 20@#npared to $36.0 million
December 31, 2008. The decrease in our cash posifi®5.2 million and cash flows used in operataugivities of $5.0 million for the ye
ended December 31, 2009, are primarily due to esggeincurred in developing product candidates oeered by the King Agreement. 1
decrease in working capital of $7.2 million is pairity due to reductions in collaboration revenueeieable from King of $3.2 million ai
deferred income taxes of $2.5 million. Cash flayemerated from operating activities were $4.2 onilifor the year ended December 31, 2
primarily representing net income for the periodognizing certain noeash items such as deferred program fee reventalefierred ta
assets, and charges for stock compensation. ®esting activities in 2009 included capital expémdis of $0.2 million and net maturities
short-term investments of $5.0 million.
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At February 28, 2010, we had cash and cash equigaté approximately $28.4 million. We estimatetteach cash reserves will

sufficient to fund the development of Aversi@nTechnoIogy product candidates, Impede™ Technologdyrt candidates, and rela
operating expenses at least through the next 12hwon

Pending our receipt of milestone payments and tiegairom King related to product candidates depetbunder the King Agreeme
and other milestone and royalty payments undenaiicense agreements anticipated to be negoteedexecuted with other pharmaceu
company partners, of which no assurance can b&give must rely on our current cash reserves, dietuinterest income from the investm

of our cash reserves, to fund the development ofAversion® Technology, Impede™ Technology and related ongeidigninistrative an
operating expenses. Our future sources of reveéhary, will be derived from milestone payments angalties under the King Agreement
under similar license agreements with other phaemtical company partners, for which there can bassurance.

The amount and timing of our future cash requireevill depend on regulatory and market acceptarficir product candidates ¢
the resources we devote to the development and eocatization of our product candidates.

The following table presents our expected cash gaysnon contractual obligations outstanding as etdbnber 31, 2009 |
thousands):

Payments due by period (in thousar

Less thar 1-3 35 More than

Total 1 year years years 5 years
Operating lease $ 3€ $ 29 % 7% — $ —
Clinical studieg? 1,44( 1,44( _ _ _
Employment agreemen 1,00¢ 1,00¢ — — —
Total $ 2,48t % 2,47¢ $ 7% — 3 —

@ Approximately $1,197 is expected to be reimbursedstby King under the provisions of the King Agresnt.
Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
We do not engage in transactions or arrangemetiiawconsolidated or other special purpose estitie
Critical Accounting Policies

The preparation of our financial statements in edaoce with United States generally accepted adomuprinciples requires us
make estimates and assumptions that affect thetegpamounts of assets, liabilities, revenues aqereses in our financial statements
accompanying notes. We evaluate our estimates oonngoing basis, including those estimates relateaddntract agreements, rese:
collaborations and investments. We base our estgnat historical experience and various other apsans that we believe to be reason
under the circumstances, the results of which fdrenbasis for making judgments about the carryialges of assets and liabilities that are
readily apparent from other sources. Actual resuiéy differ from these estimates under differersuagptions or conditions. The followi
items in our financial statements require signiftcastimates and judgments:

Revenue Recognition, Deferred Program Fee Revemti€allaboration Revent

We recognize revenue when there is persuasive maédthat an arrangement exists, delivery has oeduthe price is fixed ai
determinable, and collection is reasonably assureda:onnection with King Agreement, we recognizegram fee revenue, collaborat
revenue and milestone revenue.

Program fee revenue is derived from amortized upfpayments, such as the $30.0 million upfront payyhfrom King received
December 2007, and license fees, such as the $Bidnoption exercise fee paid by King to us inckeof May and December 2008 upon
exercise of its option to license a third and fouspioid analgesic product candidate under the Kiggeement. We have assigned an €
portion of King’s $30.0 million upfront payment to each of threeduct candidates identified in the King Agreemeamd secognize the upfrc
payment as program fee revenue ratably over oimat of the development period for each identifieaduct candidate. We recognized !
million, $21.9 million, and $3.4 million of this pgram fee revenue in 2009, 2008 and 2007, respdgtiv
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Collaboration revenue is derived from reimbursemaintlevelopment expenses, which are invoiced gdwrte arrears, and a
recognized when costs are incurred pursuant tiKihg Agreement. The ongoing research and developreervices being provided to Ki
under the collaboration are priced at fair valusdohupon the reimbursement of expenses incurresiant to the collaboration with King. \
recognized $0.8 million, $11.5 million and $3.0 lioih of collaboration revenue in 2009, 2008 and20@spectively of which $0.4 million a
$3.5 million were current receivables at Decemtlder2®09 and 2008, respectively

Milestone revenue is contingent upon the achievérokoertain pre-defined events in the developntéricurox® Tablets and oth
product candidates licensed to King under the Kiggeement. Milestone payments from King are recogghias revenue upon achievemel
the “at risk” milestone events, which represent the culminatibthe earnings process related to that milestongeskbne payments &
triggered either by the results of our research dexklopment efforts or by events external to ushsas regulatory approval to mark
product. As such, the milestones are substantgllsisk at the inception of the King Agreement, dhd amounts of the payments assi
thereto are commensurate with the milestone actlidneaddition, upon the achievement of a milestement, we have no future performa
obligations related to that milestone payment. Eadlestone payment is non-refundable and omditable when made. In June 2008, |
paid us a $5.0 million milestone payment for susfidly achieving the primary endpoints in our piaoPhase Il study, AP-ADRO5 fol
Acurox® Tablets.

Research and Developme

Research and Development (“R&D&kpenses include internal R&D activities, exter@&O activities, and other activities. Intel
R&D activity expenses include facility overheadugument and facility maintenance and repairs, dgptien, laboratory supplies, podinical
laboratory experiments, depreciation, salaries,efitsn and incentive compensation expenses. CR®@itgcexpenses include preclinic
laboratory experiments and clinical trial studi€sher activity expenses include clinical trial sagland regulatory consulting, and regula
counsel. Internal R&D activities and other activitypenses are charged to operations as incurrednake payments to the CRO's base
agreed upon terms and may include payments in advainthe study starting date. We review and ac@R© expenses and clinical trial st
expenses based on work performed and rely upomatsts of those costs applicable to the stage opladion of a study as provided by
CRO. Accrued CRO costs are subject to revisiorsuah trials progress to completion. Revisionscaigrged to expense in the period in w
the facts that give rise to the revision becomewknoAdvance payments are amortized to expense asebrk performed. We have ente
into several CRO clinical trial agreements for whibe unfunded CRO commitments were $1.4 milliod &b.0 million at December 31, 2(
and 2008, respectively, and are expected to beretas subjects are enrolled into the clinicadlists.

Income Taxe

We account for income taxes under the liability moett Under this method, deferred income tax asssdsliabilities are determin
based on differences between financial reportindjianome tax basis of assets and liabilities amdnaeasured using the enacted incom:
rates and laws that will be in effect when theetiéhces are expected to reverse. Additionallyppetating loss and tax credit carryforwards
reported as deferred income tax assets. The aéializof deferred income tax assets is dependjeon future earnings. A valuation allowa
against deferred income tax assets is requirdoaged on the weight of available evidence, it iserikely than not that some or all of
deferred income tax assets may not be realized.rabterded adjustments of $2.5 million increase $h@ million decrease to the defer
income tax asset valuation allowance during 2009 2008, respectively. These adjustments recograzg?.5 million tax expense and a §
million tax benefit from income taxes in our incorfioe 2009 and 2008, respectively. At December IDR 100% of the deferred income
assets are offset by a valuation allowance duentenainties with respect to future utilization reét operating loss carryforwards. If in
future it is determined that amounts of our defdirecome tax assets would likely be realized, thkiation allowance would be reduced in
period in which such determination is made andreefiefrom income taxes in such period would beoggtzed.
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Stock Compensation

On January 1, 2006, we adopted the Financial AdoogiiStandards Board (“FASB”) statement on sHaased payments. This cha
in accounting replaces existing requirements ufde3B and eliminates the ability to account for gHasised compensation transaction u
the intrinsic value method. The compensation oelsted to sharbased payment transactions is now measured badai ealue of the equi
or liability instrument issued. For purposes ofiraating the fair value of each stock option unittbe date of grant, we utilized the Black-
Scholes option-pricing model. The Bla&lcholes option valuation model was developed ferinsestimating the fair value of traded optir
which have no vesting restrictions and are fullgnsferable. In addition, option valuation modelguiee the input of highly subjecti
assumptions including the expected volatility facibthe market price of our common stock (as deileed by reviewing its historical pub
market closing prices). Because our employee stptlons have characteristics significantly diffarénom those of trade options and bec:
changes in the subjective input assumptions caenmaly affect the fair value estimate, in managatteopinion, the existing models do
necessarily provide a reliable measure of thevaine of its employee stock options.

We had previously accounted for stdz&sed compensation using the intrinsic value methioeh the exercise price of our emplc
stock options equaled the market price of the uUpuhgr common stock on the date of grant, no compBos expense was recogniz
Accordingly, no compensation expense had been réped in the consolidated financial statementsoimnection with these types of grants
2005 and earlier. When the exercise price of oupleyee stock options was less than the markeé miche underlying common stock on
date of grant, compensation expense was recogriggdty instruments issued to nonemployees in exgédor goods, fees and services
accounted for under the fair value-based method.

Our accounting for stock-based compensation fatricgsd stock units (“RSUs”) has been based onfélirevalue method. The f¢
value of the RSUs is the market price of our commimick on the date of grant, less its exercise cost

Debt Discoun

For years 2007 and prior, debt discount resultinghfthe issuance of common stock warrants in cdiorewith subordinated debt a
other notes payable as well as from beneficial eosion features contained in convertible debt vea®nmded as a reduction of the rel:
obligations and was amortized over the remainifegdf the related obligations. Debt discount redate the common stock warrants issued
determined by a calculation based on the relatievialues ascribed to such warrants determinethbgagement's use of the Blaskhole
valuation model.

Conversion Features and Common Stock Warrants

For year 2007 certain provisions of the amendedemion features contained in our Bridge Loan Agreets required us to sepal
the value of the conversion feature from the debtr@cord such value as a separate liability whiel marked-tanarket at each balance st
date. We used the Black-Scholes option-pricing rh@decompute the estimated fair value of the cosigar features. Marked-tmarke
adjustments resulted in the recording of furthéngand losses.

As a result of the amendment to the Bridge Loane&grents, all outstanding common stock purchaseantsrvere fair valued usi
the Black - Scholes option-pricing model and reedras a liability with a corresponding reductioragiditional paidn capital. This warral
liability was marked-to-market each balance sha&t dhich resulted in the recording of further geand losses.

Capital Expenditures

Our capital expenditures during 2009, 2008, and7206re $220,000, $143,000 and $31,000, respecti@apital expenditures in ec

such year were attributable to the purchase ohsfieequipment and improvements to the Culvediama facility.
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Impact of Inflation
We believe that inflation did not have a matenmapact on our operations for the periods reported.
ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES A BOUT MARKET RISK

Some of the securities that we invest in may bgestibo market risk. Our primary objective in aash management activities i
preserve principal while at the same time maxingzincome we receive from our investments. A changde prevailing interest rates n
cause the principal amount of our investments uotfiate. We have no holdings of derivative finaheind commaodity instruments. As
December 31, 2009, our investments consisted pifyradrinvestments in U.S. Treasury Bills or in neynmarket accountsand checking func

with variable, market rates of interest.

ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

The consolidated financial statements of Acura Plaaeuticals, Inc. and Subsidiary and the Repati@independent Registered
Public Accounting Firm thereon, to be filed pursutanitem 8 are included in Item 15.

ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTAN TS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE
None.
ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Proceduréd&e have conducted an evaluation, under the supenvisad with the participatic
of our management, including our Chief Executivdic@f and Chief Financial Officer of the effectivass of the design and operation of
disclosure controls and procedures pursuant to &g Act Rule 1344. Based upon that evaluation, our Chief Execufiiécer and Chie
Financial Officer concluded that our disclosuretoois and procedures are effective in timely ahgrtihem to material information relating
the Company (including our subsidiary) requirecbincluded in our periodic Securities and Excha@genmission filings. No significa
changes were made in our internal controls or heofactors that could significantly affect thesntrols subsequent to the date of t
evaluation.

Management’'s Report on Internal Control Over Finah&eporting. Our management is responsible for establishimgraaintainini
adequate internal control over financial reportimgternal control over financial reporting is defd in Rule 13a-15(f) and 185(f)
promulgated under the Exchange Act as a procesgndésd by, or under the supervision of, our ppatiexecutive and principal financ
officers and effected by our board of directorsnagement and other personnel, to provide reasormgigrance regarding the reliability
financial reporting and the preparation of finahsi@tements for external purposes in accordantte generally accepted accounting princi
and includes those policies and procedures that:

» Pertain to the maintenance of records that in ressle detail accurately and fairly reflect the saetions and disposition
our assets

« Provide reasonable assurance that transactionseaoeded as necessary to permit preparation ohdiah statements
accordance with generally accepted accounting iples, and that our receipts and expenditures amegbmade only i
accordance with authorizations of our managemeshtiéectors; ant

« Provide reasonable assurance regarding preventitimely detection of unauthorized acquisition, wsedisposition of ot
assets that could have a material effect on thanfial statement

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtsver financial reporting may not prevent or déteisstatements. Therefore, e
those systems determined to be effective can peowdly reasonable assurance with respect to finhratatement preparation ¢
presentation. Also, projections of any evaluatiéreffectiveness to future periods are subjechtrisk that controls may become inadeqg
because of changes in conditions, or that the éegfreompliance with the policies or procedures meteriorate.
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Our management assessed the effectiveness of teunah control over financial reporting as of Det@®m31, 2009. In making tt
assessment, management used the criteria setbfiprthe Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of Theadway Commission (COSO)
Internal Control dntegrated Framework. Based on our assessmenggaarent believes that, as of December 31, 2009intennal contrc
over financial reporting is effective based on #hosteria.

The attestation report concerning the effectiveradssur internal control over financial reporting af December 31, 2009 issuec
BDO Seidman, LLP, an independent registered paaaounting firm, appears at the end of this Item 9A

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Repogin There was no change in our internal control diusancial reporting thi

occurred during the Fourth Quarter 2009 that hateniedly affected, or is reasonably likely to maadly affect, our internal control ov
financial reporting.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL
REPORTING

Board of Directors and Shareholders
Acura Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
Palatine, Illinois

We have audited Acura Pharmaceuticals, fninternal control over financial reporting as afd@mber 31, 2009, based on criteria establist
Internal Contro—Integrated Frameworkssued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatioihthe Treadway Commission (the CC
criteria). Acura Pharmaceuticals, Ir&cmanagement is responsible for maintaining effedtiternal control over financial reporting and fts
assessment of the effectiveness of internal cowotvel financial reporting, included in the accomyiag Item 9A, Managemerg’Report o
Internal Control Over Financial Reporting. Our resgibility is to express an opinion on the comparngternal control over financial report
based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the stededof the Public Company Accounting Oversightf8g&nited States). Those stand:
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtabsonable assurance about whether effectiven@iteontrol over financial reporting w
maintained in all material respects. Our auditudeld obtaining an understanding of internal contka@r financial reporting, assessing the
that a material weakness exists, and testing aalli@ing the design and operating effectivenedatefnal control based on the assessed
Our audit also included performing such other pdoces as we considered necessary in the circunestare believe that our audit provide
reasonable basis for our opinion.

A companys internal control over financial reporting is @pess designed to provide reasonable assurancaeliregthe reliability of financit
reporting and the preparation of financial statetsidor external purposes in accordance with gelyeeadcepted accounting principles
companys internal control over financial reporting inclgdgnose policies and procedures that (1) pertathg¢anaintenance of records tha
reasonable detail, accurately and fairly refleet ttansactions and dispositions of the assetseotdimpany; (2) provide reasonable assut
that transactions are recorded as necessary toitpgreparation of financial statements in accor@amdth generally accepted accoun
principles, and that receipts and expenditureshef dompany are being made only in accordance withoazations of management :
directors of the company; and (3) provide reasanasisurance regarding prevention or timely deteatiounauthorized acquisition, use
disposition of the company’s assets that could lzareaterial effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtver financial reporting may not prevent or @tteisstatements. Also, projections of
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods atgect to the risk that controls may become inadégibecause of changes in conditions, ol
the degree of compliance with the policies or pdoces may deteriorate.

In our opinion, Acura Pharmaceuticals, Inc. mamdi, in all material respects, effective internahtcol over financial reporting as
December 31, 2009, based on the COSO criteria

We also have audited, in accordance with the stasdaf the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@dnited States), the consolids
balance sheets of Acura Pharmaceuticals, Inc. 83eocémber 31, 2009 and December 31, 2008, andethted consolidated statement:
operations, stockholdersquity (deficit) and cash flows for each of theethyears in the period ended December 31, 2009@nckport date
March 2, 2010 expressed an unqualified opinionhmsé consolidated financial statements.

/s/ BDO Seidman, LLI

Chicago, lllinois
March 2, 201(
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Iltem 8B. OTHER INFORMATION
Not Applicable.
PART Il
ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORA TE GOVERNANCE

Directors and Executive Officers

Name Age Position
Andrew D. Reddicl 57 President, Chief Executive Officer and Direc
Robert B. Jone 51 Senior Vice President and Chief Operating Offi
Peter A. Clemen 57 Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Officer &8etretary
Albert W. Brzeczkc 53 Vice President, Technical Affai
Robert A. Seise 46 Vice President, Treasurer and Corporate Contr
James F. Emig 54 Vice President of Marketing and Administrati
Bruce F. Wesso 67 Director
William A. Sumnet 72 Director
Richard J. Markhar 59 Director
William G. Skelly 59 Director
Immanuel Thangar: 39 Director
George K. Ros 68 Director

Andrew D. Reddick has been President and Chief Ekex Officer since August, 2003 and a member of Board of Directors since Augu
2004. From April, 2000 to September, 2002 Mr. Rekldvas Chief Operating Officer and Sr. Vice Prestdeommercial Operations for Ado
Corporation and from June, 1999 to March, 2000drgesl as President of Faulding Laboratories, Inc. Réddick holds a Bachelor of A
degree in Biology from the University of Califorréad a Masters of Business Administration degrem fbuke University.

Robert B. Jones has been our Senior Vice Presat@hChief Operating Officer since April 2008. Framay, 2003 to March, 2008, Mr. Joi
served first as the Vice President, Finance and #seVice President, Strategy and Business Anabfséglolor Corporation. From Novemt
2000 to May, 2003 he served as Vice Presidentnemand then as Chief Operating Officer of OpbdEipt, Inc., a privately held personali.
medicine company where Mr. Jones was responsiblalfcommercialization activities. Prior to thddy. Jones was Vice President, Sales
Marketing for Purepac Pharmaceutical Company. Jdnes received his M.B.A. from the University ofritioCarolina and a B.S. from Corr
University.

Peter A. Clemens has been Senior Vice Presideti¢f Emancial Officer and Secretary since April 2004r. Clemens was our Vice Presid
Chief Financial Officer and Secretary from Februa®®8 to March 2004 and a member of our Board oé®@drs from June, 1998 to Augt
2004. Mr. Clemens is a Certified Public Accountant earned a Bachelor of Business Administratiagrese from the University of Not
Dame and a Masters of Business Administration fhadiana University.

Albert W. Brzeczko, Ph.D., has been Vice Presid€athnical Affairs since February 2009. From 189®ugh 2009, Dr. Brzeczko was V
President, Global Pharma New Product DevelopmedtRirarma Technologies for International SpeciatydBcts, Inc., a contract servi
group specializing in the development of technadedor the bioenhancement of poorly soluble druggor to 1999, Dr. Brzeczko held varic
positions of increasing responsibility in pharmaaal product development with UPM Pharmaceuticdsnner Pharmacaps, My
Laboratories, and DuPont Merck. Dr. Brzeczko reegia Bachelor of Science degree in biochemistd/a®h.D. in pharmaceutical scier
from the University of Maryland.

Robert A. Seiser has been a Vice President, Treasund Corporate Controller since April 2004. Meis®gr joined us in March 1998 as

Treasurer and Corporate Controller. Mr. Seiser @edified Public Accountant and earned a BachefdBusiness Administration degree fr
Loyola University of Chicago.
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James F. Emigh has been Vice President of Marketitdy Administration since April 2004. Prior to sutime, Mr. Emigh was our Vi
President of Sales and Marketing. Mr. Emigh joinedn May, 1998, serving first as Executive DireabCustomer Relations and then as
President of Operations until November, 2002. Mmigh holds a Bachelor of Pharmacy degree from Waghnh State University anc
Masters of Business Administration from George MeSaiversity.

Bruce F. Wesson has been a member of our Boardre€trs since March, 1998. Mr. Wesson has beeartn& of Galen Associates, a he
care venture firm, and a General Partner of GadnErs lll, L.P. since January 1991. Prior to 2apul1991, he was Senior Vice President
Managing Director of Smith Barney, Harris Upham &.CGnc., an investment banking firm. He currergbrves on the Boards of Det
Sciences, Inc., Chemtura Corporation, and as Vicair@an of the Board of MedAssets, Inc., each digyktraded company. Mr. Wess
earned a Bachelor of Arts degree from Colgate Usityeand a Masters of Business Administration fréoiumbia University.

William A. Sumner has been a member of our BoarBioéctors since August, 1997. From 1974 untildeSrement in 1995, Mr. Sumner h
various positions within Hoech&eussel Pharmaceuticals, Inc., including Vice Fessi and General Manager, Dermatology Division
1991 through 1995, Vice President, Strategic Bissireevelopment, from 1989 to 1991 and Vice Presjddarketing from 1985 to 19¢
Since his retirement from Hoech’tussel Pharmaceuticals, Inc. in 1995, Mr. Sumasrderved as a consultant in the pharmaceuticasirg
He currently serves on the Board of 3I, Ingredianbvations International, a privately held compally. Sumner earned a Bachelor of /
degree from Montclair State University and a Masfehrts degree from the University of Virginia.

Richard J. Markham has been a member of our Bohiirectors since May, 2006. Since November, 2004 Markham has served a
partner at Care Capital, LLC, a venture capitahfthat primarily invests in life sciences companigm May 2002 until August 2004, )
Markham was the Vice Chairman of the Management@aad Chief Operating Officer of Aventis SA. Fr@ecember, 1999 until May, 20
he was the Chief Executive Officer of Aventis Phar&G. Previously he was the Chief Executive OffioéHoechst Marion Roussel, 1
President and Chief Operating Officer of Marion kérDow, Inc. and a member of its board of direstd~rom 1973 to 1993 Mr. Markh:
was associated with Merck & Co. Inc., culminatimghis position as President and Chief Operatingc®ff Mr. Markham received a B.S.
Pharmacy and Pharmaceutical Sciences from Purdivetdity.

William G. Skelly has been a member of our Boar@®oéctors since May, 1996 and served as our Clairfrom October, 1996 through Ju
2000. Since 1990, Mr. Skelly has served as Chairfesident and Chief Executive Officer of CenBalmedia, Inc. and its subsidiary SEF
Inc. From 1985 to 1990, Mr. Skelly served as Peasicbf Martec Pharmaceutical, Inc. Mr. Skelly earrse Bachelor of Arts degree fr
Michigan State University and a Masters of Busirgsiinistration from the University of Missouri-Kaas City.

Immanuel Thangaraj has been a member of our Bddbitectors since December, 2002. Mr. Thangarajiieen a Managing Director of Es
Woodlands Health Ventures, a venture capital fipacgalizing in the healthcare industry, since 198Tior to joining Essex Woodlands He:i
Ventures, he helped establish a telecommunicaBovices company, for which he served as its CEQ.TWangaraj holds a Bachelor of £
and a Masters in Business Administration from tmévérsity of Chicago.

George K. Ross has been a member of our Boardret@rs since January, 2008. Since April 2002, Ryss has been a consultant to ¢
stage businesses and a financial investor. Sige2005 he has served as Executive Director, Fatimals and Partnerships for World Vis
U.S. in New York City. His business career haduded senior financial officer and board membesitimns with both public and prive
companies in diverse industries. Mr. Ross was ez Vice President and Chief Financial Officedanboard member of Tier Technolog
Inc. from February 1997 to January 2000, which brexa public company during this period. Mr. Rasst iCertified Public Accountant &
earned a Bachelor of Arts degree from Ohio Wesldyaiversity and a Masters of Business Administrafimm Ohio State University.

Ron J. Spivey, Ph.D., serves on a part-time (@weutive officer) basis as our Senior Scientifidvisor since January 1, 2009. From A
2004 through December 31, 2008 Dr. Spivey was emids Vice President and Chief Scientific OfficBrom June, 2003 to March, 2004
Spivey was President of Gibraltar Associates, @apei consulting services company for the pharmazaiundustry. From March, 1998 to Mi
2002 he served as Vice President, Scientific Affér Alpharma/Purepac Pharmaceuticals. Dr. Sphalgs a Bachelor of Arts degree fr
Indiana University and a Ph.D. degree in pharmacgfrtom the University of lowa.
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As of the date of this Report, the Company had dlbtime employees, nine of whom are engaged in theareh, development a

manufacture of product candidates utilizing the @ien ® Technology. The remaining employees are engageddministrative, lege
accounting, finance, market research, and busih@aslopment activities. All of our senior managetreamd most of our other employees t
had prior experience in pharmaceutical or biotemocompanies. None of our employees is covereddiigctive bargaining agreements.
believe that our relations with our employees aredy

Corporate Governance
Audit Committee

The Audit Committee is composed of George K. R@$girman, William A. Sumner and William G. Skelljhe Audit Committee
responsible for selecting the Companyegistered independent public accounting firnpraping the audit fee payable to the auditors, g
with independent auditors and other corporate iafi¢c reviewing the scope and results of the abgijtand the recommendations of,
independent auditors, approving the services peavibly the auditors, reviewing our financial statetaeand reporting on the results of
audits to the Board, reviewing our insurance coyeyéinancial controls and filings with the SECglirding, meeting quarterly prior to the fili
of our quarterly and annual reports containingrial statements filed with the SEC, and submittm¢he Board its recommendations rela
to our financial reporting, accounting practiced aolicies and financial, accounting and operaticoatrols.

In assessing the independence of the Audit Comenitie2009, our Board reviewed and analyzed thedstas for independen
provided in NASDAQ Marketplace Rule 4200(a)(15) applicable SEC regulations. Based on this arglymir Board has determined !
each of Messrs. Ross, Sumner and Skelly satisfiels standards for independence. Our Board alsrrdeted that Mr. Ross is diffancia
expert” as provided in NASDAQ Marketplace Rule 4@5@)(A) and SEC regulations.

The Charter of our Audit Committee is availablecum website, www.acurapharm.com, under the mema Heudit Committee
Charter” appearing under the “Corporate” tab.

Compensation Committee

The Compensation Committee is composed of Richardlatkham, Chairman, Bruce F. Wesson and Immantmeangaraj. Thi
committee is responsible for consulting with andkimg recommendations to the Board of Directors abexecutive compensation ¢
compensation of employees. See “ltem 11. Exeeu@ompensation —Board Procedsi a summary of the procedures for appro
compensation for our senior management and emmoyElee Charter of our Compensation Committee iailavie on our websit
www.acurapharm.com, under the menu item “Compemsa&ommittee Charter” appearing under the “Corpdreb.

Although the listing standards of the NASDAQ Cabpitéarket specify that the compensation of our exieeuofficers must k
determined, or recommended to the Board, eithea lgajority of independent directors or a compensatiommittee comprised solely
independent directors, we are relying on the “aadlgtd company’exemption provided in the listing standards of NHESDAQ Capital Marke
in having each of Messrs. Markham, Wesson and Tdranpgs members of the Compensation Committee.
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Nominating Committee

Currently our entire Board of Directors functiorssaur nominating committee. As needed, the Boalidpeiform the functions typic
of a nominating committee, including the identifica, recruitment and selection of nominees forctide to our Board. Three of our se
members of the Board (Messrs. Sumner, Skelly argsRare "independent” as that term is defined utiderules of the NASDAQ Capi
Market and SEC regulations and participate with énéire Board in the consideration of director noegis. We believe that a nomina
committee separate from the Board is not necessathis time, given our relative size and the feour Board and that an additio
committee of the Board would not add to the effemiess of the evaluation and nomination process. Bdard's process for recruiting
selecting nominees for Board members, if requireduld be to identify individuals who are thought ave the business background
experience, industry specific knowledge and genesgutation and expertise allowing them to contebas effective directors to ¢
governance, and who would be willing to serve aeators of a public company. To date, we have mgiaged any third party to assis
identifying or evaluating potential nominees. Ip@ssible candidate is identified, the individuallwieet with each member of the Board an
sounded out concerning his/her possible interest willingness to serve, and Board members wouldtudis amongst themselves
individual's potential to be an effective Board ntem If the discussions and evaluation are posithve individual would be invited to serve
the Board. To date, no shareholder has presentedaaridate for Board membership for consideration we do not have a specific policy
shareholderecommended director candidates. The Board beli¢vggocess for evaluation of nominees proposedhayeholders would be
different than the process of evaluating any otteardidate. The Board of Directors does not hapel&y regarding diversity in identifyir
nominees for director.

The experience, qualifications, attributes or skiliat led the Board to conclude that the curreirdd members, should serve ar
their pharmaceutical industry and senior level nganaent experience in the case of Messrs. Reddke{lyS Sumner, Wesson and Markhi
(ii) financial and senior level management experiisthe case of Mr. Ross, and (iii) their expecgin overseeing management as principe
private equity firms in the case of Messrs. Wesddrangaraj and Markham. In addition we are reqgutceelect the three designees of (
Holdings LLC— Messrs. Markham, Thangaraj, and Wessto our Board pursuant to the Voting Agreemeegatibed in Item 13. Certai
Relationships and Related Transactions, and Direbtdependence”. See alsdteém 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corpe
Governance” for a further description of the expece of our directors.

Separation of Roles of Chairman and CEO

Mr. Markham serves as the Chairman of our Boar®ioéctors and Mr. Reddick serves as Chief Execubfficer. We believe tt
separation of offices is beneficial because a saparthairman (i) can provide the Chief Executivéidef with guidance and feedback on
performance, (ii) provides a more effective charfioelthe Board to express its views on managemn(@jtallows the chairman to focus
shareholder interests and corporate governance whdl Chief Executive Officer manages the Compamygerations. As Mr. Markham |
significant senior level pharmaceutical industrpesence, he is particularly well suited to sergeCaairman.

Board’s Role in Risk Assessment

The Board as a whole engages in risk oversigheasof its functions. As an emerging pharmaceltiexelopment company we fe
numerous risks identified under Item 1A-Risk Fastpmany of which are outside of our control. In audfif the Audit Committee reviews ¢
insurance coverage and the Board and Audit Comenittigularly monitors our liquidity position and ogtng expenses and reviews our ca
funding needs. The Company believes the Boardehsaib structure effectively enables it to ovensgle management.

Shareholder Communications to the Board

Shareholders who wish to send communications toBaard of Directors may do so by sending them ire ad our Secretary at t
address on the cover page of this Report. The epgadontaining such communication must contairearahotation indicating that the enclo
letter is a "Shareholder-Board Communication” ohdf&holdeBirector Communication” or similar statement thitacly and unmistakah
indicates the communication is intended for the rBo&ll such communications must clearly indicalte tauthor as a shareholder and
whether the intended recipients are all membeth@Board or just certain specified directors. Gacretary will have the discretion to sct
and not forward to Directors communications whible Secretary determines in his or her discreti@ncammunications unrelated to
business or our governance, commercial solicitation communications that are offensive, obscenetherwise inappropriate. The Secre
will, however, compile all shareholder communicasavhich are not forwarded and such communicatigh$e available to any Director.
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Code of Ethics

Our Code of Ethics applicable to our principal exae officer, principal financial officer, princgy accounting officer and all of ¢
other employees is available on our website, wwuraggharm.com, under the menu item “Code of Ethéggiearing under the “Corporatizib.

Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compdince

Section 16(a) of the Securities Exchange Act 0f4133 amended, requires our Directors and execatfieers, and persons who o
beneficially more than ten percent (10%) of our Guon Stock, to file reports of ownership and changfeswnership with the SEC. Copies
all filed reports are required to be furnished ® pursuant to Section 16(a). Based solely on tiperte received by us and on writ
representations from reporting persons, we belieaeour Directors, executive officers and greéiten ten percent (10%) beneficial owner
our Common Stock complied with all Section 16(&h§i requirements during the year ended Decembg2@Q09.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

Unless otherwise noted all share and share pridermation with respect to our common stock giveatffo a 1 for 10 reverse stc
split implemented December 5, 2007.

Compensation Discussion and Analysis

Our executive compensation program consists @ripnnual salary and bonus compensation and (iijyemcentives represented
the issuance of stock options and restricted stotts (“RSUSs”). The salary, bonuses, and equity incentives senlakoexecutive pay 1
corporate performance.

Policies for Allocating Between Various Forms ofngeensatior

For a number of years prior to 2007, because wertsdficient cash reserves, our ability to paylchenuses and increase salaries
limited. As a result, we did not grant cash bonuseincrease salaries to our principal executiveshie three years ended Decembel
2006. Instead we sought to incentivize our semianagement with equity compensation in the forrstok options and RSUs.

In 2004 and 2005 we issued stock options to ourd@yeps with an exercise price at a discount taltee current trading price for ¢
common stock. Because our stock price is basedlatively low trading volume and a small publiodt, it can fluctuate widely at times. A
result, we determined that the issuance of RSUsepted a number of advantages. First, it allowt® usduce the dilutive effect of this equity-
based compensation, as there are fewer shareslyingea restricted stock award than an equivalealu® issued in a stock opt
award. Second, the vesting schedule of the RSUs stractured to minimize the potential excise tader Section 280G of the Inter
Revenue Code upon a change of control. Thirds difficult to set an exercise price for optiotet accurately reflects the value of
Company due to the low trading volume and smallipdtoat for our common stock.

As a result, in 2005 we established a restrictedkstinit plan (the “2005 RSU Planédnd issued RSUs aggregating 2,750,000 sha
employees. In addition, RSUs with respect to 100,6hares were issued to each of our two indepermilettors in 2006. In each case,
number of RSUs we issued was influenced by theirgloprice of the stock underlying the RSUs on tla¢edof grant. As a result of
amendment to our RSU Plan approved by our BoaMarch 2008, and ratified by our shareholders inilA&2008, we increased the numbe
RSUs available for issuance under the 2005 RSU firbam 3 million to 3.5 million. After giving effddo RSU awards since the adoption of
2005 RSU Plan, as of the date of this Report, T®dhares remain available for RSU grants unddr plan.

Following the completion of our Unit Offering in Aust 2007 and the consummation of the King Agree¢rreBecember 2007, o
cash position improved and we were able to increat®ies and grant bonuses to our employees assdsd below under the captiosdlary
and Bonus'. In addition to periodic awards of equity-bassmmpensation (see “Stock Options&low), our objective is to award merit ba
cash bonuses and salary increases on an annusldmisg forward. The amounts and timing of any saastards will be subject to availa
cash reserves and the satisfaction of employeemeahce objectives established by our Chief Exeeu®@fficer and the Compensat
Committee. Our equitpased compensation going forward is targeted twadlenior management as a group to own betweenrsd@% o
our outstanding common stock, so as to align th&rests with shareholders’ interests.
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In 2007, no stock options or RSU awards were madgehior management. In view of our improved casterves following tt
closing of the King Agreement, and recognizing thatsalary increases or bonuses had been awardeditr management over the prior
years, the Compensation Committee and the Boarirdeted that salary increases and bonuses foreadutive officer was appropriate.
part of its analysis the Compensation Committee taedBoard considered the stock option and RSU dsvareviously made to the execu
officers in 2004 and 2005 and determined that adit equity incentive compensation was not wagdni 2007.

As discussed below under the caption “Stock Optioims2008 and 2009, we awarded stock options to eyegl® with such optio
having an exercise price equal to the fair markater of our Common Stock on the date of grant20@9 we also awarded RSUs
employees. These stock options and RSUs were adandrecognition that no equityased compensation awards had been granted sifE
and in an effort to retain valued employees. Weehalso issued RSUs and options to executives apormencement of employment.
example, in 2009 we awarded 24,000 RSUs and opt@psirchase 96,000 shares of Common Stock to Exedko upon commencemen
employment and in 2008 we awarded 50,000 RSUs @r@D3 options to purchase Common Stock to Mr. JapEs commencement
employment.

Salary and Bonus

Each of Andrew Reddick, Robert Jones and Peter @isnare parties to employment agreements, desctibddr the captic
“Employment Agreementsbelow, which provide the minimum annual base satarppe payable to such officers, subject to inaeaisth:
discretion of the Board. For 2009, the annual riedaof Messrs. Reddick, Jones and Clemens wer®&,836, $290,000 and $205,0
respectively. In addition, the Reddick, Jones @lemens employment agreements provide for annuaidpayments, in the discretion of
Compensation Committee or the Board, subject tas#tisfaction of such targets, conditions or patanseas may be agreed upon from tirr
time by the employee and the Compensation Committee

The bonus performance targets for Messrs. Red@pkyey, Jones and Clemens for 2008 included adml@]nm:urox® to NDA
submission, and other product candidates using\aersion® Technology to proof of concept, implementing thediAgreement, licensing

additional products to King through the exercisekofg’'s options under the King Agreement and lidagsproducts utilizing our Aversioft
Technology outside of North AmericaSuch performance targets are both organizationratididual goals. In 2008 we advanced sevel

products using our Aversio@lTechnology, licensed two additional products todiand advanced Acurdk by submitting a 505(b)(2) ND
to the FDA. Considering these achievements, we@sdabonuses of $328,500, $315,000, $130,500 add, %020 to Messrs. Reddick, Spiv
Jones and Clemens. In addition, to induce Dr. §pte remain as a full time employee through Decam®i, 2008, we paid him an additic
$315,000 retention bonus on December 31, 200&hoAflih salaries were increased for 2009 for exeeutive officer employees, no sa
increases were granted to Messrs. Reddick, Jonégeorens for 2009. Dr. Spivey became a fiare employee in 2009, at an annual sala
$120,000 per year.

The material bonus performance targets for 200%isted of achieving FDA approval of the Acurdfablet NDA, advancement

additional product candidates (both opioid and opiwid) utilizing Aversion® Technology, and expansion of our intellectual propportfolic
relative to abuse deterrent technologies. Suclopeance targets were both organization and ind&fidjoals. We met most but not all of ¢

2009 performance targetsWe did not receive FDA approval of the Acurdablet NDA in 2009, although we did advance addaigoroduc
candidates through development and expanded celleictual property portfolio with the addition ofid issued patents and the filing of r
patent applications. Considering these circumsmme granted bonuses of $140,000, $112,000 an0¥ 4espectively, to Messrs. Redd
Jones, and Clemens, which amounts representedastibBy less than their 2008 bonus awards. Reeogpn that our executives did r
receive a salary increase for 2009, for 2010 weeanthg increased their salaries in the range of 3a2% 3.6%. As a result, Messrs. Redc
Jones and Clemens now receive annual salaries7gf®30, $300,000 and $211,500, respectively.
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The material bonus performance targets for 201Giangar to the 2009 goals and include the gaiih§DA agreement to accept
resubmission of the AcuroXTablets NDA, subsequent FDA approval of such NDgutamission, advancement of additional product

candidates (both opioid and non-opioid) utilizing éwersion® and Impede™ Technologies and enhancement of aelteiatual property
portfolio for abuse deterrent technologies. Suetiggmance targets are both organizational andviddal goals for Messrs. Reddick and Jo
Mr. Clemens' bonus is weighted 50% to the achieverokthe foregoing organizational goals and 50%h®achievement of goals unigue to
his position as Chief Financial Officer.

No compensation will be earned with respect torfopmance measure unless a performance "floorthfar measure is exceeded; the
incentive opportunity with respect to a measuré pglearned if the target is achieved; achieverhetween the floor and the target results in a
lower amount of award with respect to that perfarogameasure. An amount larger than the incenfp®xiunity for each performance
measure can be earned, up to and possibly exceadipgcified limit, for exceeding the target faattmeasure. Depending on market
conditions and other circumstances, performanderi@imay be modified during the course of the yaad other performance criteria
reweighted. In setting compensation levels, them@ensation Committee compares our Company to coiegpahcomparable business focus,
market capitalization, technological capabilitiesl anarket in which we compete for executives. Ag pf this process, the Compensation
Committee and the Board does not use the compendatiels of comparable companies as benchmartkerras a factor in evaluating the
compensation levels of the named, executive offider date, compensation consultants have not tetaimed by the Compensation Commi
or the Board as part of this process.

In ascertaining the achieved level of performaagainst the targets, the effects of certain extliaary events, as determined by the
Compensation Committee, such as (i) major acqoistand divestitures, (ii) significant one-time ies, and (iii) changes in accounting
principles required by the Financial Accountingristards Board, are "compensation neutral" for the yrewhich they occurred; that is, they
are not taken into account in determining the de¢wpewnhich the targets are met in that year.

The Compensation Committee may, after a reviewnahaecutive's performance, recommertd the Board that a bonus award be
made to such executives based upon other non-eatedgrerformance targets (whether or not they arge to employment
agreements). This could result in the award argahcreases or bonuses above a targeted rangsmamo

For our other executive officers not subject teearployment contract (Messrs. Brzeczko, Seiser anigjli), the Compensation
Committee will set the annual salary for such etigewfficers between December and March and éstapotential bonus compensation that
such executives may earn based upon quantitatiVeifaapplicable, qualitative performance goalsabished by the Compensation
Committee. For 2008 and 2009 each of Messrs. Seeed Emigh’s salaries was $160,000. Dr. Brzeaammenced employment in
February, 2009 at an annual salary of $265,000.

The salary and bonus performance targets for babské. Emigh and Seiser for 2008 consisted of ailvguour Acurox® Tablets to

NDA submission and other product candidates utigjzbur Aversior® Technology through proof of concept, implementing King
Agreement, licensing of additional products to Kthgough the exercise of King’s options under thieg<Agreement, and licensing products

utilizing our Aversion” Technology outside of North America. Such perforomatargets were both organization and individualgo For the
reasons stated above in the case of Messrs. Re@tioley, Jones and Clemens, we paid bonuses ¢d@3@nd $40,000 to Messrs. Seiser and
Emigh, respectively, for 2008. Although salarie=revincreased for 2009 for non-executive officepkayees, no salary increases were granted
to Messrs. Seiser or Emigh for 2009.

Messrs. Brzeczko's, Seiser’'s and Emigh’s performaacgets for 2009 were the same as those for Bledibnes and Clemens as
stated above. Because only some of these targeesmet we paid lower bonuses to Messrs. SeiseEarigh in 2009 than in 2008. In 2009,
Messrs. Seiser and Emigh received bonuses of $2 550 $20,000 respectively. Similarly Dr. Brzecska009 year-end bonus was $33,000,
which was less than the maximum bonus target imcud his February 2009 employment offer letteresBts. Brzeczko’s, Seiser’s and
Emigh’s organizational bonus performance targets for 20&@onsistent with those for Messrs. Reddicked@nd Clemens as outlined abc¢
Such officers' bonuses are weighted 50% to thenizgtonal performance targets and 50% to the aehient of performance targets uniqu
their respective positions. After receiving no salacreases in 2009, in 2010 we awarded salamgases to Messrs. Brzeczko, Seiser and
Emigh generally consistent with inflation. As ault, for 2010 Messrs. Brzeczko, Seiser and Emitiir@ceive annual salaries of $273,000,
$165,000 and $165,000, respectively.
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Stock Options

A long-term component of our executive compensation progransists of stock option grants. The options galyepermit the optio
holder to buy the number of shares of our CommarciStovered by the option (an "option exercise")aaprice fixed at the time
grant. While we have historically granted stockiams having an exercise price equal to the fairkeiavalue of our Common Stock on the «
of grant and continued this practice in 2009, dy2004 and 2005, we issued stock options to oul@raps at a discount to the trading pric
our common stock. It is our expectation that disted stock option grants will occur, if at all,lpn an isolated basis in the future wt
circumstances warrant. With respect to stopions grants having an exercise price equaldarthrket price of our Common Stock on the
of grant, such options generally gain value onljthte extent our stock price exceeds the optionoisemrice during the life of the optis
Generally, a portion of the options vest over aqukepf time if the option holder remains an empleyd expire no later than 10 years |
grant. Executives will generally be subject toitations in selling the vested option stock dueséourities law considerations, and there
will have an incentive to increase shareholder ealtn 2007 no option grants were made to our dikexwfficers as the Compensat
Committee and the Board elected to grant salarseases and bonuses instead based on our improsadpoaition and the absence of
award of such cash incentives during the prior fmars.

It is the Companyg practice to grant stock options to executivesnupmmmencement of employment. On April 7, 2008, date M1
Jones joined us as Senior Vice President and @pefrating Officer, he was granted stock options@sable for 30,000 shares. See-
Summary Compensation Table and Discussion of Empéoy and Incentive Arrangements-Employment Agredsiemn 2009, we grante
stock options to purchase 96,000 shares to Dr.d2kreupon his commencement of employment as Viesi@ent of Technical Affairs. S
“—Summary Compensation Table and Discussion of Empéoy and Incentive Arrangements. In additionMialy 2008 and April 2009 v
granted options for an aggregate of 1,040,000 a@80]000 shares, respectively, to our employeawrgdly, exercisable at fair market ve
on the date of grant, which options vest in equoatallments over 24 months. The May 2008 optianty included options with respec
250,000, 160,000, 160,000, 100,000, 80,000, and080underlying shares, to Messrs. Reddick, Spidepes, Clemens, Seiser and En
respectively, which represented 24%, 15%, 15%, 18%.and 8% of the options granted to all employgesgerally. The April 2009 optit
grants included options with respect to 250,0@®D,200, 120,000, 96,000, and 72,000 underlyingeshdo Messrs. Reddick, Jones, Clen
Seiser and Emigh, respectively, which represen#¥,216%, 12%, 9% and 7%, respectively, of the mgtigranted to all employe
generally. Dr. Brzeczko was not included in thpriA2009 option grants, as he had received anooptirant in February 2009 ug
commencement of his employment. It is likely wel wiaintain similar but not necessarily identicatios of distribution of option awards
the future as we made in 2008 and 2009 to thosmpsrand/or persons in similar management positions

Timing Policies with Respect to Options
We have no plan or practice to time option grantsdordination with the release of npoblic information and we do not time

release of nompublic information to affect the value of executivempensation. Option grant dates for options @ddoeany new executi
officers will likely be the starting date of th@mployment.
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Restricted Stock Uni

Another component of our executive compensatiorgnamo is the grant of RSUs under our 2005 RSU PRrRSU represents
contingent obligation to deliver a share of our coon stock to the holder of the RSU on a distributitate. Each RSU award made to
executives in 2005 vested otierd (1/3) upon grant and the balance in equal tihigrincrements on the first day of each month beiyic
January 1, 2006 and ending December 1, 2007. Wassile the vested shares underlying the RSU asvandthe earlier of (i) a Change
Control (as defined in our 2005 RSU Plan), oriiifour annual installments starting on Januargdl1. In the event of a Change of Con
our issuance of the vested shares shall be maddump sum distribution. In the absence of a ChamigControl, the issuance of the ve:
shares shall be made in four (4) equal installmentsach of January 1, 2011, January 1, 2012, 4a4u2013 and January 1, 2014. Upon
distribution of the vested shares underlying théJRS8vards, the recipients must submit to us thevpaue of $0.01 per share. In 2005,
granted Messrs. Reddick, Spivey, Clemens, SeisgrEanigh RSU awards with respect to 825,000, 66Q,d@40,000, 165,000 and 137,!
underlying shares, respectively. Of the RSU aw#pdsmployees noted above in 2005, 30%, 24%, 18%a6d 5% were issued to Mes
Reddick, Spivey, Clemens, Seiser and Emigh, resgdgt In the case of Messrs. Reddick, Spivey @temens, such awards were reflecte
their employment agreements. We may also grant R8U connection with commencement of employment. Aprii 2008, upo
commencement of his employment, Mr. Jones was egaat RSU award for 50,000 shares, which vestedhtyoim 2,500 share installme:
commencing May 31, 2008. Dr. Brzeczko and ano#xeccutive were also awarded RSUs upon commencesheamployment in 2009. I
additional RSUs were granted to our executive efidn 2007 or 2008 as the Compensation Commitidettee Board elected to grant sa
increases in 2007, option awards in 2008 and banins2007 and 2008. In April 2009 we granted agregate of 285,000 RSUs to all of
employees (other than those who had already reteaveards earlier in the year upon commencementrgfl@yment), including 85,00
45,000, 30,000, 24,000 and 18,000 to Messrs. Rieddines, Clemens, Seiser and Emigh, respectikegtyesenting 30%, 16%, 11%, 8%
6% of RSUs granted to employees generally. likedy we will maintain similar but not necessarilgentical ratios of distribution of RS
awards in the future as we made in 2005 and 20@Bage persons and/or persons in similar managepuesitions. Equity awards grantec
executive upon commencing employment are considaradd serve to reduce, the annual equity awdwatsnbay be made to such executiv
later in such year.

Termination/Severance Benefits

The employment agreement of each of Messrs. Reddidnes and Clemens provide severance benefitsr uoeeair
circumstances. The severance benefits provideadh such executive differ, but include paymenta pfo rata bonus or non equity incen
compensation, one to two years of salary and onetwo years of benefits. See “Employment Agreenmferdad “Quantifying
Termination/Change of Control Paymenis'this Item 11. We believe severance arrangenfentte highest level officers help them to fc
on their respective job functions and give thermfuot that we will not lightly terminate their emgyment. We believe these sever:
benefits were necessary to be able to initiallg lsind to retain these executives. In turn Mes&ddick, Jones and Clemens have agreec
their employment with us ends under certain cirdamses not to compete or solicit our employeeshi for a limited period of time. V
believe that such non-compete and solfieit provisions are important to protect our ibess. The severance benefits are stande
employment contracts and were the results of natimtis between us and our executives.

The other executive officers named in the Summamn@ensation Table have no contractual severanaitseifi terminated by us
other than acceleration of vesting of their RSUs.

Retirement Plan

Beginning in 1998, we have maintained a 401(k) glaat allows us to make both discretionary and matg contributions, but v
have not done so since inception. We have no pemsans or norgualified deferred compensation plans and, astrelse columns relatir
to such plans in the Summary Compensation Tablélarsk.

Change in Control

Currently unexercisable options vest with respectli underlying shares upon a change of contrel defined in employme
agreements, in the case of Messrs. Reddick, Jore€kmens, and in stock option agreements, ircése of Messrs. Brzeczko, Emigh
Seiser) for all executive officers. In additiorisebunted options that are subject to Section 409#he Internal Revenue Code of 1986
amended (Section 409A), become exercisable upon a changerdfol that qualifies as a change of control urslection 409A. In additio
RSUs vest with respect to all underlying shareswgchange of control and are distributed uponaamgé of control (provided the requirem
of Section 409A are met). In addition, Messrs. dReld Jones and Clemens receive severance and éwifubley terminate their employm
after a change of control (as defined in their epplent agreements), or we terminate their employraftar a change of control. We beli
our change of control provisions incentivize oue@xives to seek opportunities for us and realegelits from a change of control transac
even though such change of control may lead toettmination of their positions.
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Tax Reimbursements

Because of the excise tax imposed by Internal Rey€ode Section 280G, our executive officers regubject to such tax upon
exercise of options and distributions under RSUsnupa change of control. We currently have no agergs to reimburse our execu
officers for any taxes imposed as a result of thekbtional excise taxes. We will pay taxes inedrby Mr. Reddick on a lump sum distribut
of the value of twelve months of benefits, whichrhay elect in lieu of continued benefits, in themtvhis employment terminates under ce
circumstances. We also allow our employees tot étetave shares withheld upon exercise of optemd upon the exchange of RSU:
satisfaction of the statutory minimum withholdirax tobligations of such employees relating to syafioa exercises or RSU exchanges.

Perquisites and Other Benef

Our executive officers receive no perquisites. Ndge not made either discretionary or matching rdmutions to their 401(k) plar
although our plan provides that we may do so. &ercutive officers are not provided auto allowarened they receive no country club or ¢
club memberships. We may, however, consider secusites in the future.

Board Proces:

The Compensation Committee of the Board of Directapproves all compensation and awards to our @xecofficers and othi
employees and thereafter submits its recommendstidine full Board for approval. All such decistoare made with the consultation of
Chief Executive Officer, except those relatinghie tompensation of the Chief Executive Officer.c&pt for salary adjustments and cash b
and equity awards to the Chief Executive Officeese items are generally based upon the recomniemaéitthe Chief Executive Officer. F
example, in 2009, the Chief Executive Officer madeommendations with respect to bonuses and salargases for all other employ:
(other than himself) and the Compensation Commatee Board adopted such recommendations. Witteoedp salary adjustments and ¢
bonus and equity items to the Chief Executive @ffithe Compensation Committee establishes suchdaviar the Chief Executive Offic
subject to review and approval of the Board.

Summary Compensation Table and Discussion of Employent and Incentive Arrangements
The following table sets forth a summary of the pemsation paid by us for services rendered inagdhcities to us during each of

three fiscal years ended December 31, 2009, t&hief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officeréour next three most highly compens:
executive officers (collectively, the "2009 name@eutive officers") whose total annual compensatar2009 exceeded $100,000:
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Summary Compensation Table

Base Stock Option
Salary Bonus  Awards’  Awards® Total
Name and Principal Positi Year (%) (%) ($) $) ($)
Andrew D. Reddicl 2007 300,00( 850,00( — — 1,040,001
President & CEC 2008 365,00( 328,50( — 2,369,600 3,063,10!
2009 365,00( 140,00( 533,80( 1,504,72! 2,543,52!
Peter A. Clemen 2007 180,00( 180,00( — — 360,00(
SVP & CFO 2008 205,00( 102,50( — 947,84( 1,255,341
2009 205,00( 74,00( 188,40( 722,26¢ 1,189,66!
Robert B. Jones 2008 211,92¢ 130,50( 282,60( 685,46¢ 1,310,48!
SVP & COO (commence 2009 290,00( 112,00( 431,50( 963,02: 1,796,52

employment April 7, 200€

Albert W. Brzeczkc

VP, Technical Affairs

(commenced employme 2009 234,42: 73,00( 136,58 523,97¢ 967,98:
February 9, 200¢

Robert A. Seise 2007 133,00( 140,00( — — 273,00(
VP, Treasurer & Corpora 2008 160,00( 56,00( — 758,27 974,27.
Controller 2009 160,00( 21,50( 150,72( 577,81« 910,03

(1) The 2008 entries reflect the grant date fair valfieRSUs awarded with respect to 50,000 underlyingress in 2008 to M
Jones. The 2009 entries reflect the grant datevddue of RSUs with respect to 85,000, 45,000080, 24,000 and 24,000 underlying sh
issued in 2009 to Messrs. Reddick, Jones, Clentagczko, and Seiser, respectively. Grant datevidiues are computed in accordance
FASB ASC Topic 718, which are the closing valueéhaf price of our Common Stock on the business dagegling the date of grant reduces
the $.01 par value payable by a holder upon exahaicgan RSU. In all cases we exclude the possibift forfeiture. See Note | to ¢
Financial Statements for a general discussionsfraptions used in calculating grant date fair-value

(2) The 2008 entries reflect the grant date falueaf options with respect to 250,000, 100,00®,200, and 80,000 underlying she
issued in 2008 to Messrs. Reddick, Clemens, Jares Seiser, respectively. The 2009 entries refleetgrant date fair value of options v
respect to 250,000, 120,000, 160,000, 96,000, &aDO underlying shares issued in 2009 to Messeddiek, Clemens, Jones, Brzeczko
Seiser, respectively. Grant date fair values amputed in accordance with FASB ASC Topic 718. atrudlate grant date fair value,
consider an assumed risk free interest rate aridtarisal volatility percentage for our Common $tod-or the option with respect to 30,(
shares issued to Mr. Jones in April 2008 we useskaree interest rate of 3.57% and historicalatitity of 142.47%. For other options iss|
in 2008 we used a risk free interest rate of 3.&8#b historical volatility of 124.84%. For optioissued to Dr, Brzeczko in February 200¢
used a risk free interest rate of 3.07% and hisabrolatility of 124.19%. For other options isduea 2009 we used a risk free interest rai
2.96% and historical volatility of 123.92%. In alhises we excluded the possibility of forfeiture aalculated values based on 10 year o
terms. See Note | to our Financial Statements fpeneral discussion of assumptions used in edloglgrant date fair value.
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Other Compensatory Arrangements
Our executive officers participate in medical, @nlife and disability insurance plans providedatbof our employees.
Employment Agreements

Andrew D. Reddick is employed pursuant to an Emmlegt Agreement effective as of August 26, 200%rasnded, which provid
that Mr. Reddick will serve as our Chief Execut®#icer and President for a term currently scheduteexpire December 31, 2010. The t
of the Employment Agreement provides for automatie (1) year renewals in the absence of writteicedb the contrary from us or N
Reddick at least ninety (90) days prior to the egjmn of the initial term or any subsequent rerguaaiod. Pursuant to an amendment tc
Employment Agreement executed on July 9, 2008,nomrrenewal of the Employment Agreement is consideréelmination without Cau
for all purposes under the Employment Agreement. Réddicks base salary under the Employment Agreement ig,808@ (increased by t
Board from $365,000 effective January 1, 2010)rs&ant to the Employment Agreement, Mr. Reddic&nisitied to an annual bonus base!
the achievement of such targets, conditions, oarpaters as may be set from time to time by the d@oé&mDirectors or the Compensat
Committee of the Board of Directors. For our 2688al year, Mr. Reddick was awarded a bonus of0$100 due to, among other reasons
achievement of certain of the items discussed aboder the caption “Salary and Bonu§he Employment Agreement also provides for
grant in August, 2004 to Mr. Reddick of stock optaexercisable for up to 875,000 shares of ComntookSat an exercise price of $1.30
share. Such stock options provide for vesting @,800 shares on the date of grant of the optidth the balance vesting in mont
increments of 25,000 shares at the expiration oheaonthly period thereafter commencing with thenthoending August 31, 2004. 1
exercise price of $1.30 per share represents autisto the fair market value of our Common Stonktlee date of grant. On August 12, 2(
the date of grant of the stock options, the avenddbe closing bid and asked prices for our Comi8totk was $4.35. Because 450,000 o
discounted options are subject to Section 40940607, we established an exercise schedule to cowittlySection 409A for such 450,C
options so that the options are exercisable (stibjeearlier exercisability as set forth in theléabelow entitled Events Affecting Optio
Vesting and Exercise’)n four equal installments on January 1 of eacl2@f1, 2012, 2013 and 2014, provided that such ogtinay b
exercised only in the calendar year in which thiegt foecome exercisable, and in no event later #hagust 11, 2014. The Employm
Agreement also acknowledges our grant in Decen285 to Mr. Reddick of a Restricted Stock Unit Adi@roviding for our issuance of ug
825,000 shares of our Common Stock. The Restristedk Unit vested onghird (1/3) upon grant and the balance in equaltimgrincrement
on the first day of each month beginning Janua3006 and ending December 1, 2007. The veste@éshiaderlying the Restricted Stock |
Award will be issued by us on the earlier of (Change in Control (as defined in our 2005 RSU Rlan(ii) January 1, 2011. In the event
Change in Control, we will issue the vested shareslump sum distribution. In the absence of a@gfe of Control, the issuance of the ve
shares shall be made in four (4) equal installmentgach of January 1, 2011, January 1, 2012, 8adu&013 and January 1, 2014. U
issuance of the shares underlying the RestrictedkStnit Award, Mr. Reddick must remit to us ther palue of $0.01 per share or have
withhold shares to satisfy such payment obligatidn.December 22, 2005, the date of grant of theriResl Stock Unit Award, the average
the closing bid and asked prices of our Common ISteas $3.33, as reported by the OTCBB. Mr. Reddiigak no rights as a stockhol
including no dividend or voting rights, with respeo the shares underlying the Restricted Stockt Bmiard until we issue the underlyi
shares. The Employment Agreement contains startdemdnation provisions, including upon death, Hikgy, for Cause, for Good Reason i
without Cause. In the event the Employment Agregnie terminated due to death or disability, we @guired to pay Mr. Reddick, or
designee, a pro rata portion of the annual boratswbuld have been payable to Mr. Reddick durirghstear assuming full achievement of
bonus criteria established for such bonus.
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In the event that the Employment Agreement is teatgid by us without Cause, or by Mr. Reddick fooG®&eason, we are requi
to pay Mr. Reddick an amount equal to the bonustich year, calculated on a pro rata basis assuisirechievement of the bonus criteria
such year (to the extent it has not already beat),p@s well as Mr. Reddick's base salary for oeary{such salary amount being the "Sevet
Pay"). In case of termination without Cause, sseberance is payable in equal monthly installmenés a period of twelve (12) months,
in the case of termination by Mr. Reddick for GoRédason, on&alf of such severance is payable six months aéenination, and tt
remaining half of such severance is payable thememf six monthly installments. In addition, MReddick is at his option entitled to contin
coverage under our then existing benefit plandudting medical and life insurance, for twelve (f2pnths from the date of termination or
value of such benefits payable in a lump sum thdetys of termination together with amount needeglapincome tax on such lump sum.
Employment Agreement permits Mr. Reddick to terrtenhe Employment Agreement in the event of a ChangControl (as defined in t
Employment Agreement), in which case such ternomais considered to be made without Cause, emfithfr. Reddick to the benef
described above, except that (i) the SeverancdsRagyable in a lump sum within six months after thate of termination, and (ii) with optic
being treated as set forth in the table below lentit'Events Affecting Option Vesting and Exercis&.he Employment Agreement restricts
Reddick from disclosing, disseminating or using li@ personal benefit or for the benefit of oth@mfidential or proprietary information |
defined in the Employment Agreement) and, providedhave not breached the terms of the Employmen¢exgent, from competing with
at any time prior to one year after the terminatidrihis employment with us. In addition he haseaglrnot to (and not to cause or direct
person to) hire or solicit for employment any ofr @mployees or those of our subsidiaries or aféa(i) for six (6) months following tl
termination of his employment by us without Causép him for Good Reason, prior to a Change of @uin(ii) for twelve (12) montt
following the termination of his employment for Gay prior to a Change of Control, or (iii) twerfour (24) months following a Change
Control. On each of May 23, 2008 and April 24, 20@e granted Mr. Reddick options to purchase 28D $hares of our Common St
exercisable at the fair market value of our ComrBtwck at the date of grant and vesting in equdhilmsents over 24 months. On April .
2009 we also granted Mr. Reddick RSUs with respeein additional 85,000 underlying shares that iresfqual installments over 24 mor
and are exercisable on the same schedule as the &8hted to Mr. Reddick in 2005. The table ezditEvents Affecting Option Vesting a
Exercise,” below summarizes the vesting and exaldisy of Mr. Reddicks options following a number of termination sceosrdr a Chang
of Control.

Robert B. Jones commenced employment with us onl Ap2008 pursuant to an Employment Agreement di&tarch 18, 200:i
which provides that Mr. Jones will serve as ouri&@eNRice President and Chief Operating Officer foterm currently scheduled to exj
December 31, 2010. The term of the Employment Agrent provides for automatic one (1) year renewathe absence of written notice
the contrary from us (which would give Mr. Jones tlght to terminate his employment for Good ReasworMr. Jones at least ninety (90) d
prior to the expiration of the initial term or amsybsequent renewal period. Mr. Jonbase salary under the Employment Agreeme
$300,000 (increased from $290,000 effective Janlig@010). Pursuant to the Employment AgreementXdnes is eligible for annual bonu
of up to thirty percent (30%) of his base salaryttom achievement of such targets, conditions, carpaters as may be set from time to tim
the Board of Directors or the Compensation Commitiethe Board of Directors. In 2009, Mr. Joneswaavarded a bonus of $112,000 du
among other reasons, the achievement of certaithefitems discussed above under the caption “Salad/ Bonus”.The Employmer
Agreement provides for our grant in April 2008 ta.Mones of stock options exercisable for up t®@0,shares of Common Stock al
exercise price equal to the last sale price of@ammon Stock on the last trading day prior to higilA7, 2008 commencement date. The s
option provides for vesting of 1,500 shares onlést day of each month commencing May 31, 2008 amndf December 31, 2009 the st
option was fully vested. In addition, on each c&ayWR23, 2008 and April 24, 2009, we granted Mr. 3ostck options to purchase 160,
shares of our Common Stock exercisable at theniaiket value of our Common Stock at the date ofitgaad vesting in equal installme
over 24 months (subject to earlier exercisabildgysat forth in the table below entitled “Eventse&fing Option Vesting and ExerciseJhe
Employment Agreement also provides for our granAmil 2008 to Mr. Jones of a Restricted Stock Ukitard providing for our issuance
up to 50,000 shares of our Common Stock. The RéstriStock Units granted to Mr. Jones in 2008 wk&t800 shares on the last day of ¢
month commencing May 31, 2008 and as of Decemhe2@19 are fully vested. The vested shares unidgriphe Restricted Stock Unit Awe
will be issued by us on the earlier of (i) a Chamg€ontrol (as defined in our 2005 RSU Plan),iprJanuary 1, 2011. In the event of a Che
in Control, we will issue the vested shares inragusum distribution. In the absence of a Changéadntrol, the issuance of the vested sk
shall be made in four (4) equal installments orhezfcJanuary 1, 2011, January 1, 2012, Januar93 and January 1, 2014. Upon issuan
the shares underlying the Restricted Stock Unit iywBr. Jones must remit to us the par value c®@$@er share or have us withhold shar
satisfy such payment obligation. Mr. Jones hasiglots as a stockholder, including no dividend oting rights, with respect to the she
underlying the Restricted Stock Unit Award until vesue the shares. The Employment Agreement centandard termination provisia
including upon death, disability, for Cause, ford@ddRreason and without Cause. In the event thateweinate the Employment Agreem
without Cause or Mr. Jones terminates the Employmgneement for Good Reason, we are required tobayJones an amount equal to
bonus for such year, calculated on a pro rata leasisming full achievement of the bonus criteriasiaech year (to the extent it has not alre
been paid), as well as Mr. Jones' base salaryrferyear (such salary amount being the "Severangd.Pla case of termination without Cal
and for Good Reason, such Severance Pay is payalelgual monthly installments over a period of tvee(12) months, with a six mor
payment delay for the that portion of the Severdpag that would cause the payments to fall outaidexception to the deferred compens:
rules requiring certain severance payments to icertdficers of a public company to be made commegcisix months aft
termination However, if such termination withdause or for Good Reason follows within two yedra qualifying Change of Control th
the Severance Pay is payable in a lump sum 31 afésistermination, otherwise if such terminatiofidars a Change of Control by more tl
two years then the Severance Pay is payable sixhwm@md one day following termination. In additiapon a termination without Cause or
Good Reason any shares remaining unvested undir gitions and restricted stock units granted to Mnes will vest in full and Mr. Jor
will be entitled to continued coverage under owmtkexisting benefit plans, including medical arid insurance, for twelve (12) months fr
the date of termination. The Employment Agreenrestricts Mr. Jones from disclosing, disseminatingising for his personal benefit or
the benefit of others, confidential or proprietarformation (as defined in the Employment Agreemeamid, provided we have not breachec
terms of the Employment Agreement, from competiiiiy ws at any time prior to one year after the feation of his employment with us.
addition, Mr. Jones has agreed not to (and noatse or direct any person to) hire or solicit fompéoyment any of our employees or thos
our subsidiaries or affiliates (i) for six (6) mbstfollowing the termination of his employment ks without Cause or by him for Good Rea



prior to a Change of Control, (ii) for twelve (1&8jonths following the termination of his employmént Cause, prior to a Change
Control, or (iii) twentyfour (24) months following a Change of Control. @pril 24, 2009 we granted Mr. Jones RSUs with eesfo al
additional 40,000 underlying shares that vest imaéistallments over 24 months and are exercisablne same schedule as the RSUs gr
to Mr. Jones in 2008 The table entitled “Evenffeéting Option Vesting and Exercisehelow, summarizes the vesting and exercisabili
Mr. Jones’ options following a number of terminatiscenarios or a Change of Control.
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Peter A. Clemens is employed pursuant to an EmpdoyrAgreement effective as of March 10, 1998, asrated, which provides tt
Mr. Clemens will serve as our Senior Vice President Chief Financial Officer for a term currentlgheduled to expire December
2010. The term of the Employment Agreement pravifte automatic one (1) year renewals in the alserfiavritten notice to the contre
from the Company or Mr. Clemens at least ninety) (#ys prior to the expiration of any renewal péri¢®ursuant to a 2008 amendment tc
Employment Agreement, our noanewal of the Employment Agreement is consideed germination without Cause for all purposes t
the Employment Agreement. Mr. Clemens current besary under the Employment Agreement is $211,6066reased from $205,0
effective January 1, 2010). Under the Employmegite&ment, he may also receive an annual bonus deteemined based on the satisfac
of such targets, conditions or parameters as maletermined from time to time by the Compensatiom@ittee of the Board of Directors.
2009, Mr. Clemens was awarded a bonus of $74,08Galamong other reasons, the achievement ofic@ftéhe items discussed above ur
the caption “Salary and BonusThe Employment Agreement also provides for the tgoastock options on March 10, 1998 to purchas@®
shares of our Common Stock at an exercise prig28f75 per share, which options vest in equal mergs of 2,500 option shares at the er
each quarterly period during the term of the Emplepnt Agreement (as such vesting schedule may bededeby mutual agreement of |
Clemens and the Board of Directors) In additionAugust 2004, the Company granted stock optiomMdrtdClemens to purchase 37,500 sh
of Common Stock at an exercise price of $1.30 pares which exercise price represents a discoutitedair market value of our Comn
Stock on the date of grant. Such stock options wefur equal portions at the end of each anpealod commencing March 9, 2005. S
stock options are exercisable (subject to earb@rasability as set forth in the table below datlt“Events Affecting Option Vesting a
Exercise”)in four equal installments on January 1 of eacR@ff1, 2012, 2013 and 2014, provided that such nptinay be exercised only
the calendar year in which they first become esatue, and in any event no later than their reggeekpiration dates. In addition, on May
2008, we granted Mr. Clemens options to purchase000 shares of our Common Stock and on April Z0%2we granted Mr. Cleme
options to purchase 120,000 shares of our CommaekSin each case at an exercise price equal ttathenarket value of our Common St
at the date of grant and vesting in equal instalth@ver 24 months (subject to earlier exercisgbds set forth in the table below enti
“Events Affecting Option Vesting and ExerciseThe Employment Agreement also acknowledges thetgeaMr. Clemens of a Restrict
Stock Unit Award providing for our issuance of up440,000 shares of our Common Stock. The RestriStock Unit vests ortlird (1/3]
upon grant and the balance in equal monthly incresen the first day of each month beginning Jandar2006 and ending Decembe
2007. We will issue the vested shares underhfiregRestricted Stock Unit Award on the earlier fa(iChange in Control (as defined in
2005 RSU Plan), or (ii) January 1, 2011. In thergwof a Change in Control, we will issue the veéstkares in a lump sum distribution. In
absence of a Change in Control, our issuance of/éiseed shares shall be made in four (4) equadlinstnts on each of January 1, 2(
January 1, 2012, January 1, 2013 and January 4. 20fon issuance of the shares underlying theriRest Stock Unit Award, Mr. Cleme
must remit to us the par value of $0.01 per shatewe us withhold shares to satisfy such paymbeligation. On December 22, 2005, the 1
of grant of the Restricted Stock Unit Award, themage of the closing bid and asked prices of oun@on Stock was $3.33, as reported by
OTCBB. Mr. Clemens has no rights as a stockholdelyding no dividend or voting rights, with regpéo the shares underlying the Restri
Stock Unit Award until we issue the shares. OnilAp4, 2009 we granted Mr. Clemens RSUs with respean additional 30,000 underlyi
shares that vest in equal installments over 24 hwand are exercisable on the same schedule aRSbs granted to Mr. Clemens
2005. The Employment Agreement contains standardimation provisions, including upon death, diighifor Cause, for Good Reason
without Cause. In the event the Employment Agredrigeterminated by us without Cause or by Mr. Clemfor Good Reason, we are requ
to pay Mr. Clemens an amount equal to $410,00vimethis then base salary, whichever is greateralpa in the case of termination with
Cause in a lump sum within 30 days following teration and in the case of termination for Good Reasix months after termination anc
continue to provide Mr. Clemens coverage under then existing benefit plans, including medical difid insurance, for a term of .
months. The Employment Agreement permits Mr. Clesn® terminate the Employment Agreement in thenewé a Change in Control (
defined in the Employment Agreement), in which casewould receive the same payments as on a teiorinfor Good Reason. T
Employment Agreement also restricts Mr. Clemensfidisclosing, disseminating or using for his peeddyenefit or for the benefit of oth
confidential or proprietary information (as defined the Employment Agreement) and, provided we hagt breached the terms of
Employment Agreement, from competing with us at ame prior to two years after the earlier to ocofithe expiration of the term and
termination of his employment. In addition, foperiod of two (2) years from and after the effeetdate of the termination of his employrr
with us (for any reason whatsoever), (i) inducatbempt to influence any employee of the Corporatipany of its subsidiaries or affiliates
leave its employ, or (ii) aid any person, businesdjrm, including a supplier, a competitor, lisam or customer of or our manufacturer for
Corporation, in any attempt to hire any person whall have been employed by us or any of our sidrség or affiliates within the period
one (1) year of the date of any such requested Hig. table entitled “Events Affecting Option Vestiand Exercise,below, summarizes t
vesting and exercisability of Mr. Clemens’ optidoBowing a number of termination scenarios or a@dpe of Control.

59




Events Affecting Stock Option Vesting and Exerciséor Messrs. Reddick, Jones, and Clemens)

Vesting of All
Options (Options
not subject to
Section 409A"
are exercisable

Event uponvesting)

Exercisability of Option:
not subject to section

409A M

Exercisability of Options Subje
to Section 409AY

Termination due to No additional vestin
Death

Termination by
Company Without
Cause or by All options fully vest for
Employee for Good Messrs. Reddick and Jones.
Reason or Mr. Clemens'’s options vest
following Change upon termination after Chan
of Control (not of Control.

qualifying under

Section 409A

T_ermm_aﬂon due t No additional vestin
Disability
Termination by the
Company for Caus
or by executive
other than for Good
Reasor

No additional vestini

Change of Control Options fully vest

Vested options immediate
exercisable for one year following
termination

Vested options immediately
exercisable for one year following
termination

Vested options immediately
exercisable for one year following
termination

Vested options immediately
exercisable for 40 days following
termination

Vested options immediate
exercisable

Vested options immediately exercisable for
lesser of (a) one year following termination or (b)
the last day of the year in which they become
exercisable

Vested options exercisable commencing
months after termination for the lesser of (a) one
year following termination or (b) the last day

the year in which they become exercisable

Vested options exercisable commencing
months after termination for the lesser of (a) one
year following termination or (b) the last day

the year in which they become exercise

Vested options exercisable commencing

months after termination for the lesser of (a) 40
days thereafter or (b) the last day of the calendar
year in which they first become exercisa

Vested options exercisable upon Chang
Control qualifying under Section 409A during the
year in which the Change of Control occ

(1) See Footnote 2 to table entitled “Outstandingify Awards at 2009 Year-Endind corresponding text for identification of opt
subject to Section 409A. Mr. Jones does not hojdsaich options.

Mr. Seiser and Dr. Brzeczko are not parties to mpleyment agreement.

Dr. Brzeczko was hired @mmsto an offer letter. t

received a $40,000 signing bonus and is eligibleaio additional annual bonus of up to 35% of hisebaalary. In 2009 he received
additional bonus of $33,000. Upon commencemenhisfemployment on February 9, 2009, he receive@®@®4 RSUs vesting in eqt
installments over 24 months, and stock options asable for 96,000 shares of Common Stock vestmgdual installments over
months. Effective January 1, 2010, Dr. Brzeczlaviaual salary is $273,000 (increased from $265,000)

Mr. Seiser is employed at an annual salary of @5 (increased from $160,000 effective January0102 In 2009 he was gran
24,000 RSUs vesting in equal installments over &htims, and stock options exercisable for 96,000eshaf Common Stock vesting in ec

installments over 24 months.

Stock Option Plans

We maintain three stock option plans adopted in519998 and 2008, respectively. In the past wa,uaed may continue to u
stock options to attract and retain key employedbé belief that employee stock ownership andkstelated compensation devices encou
a community of interest between employees and bbéters.
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The 1995 Stock Option Plan

The 1995 Stock Option Plan was approved by ourettudalers in September, 1995. As of December 309 2fcentive stock optio
(“ISO’s”) to purchase 19,000 shares and momdified options to purchase 6,500 shares werstanding under the 1995 Stock Option Pla
May, 2005 the 1995 Stock Option Plan expired ardrémaining unissued shares allocated to the Péxe terminated. The average per s
exercise price for all outstanding options underB95 Stock Option Plan is $12.27.

The 1998 Stock Option Plan

The 1998 Stock Option Plan was adopted by the Baoér®irectors in April, 1998 and approved by ouras#holders in Jun
1998. The 1998 Stock Option Plan permits the godnS0O’s and nomgualified stock options to purchase shares of acam@on Stock. Tt
1998 Stock Option Plan was amended by the BoaRirettors in April, 1999 to increase the numbesiofres available for the grant of opti
under the Plan from 260,000 to 360,000 shares. s@areholders ratified the Plan amendment on Aub®st999. The 1998 Stock Option F
was further amended by Board of Directors in A@D01 to increase the number of shares availablgremt of options under the Plan fr
360,000 to 810,000 shares. Our shareholdersedtifie Plan amendment on June 14, 2001. The 1®@R Sption Plan was further amen
by the Board of Directors on May 5, 2004 to inceedise number of shares available for grant of ogtiander the Plan from 810,00(C
2,000,000 shares. Our shareholders ratified the Bmendment on August 12, 2004. The 1998 Stodlo®pPlan was further amended
February 8, 2006 to make such plan compliant wilstiBn 409A of the Internal Revenue Code, as anmen@rr shareholders ratified
amendment on December 14, 2006. On June 25, 20691998 Stock Option Plan was further amended oy shhareholders to allc
participants to require us to withhold Common Staplkn exercise of options for payment of exerciseepand statutory minimum withholdi
taxes. As of December 31, 2009, stock optionsutalmse 1,361,514 shares of Common Stock had braeted under the 1998 Stock Op
Plan. Of such option grants, 54,750 are 1SO’s B806,764 are nogualified options. No exercise price of an IS@svget at less than 10
of the fair market value of the underlying CommatecB. The exercise price of napalified options exercisable for 1,174,414 shaot
Common Stock has been set at less than the faketnealue on the date of grant of the underlyingn@mwn Stock. Subject to the terms of
1998 Stock Option Plan, the Board of DirectorsadCommittee appointed by the Board determines éngops to whom grants are made
the vesting, timing, amounts and other terms ohgyrant. An employee may not receive IS@Xxercisable in any one calendar year for s
with a fair market value on the date of grant icess of $100,000. No quantity limitations applytte grant of non-qualified stock options.

Options issued to date at a discount under the 8388k Option Plan, which had not vested as of Ddxer 31, 2004, are exercise
(subject to earlier exercise as described belovgun equal installments on January 1 of each df12@012, 2013 and 2014. These option
exercisable earlier than stated above upon a giraifchange of control and upon termination of ewgpient (generally for a period of
days), subject in the case of termination, to ad®itim waiting period prior to exercise for MessredRick, Clemens, Jones and Seiser. |
event are these options exercisable outside tieadaf year in which they first become exercisable.

In April, 2008 the 1998 Stock Option Plan expiraut gahe remaining unissued shares allocated to ke Were terminated. T
average per share exercise price for all outstgnolitions under the 1998 Stock Option Plan is $2.35

The 2008 Stock Option Plan

The 2008 Stock Option Plan was adopted by the Bo&Rirectors on March 14, 2008 and approved byshareholders on April 2
2008. On June 25, 2009, the 1998 Stock Option Wesiamended to allow participants to require usitohold Common Stock upon exerc
of options for payment of exercise price and stayuminimum withholding taxes. The 2008 Stock ©ptPlan permits the grant of IS©an
non-qualified stock options to purchase in the aggregatto 6,000,000 shares of our Common Stock. fA¥cember 31, 2009, stock optit
to purchase 2,284,000 shares of Common Stock hex granted under the 2008 Stock Option Plan. ©f syption grants, 1,005,246 are ¢
and 1,278,754 are non-qualified options. No eserprice of an ISO or a n@qualified stock option was set at less than 100%heffair marke
value of the underlying Common Stock. Subjecti terms of the 2008 Stock Option Plan, the Bod&dictors, or a Committee appoin
by the Board determines the persons to whom geaetsnade and the vesting, timing, amounts and ¢¢hers of such grant. An employee r
not receive IS exercisable in any one calendar year for sharts avfair market value on the date of grant inesecof $100,000. !
quantity limitations apply to the grant of nguoalified stock options. The average per sharecesesprice for all outstanding options undet
2008 Stock Option Plan is $7.95.
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Restricted Stock Unit Award Plan

On December 22, 2005, the Board of Directors apmtoaur 2005 Restricted Stock Unit Award Plan (tB805 RSU Plan”for oul
employees and noemployee directors. The RSU Plan was amendedéBdiard of Directors on October 26, 2006 to alloansfer of RSL
under limited circumstances. We believe that th@52RSU Plan did not requishareholder approval. Nevertheless, on Decemhe?d0b
our shareholders ratified the 2005 RSU Plan, asndett at our 2006 Annual Shareholdefeeting. A RSU represents the conting
obligation of the Company to deliver a share of @ammon Stock to the holder of the RSU on a distiitn date. On March 14, 2008
Board of Directors adopted and on April 30, 2008 shareholders ratified an amendment to the 2003 RI&n increasing the number of shi
available under the 2005 RSU Plan from 3 millioi3t6 million.

The purpose of the 2005 RSU Plan is to attractjvatet and retain experienced and knowledgeable @rapk by offering additior
stockbased compensation and incentives to defer anafedtg enhance their compensation and to encoussmek ownership in the Compe
and to attract and retain qualified nemployee directors. The 2005 RSU Plan is interidexdmply with Section 409A of the Internal Reve
Code of 1986, as amended and is designed to cotfilmtncompensation deferred under the Plan whiculigect to Code Section 409A is
included in the gross income of 2005 RSU Plan @gdits until such time as the shares of Commonk3taderlying RSUs are distributec
set forth in the Plan and Code Section 409A.

The RSU Plan is administered by our Board of Doexbr a Committee appointed by the Board of DiectHowever, with respect
non-employee directors, the Board administers tlam,Pand the Committee has no discretion with retspe any grants to noemploye:
directors. RSUs granted under the RSU plan vesa aghedule determined by the Board of Directorsumh Committee as set forth i
restricted stock unit award agreement. Unless watiserset forth in such award agreement, the RSU\ West upon a change in control
defined in the 2005 RSU Plan) of the Company omutgomination of an employeeemployment without cause or due to death or disa
and in the case of a non-employee director, suckops death or disability or if such person is not reimated as a director (other than
“cause” or refusal to stand for edection) or is not elected by our stockholdersidminated. Vesting of an RSU entitles the hottiereof t
receive a share of Common Stock of the Companydistabution date (after payment of the $0.01 ysue per share).

Absent a change of control, ofmirth of vested shares of Common Stock underlgndRSU award will be distributed (after payn
of $0.01 par value per share) on January 1 of e&@011, 2012, 2013 and 2014. If a change in cowicours (whether prior to or after 201
the vested shares underlying the RSU award willis&ibuted at or about the time of the changeadnt®l. No dividends accrue on the sh.
underlying the RSUs prior to issuance. The reaigief RSU awards need not be employees or dieofahe Company on a distribution date.

RSUs may not be sold, pledged, assigned, hypotcaansferred, or disposed of in any manner byrécipients other tharby will
or by the laws of descent or distribution and Jahe spouse, children or grandchildren of the de@s (the “Immediate Family Members')) (
a trust or trusts for the exclusive benefit of stramediate Family Members, or (iii) a partnershipaihich such Immediate Family Members
the only partners, provided that (x) there may becansideration for any such transfer, (y) subsefjitransfers of transferred RSUs shal
prohibited except those made by will or by the lafgescent or distribution, and (z) such transfepproved in advance by the Committet
Board in absence of a Committee). A married recipimay generally designate only a spouse as d&itiang unless spousal consen
obtained.

Recipients of RSUs generally will not recognizeome when they are awarded RSUs (unless they aercbgnize income |

making a Section 83(b) election). RSU recipient$ igcognize ordinary income in an amount equahtfair market value of the shares of
Common Stock issued pursuant to a distribution utftieRSU. We will generally be entitled to a taddction in the same amount.
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As of December 31, 2009 we had granted RSUs proyittr our issuance of up to an aggregate of 308&Bshares of our Comm
Stock. Of such RSU awards 17,00@ere forfeited in 2009 upon an employgéérmination of employment. 2,750,000 of such Rtard:
vest onethird (1/3) on grant and the balance vest in eqouahthly increments on the first day of each morggibning January 1, 2006 ¢
ending December 1, 2007. 200,000 of such RSU amazdted 77,778 shares on grant and the balantexhviesequal monthly increments
the first day of March 1, 2006 and ending Decendhe2007. 50,000 of such RSU awards vest at aofa2¢500 on the last day of each mc
commencing May 31, 2008, and as of December 319,28l0 of such RSU awards had vested. 24,000 ofi RSU awards vest in 24 eq

monthly installments on thet?)day of each month commencing March 9, 2009 and &ecember 31, 2009, 10,000 of such RSU award
vested. 24,000 of such RSU awards vested in egaoathly installments on the last day of each maimmencing June 11, 2009, and &
December 31, 2009, 7,000 of such RSU awards vesteéd 7,000 were forfeited. 285,000 of such RSUrdsvaest in equal installments on

24" day of each month commencing May 24, 2009 and &eoémber 31, 2009, 95,000 of such RSU awards ésigd.
Outstanding Equity Awards at 2009 Year End

The following table presents information regardmgstanding stock and stock option awards at Deeer8hb, 2009 for each of t
2009 named executive officers:

Outstanding Equity Awards at 2009 Year-End

Stock Option Award: Restricted Stock Unit Awarc
Number of Number of Number of Market Value
Securities Securities Shares or of Shares or
Underlying Underlying Option Units of Units of
Unexercised Unexercised Exercise Option Stock That Stock That
Options (#) Options (#) Price Expiration Have Not Have Not
Name Exercisable Unexercisabl ($) Date Vested Vested ($)(1
Andrew D. Reddick 450,00((2) — $ 1.3C 08/12/201¢ 56,667 $ 301,46¢
197,91 52,08: $ 9.87 05/23/201¢
83,33 166,66 $ 6.2¢ 04/23/201¢
Robert B. Jone 30,00( — $ 8.64 04/06/201¢ 30,00 $ 159,60(
126,66 33,330 $ 9.87 05/23/201¢
53,33: 106,66° $ 6.2¢ 04/23/201¢
Peter A. Clemen 12,50( — $ 18.7¢ 02/17/201C 20,00 $ 106,40(
10,00( — 11.12¢ 06/29/201C
37,50((2) — 1.3C 03/09/201¢
79,167 20,83: % 9.87 05/23/201¢
40,00( 80,00 $ 6.2¢ 04/23/201¢
Albert W. Brzeczkc 40,00( 56,000 $ 5.7C 02/08/201¢ 14,00¢ $ 74,48(
Robert A. Seise 3,00(¢ — $ 18.7¢ 02/17/201C 16,00 $ 85,12(
4,00( — 11.12¢ 06/29/201C
2,50( — 24.6( 11/15/2011
24,90((2) — $ 1.3C 03/09/201¢
63,33¢ 16,66¢ $ 9.87 05/23/201¢
32,00( 64,000 $ 6.2¢€ 04/23/201¢

(1) Based on the closing price $6.33 reported on the Nasdag Capital Market on béee 31, 2009 reduced by the $.01 par valu
share that must be paid on the distribution ofehanderlying the RSUs.

(2) See “Stock Option Plans —1998 Stock Option Pfaninformation regarding these options which wissied at a discount to f
market vale and also see table entitled “Event®ediiig Stock Option Vesting And Exercise” (colunabéled Exercisability of Option
Subject to Section 409A”) with respect to Messred#iick and Clemens andP6tential Payments Potential Payments Upon Teriimat
Change in Control - Messrs. Brzeczko and Seiseith iespect to Mr. Seiser.
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Grants of Plan Based Awards in 2009

The following table presents information regardihg grant of awards made to our 2009 named execafficers in the last complet
fiscal year under our 2005 RSU Plan and 2008 S@yution Plan:

Grants of Plan-Based Awards
Stock awards und Option awards unde
the 2005 Restricte the 2008 Stock Optic Exercise @
Stock Unit Award  Plan- Number of  base price )
Plan - Number of securities underlying of option ~ Grant date fair

Grant shares of stock options awards Value of stock ar

Name Date #) #) ($/Sh)  option awards®

Andrew D. Reddicl 4/24/200¢ 85,00( — om$ 534,00(
4/24/200¢ — 250,00( $ 6.2¢ $ 1,505,00t

Robert B. Jone 4/24/200¢ 45,00( = R 188,00(
4/24/200¢ — 160,00( $ 6.2¢ $ 963,00(

Peter A. Clemen 4/24/200¢ 30,00( = R 126,00(
4/24/200¢ — 120,00 $ 6.2¢ $ 722,00(

Albert W. Brzeczkc 2/9/2009 24,00( = (@) 137,00(
2/9/2009 — 96,000 $ 57C $ 524,00(

Robert A. Seise 4/24/200¢ 24,00( = OR] 151,00(
4/24/200¢ — 96,000 $ 6.2¢ $ 578,00(

(1) RSUs require the payment of $0.01 par valuespare upon the distribution of the shares undeglthe RSUs.

(2) See Notes 1 and 2 to Summary CompensatioreTfabimethodology used in computing grant datealue. See also Note |
our Financial Statements.
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Option Exercises and Stock Vested in 2009

The following table presents information regardihg exercise of options by our 2009 named execuafffieers and vesting of awards
made to a 2009 named executive officer under 005 ZSU Plan that occurred in our last completechfigear.

Option Exercise and Stock Vested In Fiscal Year 2@0

Option Awards Stock Awards
Number of )
Shares acquir( Va|ue Rea”ze Number Of Sha.r( Value Rea“zed C
Name on exercise on exercise Vested (#" Vesting ($)®
Andrew D. Reddict 425,00®¢  1,258,00" 28,33: $ 156,89
Robert B. Jone — — 35,00( $ 251,58’
Peter A. Clemen — — 10,00 $ 55,37t
Albert W. Brzeczkc — — 10,00C $ 58,01(
Robert A. Seise — — 8,00C $ 44,30(

(1) The vested shares underlying the RSUs wilidseed by us on the earlier of (i) a Change of @br{s defined in our 20t
Restricted Stock Unit Award Plan), or (ii) in foannual installments starting on January 1, 20hlthé event of a Change of Control,
issuance of the vested shares shall be made m@$um distribution. In the absence of a Changéartftrol, the issuance of the vested st
shall be issued in four (4) equal installments anheof January 1, 2011, January 1, 2012, JanuaPpl3 and January 1, 2014. Upon
distribution of the vested shares underlying th&JRShe recipients must submit to us the par valu®0.01 per share. The recipients of
RSUs have no rights as a stockholder, includinglimmend or voting rights, with respect to the sgsaunderlying such awards until the sh
are issued by us.

(2) Value is determined by subtracting the $.01vyzdume required to be paid on exchange of eactesbaiRSUs from the closing pri
of our Common Stock on the Nasdaq Capital Market¢ach vesting date (or the preceding closing pfide vesting date is not a trading di
and multiplying the result by the number of sharederlying the RSUs that vested on such date amddggregating those results.

(3) Of the 425,000 options exercised, 249,353 esharere withheld by the Company for payment ofeakercise price and statut
minimum withholding taxes leaving Mr. Reddick with net total of 175,647 common shares. As ofdai of this Report, Mr. Reddi
continues to own all 175,647 of such common shares.

(4) Computed by multiplying the 425,000 sharesu&egl on exercise by the sum of the $4.26 closimgepof our stock on the Nasc

Capital Market on November 23, 2009, the trading ideamediately preceding the date of Mr. Reddgckption exercise less the $1.30 exe
price per share.
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Securities Authorized For Issuance under Equity Corpensation Plans

The following table includes information as of Dedeer 31, 2009 relating to our 1995, 1998 and 20@8kSOption Plans and ¢
2005 Restricted Stock Unit Award Plan, which corsprall of our equity compensation plans. The tabdeides the number of securities tc
issued upon the exercise of outstanding options distlibutions under outstanding Restricted Stoakit Awards under such plans,
weightedaverage exercise price of outstanding options hachtimber of securities remaining available fourfetissuance under such eq
compensation plans:
Equity Compensation Plan Information
] Number of Securities
Number Of Securitie  Weighted-Average Remaining Available for
to Be Issued Upon  Exercise Price of  Fyture Issuance Under

Exercise of Outstanding Options Equity Compensation Pla
Outstanding Options Warrants and Rights (Excluding Securities
Warrants and Rights Reflected in Column a
Plan Categor (Column &) (Column b) (Column ¢)
Stock Option Equity Compensation
Plans Approved by Security Holde 3,671,01: $ 5.9C 3,716,00!

Stock Option Equity Compensatir

Plans Not Approved by Security

Holders — — —
Restricted Stock Unit Equity

Compensation Plans Approved by

Security Holder: 3,316,001 $ 0.01 184,00(
Restricted Stock Unit Equity

Compensation Plans Not Approved |

Security Holder: — — —
TOTAL 6,987,01. $ 3.1C 3,900,001

Potential Payments Upon Termination or Change in Cotrol

Messrs. Brzeczko and Seiser

Options. If a change of control occurs (which ditages a change of control under the stock optigreements) previously unves
options vest and become exercisable with respeall ianderlying shares (relating to 52,000 and 6@,6hares for Messrs. Brzeczko and
Seiser, respectively, as of December 31, 2009)sskée Brzeczko and Seiser would realize a benefi284,000 and $385,000 from such op
vesting if such change of control had occurred ecdinber 31, 2009. Upon the occurrence of a chahgentrol that meets the requireme
of Section 409A of the Internal Revenue Code omuigomination of employment, stock options grartter. Seiser to purchase 24,900 sh
of Common Stock become exercisable in full.

RSUs. If a change of control occurs (which cont# a change of control under the 2005 RSU Pleat) Messrs. Brzeczka’'anc
Seisers previously unvested RSUs vest respect to all lyidg shares. Messrs. Brzeczko and Seiser woeddize a benefit of $80,000 ¢
$100,000 from such vesting if such change of cdritaal occurred on December 31, 2009. Upon theroecce of a change of control t
meets the requirements of Section 409A of the hatleRevenue Code, the RSUs are fully distributéiMeshares upon payment of the $.01
value per share, instead of under their normatidigion schedule.

The dollar benefits described above are the congtiemscost for such awards that would have beeogrized in 2009 in our financ
statements in accordance with FASB ASC TOPIC 7&8,9uch accelerated vesting/distribution occurred.
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Messrs. Reddick, Jones and Clemens

Based upon a hypothetical triggering date of Decaan®i, 2009, the quantifiable benefits for Mesémsdrew Reddick, Robert Jor
and Peter Clemens upon a termination/change ofaompuld have been as set forth the table below:

Medical,
Dental,
Health,
Value of Disability
Value of RSUs and Life
Triggering Options Vesting Insurance
Event Executive Severanci Bonus Vesting (4) (5) Benefits Total (7)
Andrew D. Reddicl $ 365,00((1)(8) —B3) % 469,000 $ 356,00( $ 26,27((6) $ 1,216,27
Termination by Robert B. Jone 290,00((1)(8) —(3) 312,00( 188,41" 26,27(6) $ 816,68!
Company Peter A. Clemen 410,00((2)(9) —(3) 188,000 126,00( 52,54((10) $ 776,54(
: (with respec
without Cause ¢ to Change o
o/ Smpleyies i Control, only
Good Reason ¢ payablé upo
after a Change termination
o Cloiriiol after Chang:
of Control)
L Andrew D. Reddicl — —(3) — 356,00( $ 50,00( $  406,00(
gee;’?r']”a“on for Robert B. Jone — — — 188,000 $ 50,000 $  238,00(
Peter A. Clemen — — — 126,000 $ 50,00( $ 176,00(
L Andrew D. Reddic} — —(3) — 356,00( — $ 356,00(
g?;g‘t;{l‘i?;'on for Robert B. Jone _ — _ 188,00( $  188,00(
Peter A. Clemen — — — 126,00( — $ 126,00(
Termination Andrew D. Reddicl — — — — — —
with Cause Robert B. Jone — — — — — —
Peter A. Clemen — — — — — —
Change o Andrew D. Reddicl — — 469,00( 356,00( — $  825,00(
Control Without Robert B. Jone — — 312,00( 188,00( — $ 500,00(
Termination Peter A. Clemen — — 188,00( 126,00( — $ 314,00(

The terms "Change of Control", "Cause”, and "Goed$dn" have the meanings in the listed executemsloyment agreements.

(2) In the case of termination without Cause, p&yab 12 monthly installments. In the case of tiexation for Good Reason, one t
of amount is payable six months and one day aftenibation, and remaining amount is payable thézeai six monthly installments. In t
case of termination after a Change of Control, amh@payable in a lump sum six months and oneati@y termination.

(2) In the case of termination without Cause, p#&yab a lump sum within 30 days after terminatidn.the case of termination -
Good Reason and termination after Change of Cqrarobunt is payable in a lump sum six months aredday after termination.

(3) Payable in a lump sum within 30 days after teation. Because bonuses were paid prior to Deee@b, 2009, named executi
would not have been entitled to any additional ls@swpon termination at December 31, 2009.

(4) The dollar amount reported is the compensatiost for such awards that would have been recodrize2009 in our financi

statements in accordance with FASB ASC TOPIC 718 tme unvested stock options at December 31, 2@3%ed at such date. ¢
“Employment Agreements” for a description of therise periods following termination.
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(5) The dollar amount reported is the compensatimst for such awards that would have been recedniz 2009 in our financi
statements in accordance with FASB ASC TOPIC 7a8,the unvested RSUs at December 31, 2009 vestettiaate

(6) Represents the value of medical, dental, disgkind life insurance for the twelve months feliog termination and a tax gross
for such amounts. Payable in lump sum within 3@sdafter termination. Assumes executive has ssdelcimp sum payment option, in liet
continued benefits. This amount is estimated.

(7) Excludes accrued vacation.

(8) Represents one year of salary, at the ratéfésteon December 31, 2009.

(9) Represents two years of base salary, at teamaffect on December 31, 2009.

(10) Represents the estimated value of medicahtatie disability and life insurance for the twerbur months followin
termination. Payable in lump sum within thirtyydafter termination.

Director Compensation
The following table sets forth a summary of the pemsation paid by us to our Directors (other thardrdw Reddick, who!
compensation, is reflected in the Summary Compensatable) for services rendered in all capacitesus during the fiscal year enc
December 31, 2009:
2009 DIRECTOR COMPENSATION

Fees Earned or Paid Stock Award Opt|0n Awards (&

Director Cash ($ )" @ Total ($
William G. Skelly 27,50( — 107,28 134,78:
William A. Sumner 26,50( — 107,280 133,78:
Bruce F. Wesso 24,00( — 107,280 131,28:
Richard J. Markhar 28,50( — 107,28 110,13
Immanuel Thangar: 20,00((3) — 107,28 127,28:
George K. Ros 32,00( — 107,28 139,28:

(1) Messrs. Skelly and Sumner each held fully viedRSUs with respect to 100,000 underlying sharsspofaDecember 3
2009. Messrs. Wesson, Markham, Thangaraj and fedsio RSUs.

(2) Messrs. Skelly, Sumner, Wesson, Markham, Taejgand Ross, held vested options with respecttTcg00, 34,000, 30,0(
30,000, 30,000 and 30,000 underlying shares, réisphG as of December 31, 2009. Each was awaogihns to purchase 15,000 share
our Common Stock on January 2, 2009 at an exeprise of $7.48. The dollar amounts represent ttantgdate fair value of such optic
awarded in 2009 in accordance with FASB ASC Togdi8 @&nd exclude the possibility of forfeiture. lmngputing the grant date fair value ur
a BlackScholes model and used a risk free interest raBed@6o, historical volatility of 124.16% and antiop term of 10 years. See Note
our Financial Statements for a general discussi@uoassumptions.

(3) Committee and board meeting attendance feesda
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Our Director compensation program provides for 8,820 annual retainer for each nemployee Director (and an additional ani
retainer of $5,000 for the chairperson of the Aliimmittee and $2,500 for each other Committeerpbeson), a $1,000 fee for each Bc
meeting attended in person ($500 if attended teleighlly), and a $500 fee for each Committee meetittended ($250 if attenc
telephonically). The annual retainer fees are payable in four eigstdliments at the end of each calendar quartengithe year. In addition
non-employee Directors will receive an annual granptions to purchase 15,000 shares of our CommorkStbhe stock options have a te
of 10 years and have an exercise price equal toltiseng price of our Common Stock on the firstlirg day of the year of grant as reporte:
the NASDAQ Capital Market. The stock options vesegual installments at the end of each calendarteuduring the year of grant. Direct
who are also our employees receive no additionapecial remuneration for their services as DinesctdVe also reimburse Directors for tre
and lodging expenses, if any, incurred in connectidh attendance at Board meetings.

Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Partipation

During 2009 there were no Compensation Committeslotks or insider participation in compensati@tidions.
Compensation Committee Report

The following report of the Compensation Commitie@ot deemed to be “soliciting material” or tofilked” with the Commission «
subject to Regulation 14A or 14C [17 CFR 240.14#t-1seq. or 240.14c-1 etseq.], other than as specified, or to the liabilitefsSection 1
of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. 78r].

The Compensation Committee has reviewed and disdus®e Compensation Discussion and Analysis in R@port with Compar
management. Based on such review and discussibasCompensation Committee recommended to the Boér@irectors that tF

Compensation Discussion and Analysis be includeti;Report.

Richard J. Markham, Bruce Wesson and Immanuel Térang
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ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL O WNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED
STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

The following table sets forth information regamlithe beneficial ownership of the Common Stockof$ebruary 1, 2010, f
individuals or entities in the following categori€h each of the Company's Directors and nomirfee®irectors; (ii) the Companyg’principa
executive officer, the Compars/principal financial officer and the next threghest paid executive officers of the Company whota annue
compensation for 2009 exceeded $100,000 (the "2@@%d executive officers"); (iii) all Directors ardlecutive officers as a group; and
each person known by the Company to be a benetiwiakr of more than 5% of the Common Stock. Uniedgated otherwise, each of
shareholders has sole voting and investment poitbmrespect to the shares beneficially owned.

Amount Percent o
Name of Beneficial Owne Owned Class @
GCE Holdings LLC,
c/o Galen Partners lll, L.P.
680 Washington Boulevard, Stamford, CT 06! 34,564,95(2) 75.%
Vivo Ventures Fund VI, L.P.
575 High St, Suite 201

Palo Alto, CA 943013 2,450,00(*) 5.5%
Andrew D. Reddic 969,39 2.2%
Robert B. Jone 250,00((5) *
William G. Skelly 52,25 *
Bruce F. Wesso 47,750 *
William A. Sumnet 56,75((8) *
Peter A. Clemen 211,74 *
Richard J. Markhar 33,75((2)(103 *
Immanuel Thangar: 43,75 *
Robert A. Seise 151,7342 *
Albert W. Brzeczkc 52,00((13) *
George K. Ros 33,75((14) *
All Officers and Directors as a Group (12 persc 2,045,611 4.5%

* Represents less than 1% of the outstanding slofithe Company's Common Stock.

(1) Shows percentage ownergguming (i) such party converts all of its cutlsenonvertible securities or securities conved
within 60 days of February 1, 2010 into the Compmepmmon stock, and (ii) no other Company sectmitger converts any of its converti
securities. No shares held by any Director or 2089ed executive officer has been pledged as eddlagecurity.

(2) GCE Holdings LLC, a Delawdimited liability company, was the assignee Bfdad the our preferred stock (prior to
conversion into common stock) and bridge loansredteto in 2005, 2006 and 2007 (prior to theirwamsion into common stock and warra
formerly held by each of Galen Partners lll, LBaglen Partners International Ill, L.P., Galen Emgplo Fund IllI, L.P. (collectively, “Galep’
Care Capital Investments Il, LP, Care Capital Gffghinvestments Il, LP (collectively, “Care Capijaand Essex Woodlands Health Vent
Fund V, L.P. (“Essex”)Galen, Care Capital and Essex own approximatel898930.6% and 29.6%, respectively, of the membpristierest
in GCE Holdings LLC. The following natural persoesercise voting, investment and dispositive righter our securities held of record
GCE Holdings LLC: (i) Galen Partners lll, L.P., ®alPartners International Ill, L.P. and Galen Eme®Fund IIl, L.P.: Bruce F. Wesson
John Wilkerson, David W. Jahns, and Zubeen Sh(offCare Capital Investments Il, LP and Care Calp@ffshore Investments Il, LP: ¢
Leschly, Richard Markham, Argeris Karabelas and iDeRamsay; and (iii) Essex Woodlands Health Vergureind V, L.P.: Immanu
Thangaraj, James L. Currie and Martin P. Suttersiant to a Voting Agreement among us, GCE HoldlrgS and certain other sharehold
GCE Holdings LLC has the right to designate threthe seven members of the CompanBoard of Directors. The Board designees of
Holdings LLC are Immanuel Thangaraj, Richard Markhand Bruce Wesson. Amounts for GCE Holdings, Lib€lude 1,786,481 shal
underlying warrants, exercisable at $3.40 per shBseludes 381,381 shares and warrants to purch&899 shares held by Galen, 136
shares and warrants to purchase 34,500 sharedbyhdidsex; and 10,923 shares, options to purcha®®@@hares and warrants to purcl
15,000 shares held by Care Capital.
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(3) Includes shares held by an affiliated fundcludes warrants to purchase 450,000 shares exgieiab$3.40 per share held by V
Ventures Fund VI, L.P. and an affiliated fund (eotively, “Vivo”). Number of shares give effect to the transfer ofrards to purcha:
496,364 and 3,636 shares from Vivo Ventures FundL\R. and Vivo Ventures VI Affiliates Fund, L.Respectively, to Warrant Stratec
Fund, LLC on November 30, 2007 but are otherwigeeti as of November 20, 2007. The informatiorhwéspect to Vivo is based solely
our knowledge of our sale of securities to them emdknowledge of the warrant transfer stated above

(4) Includes 793,750 shares subject to stock optExercisable within 60 days of February 1, 20XOwlsich 450,000 shares
subject to fully vested options, exercisable comeimen January 1, 2011 or upon termination of emplegtror a change of control of -
Company. Excludes 910,000 restricted stock uwiards (“RSUs”)granted to Mr. Reddick. Mr. Reddick has no rightsa stockholde
including no dividend or voting rights, with respéa the shares underlying the RSUs until the ghare issued by the Company pursuant t
terms of Company’s 2005 Restricted Stock Unit Plan.

(5) Includes 250,000 shares subject to stock optéxercisable within 60 days of February 1, 20Efcludes 95,000 RSUs grantet
Mr. Jones Mr. Jones has no rights as a stockhdhit#uding no dividend or voting rights, with pesct to the shares underlying the RSUs
the shares are issued by the Company pursuang tertims of Company’s 2005 Restricted Stock UnibhPla

(6) Includes 51,250 shares subject to stock optixescisable within 60 days of February 1, 2018cl&les 100,000 RSUs grantet
Mr. Skelly. Mr. Skelly has no rights as a stocktesl including no dividend or voting rights, witespect to the shares underlying the R
until the shares are issued by the Company pursadhée terms of the Company’s 2005 Restricted IStdrit Plan.

(7) Includes 47,750 shares subject to stock optexescisable within 60 days of February 1, 2010. Wessors holdings do n
include securities held by GCE or by Galen.

(8) Includes 36,750 shares subject to stock optixescisable within 60 days of February 1, 2018cl&les 100,000 RSUs grantet
Mr. Sumner. Mr. Sumner has no rights as a stoddrpincluding no dividend or voting rights, witbspect to the shares underlying the R
until the shares are issued by the Company pursadhe terms of the Company’s 2005 Restricted IStémit Plan.

(9) Includes 206,667 shares subject to stock optexercisable with 60 days of February 1, 201@ykith 37,500 shares are sub
to fully vested options, exercisable commencingudayn 1, 2011 or upon termination of employment octange of control of tl
Company. Excludes 470,000 RSUs granted to Mem@hs (of which 453,750 will have vested within d&ys of February 1, 2010). |
Clemens has no rights as a stockholder, includimginidend or voting rights, with respect to thesds underlying the RSUs until the sh
are issued by the Company pursuant to the terr@®ofpany’s 2005 Restricted Stock Unit Plan. IncluBi®80 shares held by minor children.

(10) Includes 33,750 shares subject to stock optexercisable within 60 days of February 1, 20M0. Markham’s holdings do n
include amounts held by GCE or Care Capital of wihtr. Markham disclaims beneficial ownership.

(11) Includes 43,750 shares subject to stock optexercisable within 60 days of February 1, 200. Thangaraj$ holdings do n

include securities held by GCE or by Essex. Mr.nigaaj disclaims beneficial ownership in securitietdd by GCE and Essex except to
extent of his pecuniary interest therein.
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(12) Includes 151,733 shares subject to stock pgtiexercisable within 60 days of February 1, 2G#fOwhich 24,900 shares :
subject to fully vested options exercisable comnmendanuary 1, 2011 or upon termination of employtma a change of control of {
Company. Excludes 189,000 RSUs granted to Mregeillr. Seiser has no rights as a stockholdelydticg no dividend or voting rights, w
respect to the shares underlying the RSUs untisttaees are issued by the Company pursuant tetims iof Company 2005 Restricted Sta
Unit Plan.

(13) Includes 52,000 shares subject to stock optéercisable within 60 days of February 1, 20EQcludes 24,000 RSUs grantel
Dr. Brzeczko (13,000 of which will have vested witl60 days of February 1, 2010). Dr. Brzeczko masights as a stockholder, including
dividend or voting rights, with respect to the ssunderlying the RSUs until the shares are isbyetthe Company pursuant to the term
Company’s 2005 Restricted Stock Unit Plan.

(14) Includes 33,750 shares subject to stock optexercisable within 60 days of February 1, 2010.

(15) Includes 2,045,610 shares which Directors exetutive officers have the right to acquire witbid days of February 1, 2C
through exercise of outstanding stock options, bictv 512,300 shares subject to fully vested optians exercisable commencing Janua
2011 or upon termination of employment or a chamigeontrol of the Company. Includes securitieh¢otthan RSUs) held by James Em
our Vice President, Marketing and Administratiamaddition to the officers and directors listedaho

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACT IONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE
Certain Relationships and Related Transactions

GCE Holdings LLC, our 75.9% stockholder (“GCE") was the assignee of all shaségshe Company preferred stock (pri
to conversion of such preferred stock into comratmtk) formerly held by each of Galen PartnersllIR., Galen Partners International
L.P., Galen Employee Fund Ill, L.P. (collectiveRGalen”), Care Capital Investments Il, LP, Care Capital GdfghInvestments II, L
(collectively, “Care Capital”) and Essex Woodlandisalth Ventures V, L.P., (“Essex” and together wihlen and Care, the “VC Investoys”
Galen, Care and Essex own 39.8%, 30.6% and 29.68pectively, of the membership interest in GCE. d¥esWesson, Markham ¢
Thangaraj, each a Director, exercise investmentrabover the membership interests in GCE held bye®, Care and Essex, respectively,
correspondingly exercise investment control overammmon stock held by GCE.

As a condition to the completion of our 2004 debhentoffering, we, the investors in our 2004 debesguand the holders of ¢
outstanding 5% convertible senior secured debesntdue March 31, 2006 issued by us during the pdrind 1998 through 2003 execute
certain Voting Agreement dated as of February 642@he "Voting Agreement"). The Voting Agreementyided that each of Galen, Care
Essex (collectively, the "Lead 2004 Debenture Itwes) had the right to designate for nominatioe omember of our Board of Directors, i
that the Lead Debenture 2004 Investors collectivey designate one additional member of the Boeotlectively, the "Designees").
connection with the conversion of our preferredrebanto common stock completed in November 2085 Moting Agreement was amende
reflect the conveyance by each of Galen, Care asé»of their holdings in our preferred sharesofpio their conversion into common sta
to GCE. After giving effect to a further amendmentlanuary 2008, the Voting Agreement, as amengleyjdes that our Board of Direct:
shall be comprised of not more than seven (7) mesnligree (3) of whom shall be designees of GCE,afrwhom shall be our CEO and tt
of whom shall be independent directors. The desigioé GCE are Messrs. Wesson, Markham and Thangaraj
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On August 20, 2007, we entered into a Securitigshfise Agreement with GCE Holdings LLC, our cotitngl shareholder, and t
other investors named therein (collectively, theitUnvestors”),pursuant to which the Unit Investors purchasedswuonsisting of four shar
of common stock and a warrant to purchase one shfaommmon stock. In accordance with the requimreihef the Securities Purchi
Agreement, we filed a registration statement wlith 8EC for purposes of registering the resale e@kttares of common stock issued as pi
the Units and the shares of common stock issugise exercise of the warrants issued as part oftiits (the “Registration Statement”T.he
Registration Statement was declared effective ley SEC on November 20, 2007. We must exercise dféstts to keep the Registrati
Statement effective until the earlier of (i) theedthat all shares of common stock and sharesrofan stock underlying Warrants coveret
the Registration Statement have been sold, oth@)fifth anniversary of the Registration Stateme@novided that the period during which
Registration Statement must be kept effective canshortened to not less than two years by agreemertolders of registrab
securities. Shares of common stock eligible foe sader Rule 144(k) of the Securities Act of 1988,amended, need not be included it
Registration Statement. Under certain circumstgni€éshares are excluded from the RegistratioteStant by the SEC, we may be require
file one or more additional Registration Statemdatshe excluded shares. Subject to certain diaeq for each day that we fail to keep
Registration Statement effective, we must pay éaebstor 0.05% of the purchase price of securitmsered by the Registration Statement
held by such Unit Investor at such time, up to ximam of 9.9% of the amount paid by a Unit Invedtarthe Units.

The requirement in the Securities Purchase Agretmaefile the Registration Statement triggered giggyback registration rigr
granted to certain holders of shares of our comstook and warrants exercisable for common stockyamt to an Amended and Rest
Registration Rights Agreement dated as of Febr@ar2004, as amended. GCE Holdings LLC, Galen Besthll, L.P., Galen Partne
International 1ll, L.P., Galen Employee Fund Ill,A., Care Capital Investments Il, LP, Care Capitficshore Investments II, LP and Es
Woodlands Health Ventures V, L.P. exercised thigiggback registration rights under such AgreemeXd.a result, an aggregate of 26,584

shares of common stock and shares underlying wartagld by such shareholders (after giving effecoar 1 for 10 reverse stock s
effected December 5, 2007) were included in theidtegion Statement.

Our Board has not adopted formalized written peficand procedures for the review or approval cftedl party transactions. A
matter of practice, however, our Board has required all related party transactions, includingthwut limitation, each of the transacti
described above in this Item 13, be subject toesevand approval by a committee of independent tirecestablished by the Board. -
Board’s practice is to evaluate whether a related pangluding a director, officer, employee, GCE Holglin Galen, Care, Essex or of
significant shareholder) will have a direct or idit interest in a transaction in which we may Ipady. Where the Board determined that :
proposed transaction involves a related party Bbard formally establishes a committee comprisddlp®f independent directors to revi
and evaluate such proposed transaction (the “Intbgre Committee”).The Independent Committee is authorized to reviewy and al
information it deems necessary and appropriatevéduate the fairness of the transaction to us amdsbareholders (other than the intere
related party to such transaction), including nreetvith management, retaining third party expeirtslgding counsel and financial advisor
determined necessary and appropriate by the IndepénCommittee) and evaluating alternative transast if any. The Independt
Committee is also empowered to negotiate the tesfrsuch proposed related party transaction on @malh. The proposed related p:
transaction may proceed only following the approgaldd recommendation of the Independent Committedlowing the Independe
Committee$ approval, the related party transaction is salteéinal review and approval of the Board as alehwith any interested direc
abstaining from such action.

Each of the transactions described above in tleis 113 were subject to the review, evaluation, riajoh and approval of i
Independent Committee of the Board. In each of sasle, the Independent Committee was comprisedesbM. Sumner and Skelly.

Director Independence

In assessing the independence of our Board membardoard has reviewed and analyzed the standardedependence requir
under the NASDAQ Capital Market, including NASDAQakketplace Rule 4200(a)(15), and applicable SEQlatigns. Based on tt
analysis, our Board has determined that each ofsiedVilliam A. Sumner, William Skelly and Georgeod® meet the standards
independence provided in the listing requiremefthi® NASDAQ Capital Market and SEC regulationss @&result, three of our seven Bc
members meet such standards of independence. ugjlththe listing standards of the NASDAQ Capital kéarspecify that a majority of
listed issuer’s board of directors must be compriskindependent directors, we are relying uporeg@mption for “controlled companies”
provided in the listing standards for the NASDAQp@al Market. A “controlled companyi% a company of which more than 50% of the vc
power is held by an individual, a group or anott@mpany. Based on GCE Holdings Lis@wnership of approximately 76% of our comt
stock, we are considered a controlled company utigerules of the NASDAQ Capital Market and areired upon this exemption in havi
less than a majority of independent directors anBmard.
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With respect to our Board committees, our Board determined that the members of our Compensatiomritiee do not meet t
standards for independence described above.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

Our registered independent public accounting fistBDO Seidman, LLP. The fees billed by this firm2609 and 2008 were
follows:

2009 2008
Audit Fees $118,10( $131,76:
Audit-Related Fee — —
Total Audit and Aud-Related Fee 118,10( 131,76
Tax Fees 62,25 180,67
All Other Fees —
Total for BDO Seidman, LLI $180,35! $312,44:

Audit Fees include professional services rendemezbhnection with the annual audit of our finanaitements and with our audi
internal control over financial reporting, and theview of the financial statements included in é&orm 10Qs for the related perioc
Additionally, Audit Fees include other servicesttlomly an independent registered public accounting can reasonably provide, such
services associated with our SEC registration istatés or other documents filed with the SEC or uesezbnnection with financing activitie
We had no AudiRelated Fees which would include accounting coatiatis related to accounting, financial reportimglisclosure matters r
classified as "Audit Fees."

Tax Fees include tax compliance, tax advice anglanning services. These services related to itgagpation of various state inco
tax returns, and our federal income tax return,r@néews of IRC Section 382.

Audit Committee's Pre-Approval Policies and Procedres

Consistent with policies of the SEC regarding awdihdependence and the Audit Committee Charter Atdit Committee has t
responsibility for appointing, setting compensat&ord overseeing the work of the registered indepengublic accounting firm (the “Firn)”
The Audit Committee's policy is to pre-approvealtit and permissible non-audit services providgthle Firm. Preapproval is detailed as
the particular service or category of services iargenerally subject to a specific budget. The A@dimmittee may also prapprove particul:
services on a case-loase basis. In assessing requests for servicebeb¥itm, the Audit Committee considers whether ssefvices ai
consistent with the Firms’ independence, whether the Firm is likely to pdevihe most effective and efficient service baspdnuthei
familiarity with the Company, and whether the seevtould enhance the Company's ability to managemtrol risk or improve audit quality.

All of the auditrelated, tax and other services provided by BDQli@ah in 2009 and 2008 and related fees (as dedciibéhe
captions above) were approved in advance by thét @ammittee.

PART IV
ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES
(a) The following documents are filed as part af tieport:
1. All Financial Statements: See Index to Riial Statements

2. Financial Statement Schedules: None
3. Exhibits: See Index to Exhibits
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or)18{dhe Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the itegig has duly caused this report tc
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, therednlp authorized.

Date: March 2, 201

ACURA PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.

By : ANDREW D. REDDICK

Andrew D. Reddicl

President and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgé Act of 1934, this report has been signed bélpthe following persons on behalf of
registrant and in the capacities and on the datisated.

Signature

Title(s)

Date

/s/Andrew D. Reddicl

Andrew D. Reddicl

/s/Peter A. Clemer

Peter A. Clemen

/s/William G. Skelly

William G. Skelly

/s/Bruce F Wessa

Bruce F. Wesso

/s/William A. Sumnel

William A. Sumner

/s/Richard J. Markhar

Richard J. Markhar

/s/lmmanuel Thangari

Immanuel Thangar:

/s/IGeorge K. Ros

George K. Ros

President, Chief Executive Officer and Direc
(Principal Executive Officer

Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Offi
(Principal Financial and Accounting Office
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

Board of Directors and Shareholders
Acura Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
Palatine, Illinois

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balaheets of Acura Pharmaceuticals, Inc. as of mbee 31, 2009 and 2008 and
related consolidated statements of operationskistdders’ equity (deficit), and cash flows for each of theeth years in the period ent
December 31, 2009. These financial statementsheraesponsibility of the Comparsy’management. Our responsibility is to expres
opinion on these financial statements based omodits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstats of the Public Company Accounting OversighamloUnited States). Those stand
require that we plan and perform the audit to obt@asonable assurance about whether the finastaééments are free of mate
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on st tesis, evidence supporting the amounts andodis@s in the financial stateme
assessing the accounting principles used and gindisant estimates made by management, as welalsiating the overall presentation of
financial statements. We believe that our auditwidle a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statetearferred to above present fairly, in all materéspects, the financial position of Ac
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. at December 31, 2009 and, 20@Bthe results of its operations and its cashidifor each of the three years in the pe
ended December 31, 2009, in conformity with accimgnprinciples generally accepted in the United&taf America.

We also have audited, in accordance with the stasd# the Public Company Accounting Oversight Blo@ynited States), the effectivenes
Acura Pharmaceuticals, Inc.’s internal control dfileancial reporting as of December 31, 2009, basedriteria established internal Contro
— Integrated Frameworlssued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatminthe Treadway Commission (COSO) and our repatéd
March 2, 2010 expressed an unqualified opinioneitwer

/s/ BDO Seidman, LLP

Chicago, lllinois
March 2, 2010
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ACURA PHARMACEUTICALS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
DECEMBER 31, 2009 and 2008
(in thousands except par values)

Assets
Current assel
Cash and cash equivale
Shor-term investment
Collaboration revenue receival
Prepaid insuranc
Prepaid expenses and other current a
Deferred income taxe
Total current asse
Property, plant and equipment,
Total assets
Liabilities and Stockholde’ Equity
Current liabilities
Accounts payabl
Deferred program fee reven
Accrued expense
Total current liabilities
Commitments and contingencies (Not¢
Stockholder equity
Common stocl- $.01 par value; 100,000 shares authorized; 433R#842,723 shares issued i
outstanding in 2009 and 2008, respecti
Additional pai+-in capital
Accumulated defici
Total stockholders’ equity
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity

See accompanying notes to the consolidated finbstaitements.
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2009 2008
$ 3017 $ 30,39
- 5,03¢

357 3,52¢

19z 28¢

33 14¢

- 2,491

30,75 41,88¢

1,16( 1,07¢

$ 3191, $ 42,96
$ -3 382
1,55¢ 4,63:

452 882

2,007 5,897

437 427

352,69 344,02:
(323,22) (307,380)
29,91( 37,06¢

$ 3191, $ 4296




Revenue!
Program fee revent
Collaboration revent
Milestone revenue
Total revenu
Operating expenst
Research and development expe

ACURA PHARMACEUTICALS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007

(in thousands except per share data)

Marketing, general and administrative expense

Total operating expenses
(Loss) income from operatiol
Other income (expens
Interest incom:
Interest expens
Amortization of debt discoul

Loss on fair value change of conversion feat
Loss on fair value change of common stock wast

Other (expense) incon
Total other income (expense)

(Loss) income before income !
Income tax expense (benefit)

Net (loss) incom

Deemed dividend from modification of d¢
Net (loss) income applicable to common lgtotders

Earnings (loss) per sha
Basic
Diluted

Weighted average shar
Basic
Diluted

2009 2008 2007
$ 3,077 27,94 $ 3,427
75¢ 11,49¢ 2,977

- 5,00( -

3,83¢ 44,43 6,401

5,67: 14,32: 7,16¢
11,66: 9,13: 4,141
17,33 23,45t 11,31(
(13,500) 20,98: (4,906

147 78¢ 26¢

- - (1,207)

- - (2,700)

- - (3,489

- - (1,905)

©)] ©)] 18

144 777 (9,009)
(13,35() 21,75¢ (13,91
2,47¢ 7,28¢ (9,600
(15,83f) 14,47 (4,312

- - ©)]

$ (15,83 1447: $ (4,319
$ (0.35) 03: $ (0.11)
$ (0.35) 02¢ $ (0.19)
45,93; 45,67 39,15;
45,93; 49,41¢ 39,15;

See accompanying notes to the consolidated finbsteigements.
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ACURA PHARMACEUTICALS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY (DE FICIT)
YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007
(in thousands except par values)

Common Stock Additional
$0.01 Par Valu Paic-in Accumulatec
Shares $ Amount Capital Deficit Total

Balance at Dec. 31, 20( 33,09¢ $ 331 $ 278,93. $ (317,54) $ (38,280
Net loss for the year ended Dec. 31, 2 - - - (4,319 (4,319
Deemed dividend related to debt modificat - - - 3 )
Reclassification of conversion feature va - - 21,08¢ - 21,08¢
Reclassification of common stock warrant ve - - 12,45: - 12,45:
Conversion feature value of issued d - - 1,78¢ - 1,78¢
Other stoc-based compensatic - - 91t - 91t
Net proceeds from unit offerir 5,55¢ 56 14,09( - 14,14¢
Conversion of bridge loan notes, | 3,90t 39 9,961 - 10,00(
Issuance of common shares for exercise of op 31 - 11€ - 11€
Issuance of common shares for inte 84 1 811 - 812
Issuance of common shares for cashless exercise of

warrants 32 - - - -
Reverse stock spl (1) - - - -
Balance at Dec. 31, 20( 42706 $ 427 % 340,15. $ (321,860 $ 18,72(
Net income for the year ended Dec. 31, 2 - - 14,47« 14,47
Other stoc-based compensatic - - 3,85( - 3,85(
Issuance of common shares for exercise of wa 17 - 20 - 20
Balance at Dec. 31, 20( 42727 $ 427 % 344,02 $ (307,380 $ 37,06¢
Net loss for the year ended Dec. 31, 2 - - - (15,83%) (15,83Y)
Other stoc-based compensatic - - 9,20¢ - 9,20¢
Issuance of common shares for cashless exercise of

warrants 73C 7 @) - -
Issuance of common shares for exercise of wa 50 1 15¢ - 16C
Issuance of common shares for cashless exercise of

options and payroll taxes 22F 2 (68E) - (68%)
Balance at Dec. 31, 2009 4372¢ % 437 % 352,69« $ (323,22) $ 29,91(

See accompanying notes to the consolidated finbsteigements.
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ACURA PHARMACEUTICALS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2009, 2008, and 2007

(in thousands, except supplemental data)

2009 2008 2007
Cash flows from operating activitie
Net (loss) incom: $ (15,839 $ 1447: % (4,319
Adjustments to reconcile net (loss) income to mshc(used in) provided by operati
activities:
Depreciation and amortizatic 13C 142 13C
Amortization of debt discout - - 2,70C
Loss on the fair value change of conversion feat - - 3,48:
Loss on the fair value change of common stock wés! - - 1,90¢
Non-cash stock compensation expe 9,20¢ 3,85( 91t
(Gain) loss on asset dispos 3 1 (22
Common stock issued for intere - - 81z
Deferred income taxe 2,47¢ 7,10¢ (9,600
Change in fixed asset impairment rese - (29) -
Changes in assets and liabilit
Collaboration revenue receival 3,17 (559) (2,977
Prepaid expenses and other current a: 222 207 (39¢)
Other assets and depos - - 7
Accounts payabl (382 382 -
Accrued expense (1,119 54¢ 5
Deferred program fee reven (3,077 (21,947 26,57«
Net cash (used in) provided by operating activi (5,207) 4,191 19,22(
Cash flows from investing activitie
Purchases of sheterm investment - (26,039 -
Maturities of sho-term investment 5,03¢ 21,00( -
Capital expenditure (220) (143) (32)
Proceeds from asset dispos - 1 22
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities 4,81¢ (5,187 (9)
Cash flows from financing activitie
Common stock issued for warrant exert 16C - -
Proceeds from issuance of senior secured bridgenetes - - 2,69¢
Repayments on secured term r - - (5,000
Net proceeds from the unit offeril - - 14,14¢
Proceeds from exercise of stock optir - - 11¢
Proceeds from exercise of warti - 20 -
Payments on capital lease obligatis - - (32
Net cash provided by financing activities 16C 20 11,92¢
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equis (224) (970 31,14(
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of p¢ 30,39¢ 31,36¢ 22¢
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period $ 30,17 $ 30,39¢ $ 31,36¢
Cash paid during the perio
Interest $ - $ 2 3 39t
Income taxe: $ 10 $ 82 % -

See accompanying notes to the consolidated finbstaitements.
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ACURA PHARMACEUTICALS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2009, 2008, and 2007

Supplemental disclosures of noncash investing exah€ing activities presented on a reverse stoliklssis:

Year ended December 31, 2009

1.

2.

Warrants to purchase 1,479,000 shares of commark stere exercised at exercise prices of $2.70 &hd0$per share in a cashl
exercise transactions resulting in the issuan&36f000 shares of common sto

Options to purchase 525,000 shares of common stec& exercised at exercise prices of $1.30 peleshacashless exercise transact
and after withholding shares for statutory minimpayroll taxes calculated at $685,000, the transastresulted in the issuance of 225
shares of common stoc

Year ended December 31, 2008

1.

2.

Impaired fixed assets with a $52,000 net book valeee disposed and a $29,000 reduction in the immait allowance was favoral
recognized

A $1,177,000 valuation allowance against deferredine tax assets was removed which resulted imaal @mount recorded as a ber
against current income tax exper

Year ended December 31, 2007

1.

2.
3.

The Company issued 47,552 shares of common stolcledraat $460,000 as payment of the accrued inteteston Senior Secur
Convertible Bridge Term Notes Payalk

The Company issued 36,150 shares of common stdekd/at $352,000 as payment of accrued interesbdugecured Term Note Paya
Warrants to purchase an aggregate 58,000 shaoesrohon stock were exercised at exercise pricesdeet1.20 and $6.60 per share
series of cashless exercise transactions restttitige issuance of aggregate 31,361 shares of constock.

The issuance of $896,000 Senior Secured Converlidge Term Notes during the period January 1,728@ough March 29, 20
included conversion features measured at $849@bizh resulted in the recording of an equal amafrdebt discount and convers
feature liabilities

The change in all separated conversion fe's fair value through March 30, 2007 resulted inosslof $3,483,000. Due to a ¢
agreement modification on March 30, 2007, the thement conversion feature fair value of $21,086,0@s reclassified from liabilities
equity.

The issuance of $1,800,000 of Senior Secured Bridgen Notes included conversion features measuréd,852,000, which resulted i
recording of an equal amount of debt discount tatgqg

The change in the common stock warrarfiést value through the earlier of their exerciséedar March 30, 2007 resulted in a los:
1,668,000. Due to a debt agreement modificatioMarnch 30, 2007, the then current fair value ofla$92,100 outstanding common st
warrants of $12,307,000 was reclassified from litds$ to equity, as was $146,000 of such valuatesl to warrants exercised during
period.

Anti-dilution provisions in certain warrant grants werggered resulting in a loss of $236,000 with @jua amount recorded agai
equity.

Senior Secured Convertible Bridge Term Notes Payabl$10,544,000, less unamortized debt discour#5d4,000 was converted il
3,905,184 shares of common sta

See accompanying notes to the consolidated finbstaitements.
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ACURA PHARMACEUTICALS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007

NOTE A - DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS AND SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Acura Pharmaceuticals, Inc., a New York corporatiand its subsidiary (the “Company” or “Wel§ a specialty pharmaceutical comp
engaged in research, development and manufactymodiict candidates intended to provide abuse réetiefeatures and benefits utilizing

proprietary Aversiorf and Impede™ Technologies.

Amounts presented are rounded to the nearest thdugsdiere indicated, except share and per shase @t equity amounts and all share
per share data of the Company have been adjustefi¢ot a one-for-ten reverse stock split on Deoen®, 2007.

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
A summary of the significant accounting policiesisistently applied in the preparation of the accanying consolidated financial statem
follows.

1. Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include tbeoants of the Company and its whotiwned subsidiary, Acura Pharmaceu
Technologies, Inc. All significant intercompanycaants and transactions are eliminated in consididaWe have evaluated subseq
events through the time of filing this Form 10-Ktlwthe SEC on March 2, 2010.

2. Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers all highly liquid securitigigh an original maturity of three months or lessbe cash equivalents. Our cash
cash equivalent balances can consist of U.S. Trgdills or money market accounts and checking fumdgth variable, market rates
interest. From time to time, amounts may exceedréderal Reserve insurance limits however we belmw credit risk exposure is |
material. We believe the financial risks associatéith these instruments are minimal and we haveexperienced any losses from
investments in these securities. Our cash andesivalents are governed by our investment policgproved by our Board of Directc
The carrying amount of cash and cash equivalemsoapnates its fair value due to its short-termunat

3. Short-Term Investments
The Company’s entire portfolio of shddrm investments at December 31, 2008 consistatbpbsitory bank commercial paper and
accounted for as “held to maturity securities”. Tinestments matured and were sold in 2009.

4. Concentration of Credit Risk

The Company invests its excess cash in accordaiticghe investment policy approved by our Boardakctors that seeks both liquidity
and safety of principal. The policy provides fovéstments in instruments issued by the United Sgaeernment and by commercial
institutions with strong investment grade crediings and places restrictions on maturity terms@nttentrations by type and issuer.

5. Use of Estimates in Consolidated Financial Sements

The preparation of consolidated financial statemémtconformity with accounting principles geneyadiccepted in the United States
America requires management to make estimates aadassumptions that affect the reported amountasséts and liabilities a
disclosure of contingent liabilities at the datetloé consolidated financial statements, as welhasreported amounts of revenues
expenses during the reporting period. Actual restduld differ from those estimates. Managemenbgemally evaluates estimates use
the preparation of the consolidated financial stetets for continued reasonableness. Appropriatgesadgnts, if any, to the estimates t
are made prospectively based on such periodic atiahs.
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6. Inventories

The Company had no inventories at each of DecerBther2009 and 2008. Purchases of active pharmaeéutigredients and re
materials required for the Company’s developmeudt@imical trial manufacture of product candidatgifizing its Aversion®or Impede™
Technologies are expensed as incurred. To purchesain active pharmaceutical ingredients requifed our development ai
manufacture, we are required to file for and obtpintas annually from the U.S. Drug Enforcementfoye

7. Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment are recorded at &wgtreciation is recorded on a straijhe basis over the estimated useful lives o
related assets. Leasehold improvements are anwrigea straightine basis over the shorter of their useful livestlee terms of the
respective leases. Betterments are capitalizedraidtenance and repairs are charged to operatomcarred. The estimated lives of
major classification of depreciable assets are:

Building and improvement 10- 40 year
Land improvement 20- 40 year
Machinery and equipmel 7-10 year
Scientific equipmen 5-10 year
Computer hardware and softw: 3-10 year
Office equipmen 5-10 year

8. Debt

Debt Discount
For years 2007 and prior, debt discount resultiognfthe issuance of common stock warrants in cdioreevith subordinated debt a
other notes payable as well as from beneficial ecsion features contained in convertible debt veasnded as a reduction of the rel;
obligations and was amortized over the remainifggdf the related obligations. Debt discount reddie the common stock warrants iss
was determined by a calculation based on the veldiir values ascribed to such warrants determinjethanagement's use of the Black-
Scholes valuation model.

Debt Conversion Features and Common Stock Warrants
For years 2007 and prior, certain provisions of éineended conversion features contained in the Coygd@ridge Loan Agreemer
required the Company to separate the value of dheearsion feature from the debt and record suchevak a separate liability which \
marked-to-market at each balance sheet date. Thgp&uoy used the Black-Scholes optimieing model to compute the estimated
value of the conversion features. Marked-to-maskigistments resulted in the recording of furthengiand losses.

As a result of the amendment to the Bridge Loane&grents, all outstanding common stock purchaseamarwere accounted for at-
value using the Black - Scholes option-pricing made recorded as a liability with a correspondiaduction in additional paigh capital
This warrant liability was marked-taarket each balance sheet date which resultedeirrdgbording of further gains and losses.
practice ceased in 2007, see Note F.

9. Revenue Recognition, Deferred Program Fee Revemand Collaboration Revenue

We recognize revenue when there is persuasive mséd¢hat an arrangement exists, delivery has oedurthe price is fixed al
determinable, and collection is reasonably assunedonnection with our License, Development, amin@ercialization Agreement da
October 30, 2007 (the “King Agreement”) with Kingd@&maceuticals Research and Development, Inc. {'Kinve recognize program f
revenue, collaboration revenue and milestone rexenu

Program fee revenue is derived from amortized upfpayments, such as the $30.0 million upfront paytrfrom King received
December 2007, and license fees, such as the $Bidhnoption exercise fee paid by King to us inrckaf May and December 2008 u|
the exercise of its option to license a third andrth opioid analgesic product candidate underkiimg Agreement. We have assignec
equal portion of Kings $30.0 million upfront payment to each of threedourct candidates identified in the King Agreemend aecogniz
the upfront payment as program fee revenue ratady our estimate of the development period fohddentified product candidate. \
expect to recognize the remainder of the progranrdégenue for the third product candidate ratabbr dts remaining development per
which we currently estimate to end in December 2048 recognized $3.1 million, $21.9 million, and.43nillion of this program fe
revenue in 2009, 2008 and 2007, respectively.




Collaboration revenue is derived from reimbursentértevelopment expenses, which are invoiced quwgrite arrears, and are recogni:
when costs are incurred pursuant to the King AgeregmThe ongoing research and development serligiag provided to King under t
collaboration are priced at fair value based upgmn reimbursement of expenses incurred pursuartigaollaboration with King. W
recognized $0.8 million, $11.5 million and $3.0 lioih of collaboration revenue in 2009, 2008 and 2d@spectively of which $0.4 millic
and $3.5 million were current receivables at Decam®1, 2009 and 2008, respectively.

Milestone revenue is contingent upon the achievérémrertain pre-defined events in the developmﬁnAcurox® Tablets and oth
product candidates licensed to King under the Ké&mgreement. Milestone payments from King are recoeghi as revenue up
achievement of the “at riskhilestone events, which represent the culminatiotih® earnings process related to that milestoriteskbne
payments are triggered either by the results ofresearch and development efforts or by eventsredtéo us, such as regulatory appri
to market a product. As such, the milestones abstantially at risk at the inception of the King rdgment, and the amounts of
payments assigned thereto are commensurate witinitastone achieved. In addition, upon the achiex@nof a milestone event, we h
no future performance obligations related to thdestone payment. Each milestone payment is namofble and nooreditable whe
made. In June 2008, we recognized milestone reveinan King paid us a $5.0 million payment for swstelly achieving the prima

endpoints in our pivotal Phase 11l study, AP-ADFE10r Acurox® Tablets.

10. Research and Development

Research and Development (“R&D”) expenses includernal R&D activities, external contract reseaochanization (“CRO")activities
and other activities. Internal R&D activity expessnclude facility overhead, equipment and facititaintenance and repairs, deprecia
laboratory supplies, prelinical laboratory experiments, depreciation, gatg benefits, and incentive compensation expel@Re® activity
expenses include preclinical laboratory experimemd clinical trial studies. Other activity expemdaclude clinical trial studies a
regulatory consulting, and regulatory counsel. rimié R&D activities and other activity expenses amarged to operations as incur
The Company makes payments to the CRO's basedreacaupon terms and may include payments in aévahthe study starting da
The Company reviews and accrues CRO expenses michttrial study expenses based on work perforiaued relies upon estimates
those costs applicable to the stage of completfcen siudy as provided by the CRO. Accrued CROscast subject to revisions as s
trials progress to completion. Revisions are chétgeexpense in the period in which the facts ¢inag rise to the revision become kno
Advance payments are amortized to expense basetdrperformed. The Company has entered into se@R® clinical trial agreemer
pursuant to which the unfunded CRO commitments \$é&ré million at December 31, 2009 and are expeittdi incurred as subjects
enrolled into the clinical studies.

11. Income Taxes

The Company accounts for income taxes under th@litiamethod. Under this method, deferred incorag assets and liabilities
determined based on differences between finanejadrting and income tax basis of assets and liegsiland are measured using
enacted income tax rates and laws that will befecewhen the differences are expected to reveéxdditionally, net operating loss and
credit carryforwards are reported as deferred iredax assets. The realization of deferred incomxeassets is dependent upon fu
earnings. A valuation allowance is required agaileserred income tax assets if, based on the weigénailable evidence, it is more liki
than not that some or all of the deferred incomeatssets may not be realized. During 2009 the Gomgletermined it was more liki
than not that it would not be able to realize #sarded deferred income tax assets and recordedljastment of $2.5 million to tl
deferred income tax asset valuation allowance aodgnized an expense from income taxes in suclegeBburing 2008 and 2007, 1
Company determined it was more likely than not thatould be able to realize some of its defermecbime tax assets in the near fut
and recorded adjustments of $1.2 million and $8iiam to the deferred income tax asset valuatidloveance, respectively. The
adjustments recognized a benefit from income taxesur income for such periods. At both December Z109 and 2008, 100% of
remaining net deferred income tax assets weretdffs@ valuation allowance due to uncertaintiehwéspect to future utilization of 1
operating loss carryforwards. If in the futuredtdetermined that additional amounts of our defeineome tax assets would likely
realized, the valuation allowance would be redundtie period in which such determination is madé an additional benefit from incol
taxes in such period would be recognized.
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12. Earnings Per Share

The computation of basic earnings (loss) per sloireommon stock is based upon the weighted averageber of common shai
outstanding during the period, including shareatesl to vested restricted stock units (See Not&Hg computation of diluted earnir
(loss) per share is based on the same number dsshaed in the basic share calculation adjustethéoeffect of other potentially diluti
securities. No such adjustments were made for 20@®07 as their effects would be antidilutive.

Year ended December &

(in thousands except per share d 2009 2008 2007
Basic earnings per she
Numerator
Net (loss) incom $ (15839 $ 1447: $ (4,319
Deemed dividend from modification of debt - - (3
Net (loss) income applicable to common stotdidis $ (15,83H) $ 14474 $ (4,31)
Denominator
Common shares (weighte 42,91 42,71¢ 36,65¢
Vested restricted stock units (weighted) 3,02( 2,95¢ 2,501
Weighted average number of shares outstar 45,93: 45,67¢ 39,15%
Basic earnings (loss) per common st $ (0.35) $ 0.3z $ (0.1

Diluted earnings (loss) per she
Denominator

Common shares (weighte 42,91 42,71¢ 36,65¢
Vested restricted stock units (weight 3,02( 2,952 2,501
Stock option: - 1,44: -
Common stock warrants - 2,30z -
Weighted average number of shares outstar 45,93: 49,41¢ 39,15%
Diluted earnings (loss) per common sh $ (0.35) $ 0.2¢ $ (0.1

Excluded potentially dilutive securitie
Common stock issuable (:

Employee and director stock optic 3,671 1,14¢ 1,85¢
Common stock warran 2,38( - 3,972
Non-vested restricted stock units 204 30 -
Total excluded dilutive shart 6,25¢ 1,17¢ 4,82(

(1) Number of shares issuable represents thoseitseswhich were either i) nonvested at year eniil) avere vested but antidilutive.
The number of shares is based on maximum numbshasés issuable on exercise or conversion afelaged securities as of year e
Such amounts have not been adjusted for the trgatack method or weighted average outstandingutations as required if the
securities were dilutive.

13. Stock-Based Compensation
The Company has four stotlased compensation plans covering stock optionsrestdcted stock units for its employees and dimes
which are described more fully in Note I.

The Company measures its compensation cost relatstlarebased payment transactions based on fair valubeokguity or liabilit
instrument issued. For purposes of estimating alrevhlue of each stock option unit on the datgraint, the Company utilizes the Black-
Scholes option-pricing model. The Bla8kholes option valuation model was developed fe insestimating the fair value of trac
options, which have no vesting restrictions and fatly transferable. In addition, option valuationodels require the input of higl
subjective assumptions including the expected ilityafactor of the market price of the Compasytommon stock (as determined
reviewing its historical public market closing ). Because the Compasyemployee stock options have characteristics faigntly
different from those of trade options and becatlmmges in the subjective input assumptions canrialiyeaffect the fair value estimate,
management'’s opinion, the existing models do noessarily provide a reliable measure of the faueaf its employee stock options.

F-11




The Company’s accounting for stock-based compemséir restricted stock units (“RSUs”) has beenelagn the fairzalue method. T
fair value of the RSUs is the market price of tlmrpany’s common stock on the date of grant, Isssxercise cost.

14. Accounting Developments

In October 2009, the FASB issued an amendmenstpréviously released guidance on revenue arrangsmgth multiple deliverable
This guidance becomes effective for the Comparnhebeginning of its 2011 fiscal year. The pron@ament addresses how to deterr
whether an arrangement involving multiple delivéeabcontains more than one unit of accounting awd the arrangement considera
should be allocated among the separate units @uating. The pronouncement may be applied retrds@dg or prospectively for new
materially modified arrangements and early adopsqgrermitted. The Company is currently assesgiegripact of adopting this guidan

In June 2009, the FASB Accounting Standards Caatific (“Codification”) was issued. The Codification will become the seunt
authoritative accounting principles recognized hg FASB to be applied by nongovernmental entitreshie preparation of financ
statements in conformity with generally acceptedoaating principles. The Codification explicitly aggnizes rules and interpret
releases of the Securities and Exchange Commi¢$8#C") under federal securities laws as authoritative gglyeaccepted accounti
principles for SEC registrants. The Company adoftésstatement on September 30, 2009 and its maogid not have an effect on ¢
consolidated financial statements.

In May 2009, the FASB established the general stafsdof accounting for and disclosure of subsegeeents. In addition, this statem
requires disclosure of the date through which dityehas evaluated subsequent events and the fosdisat date. The Company adog
this standard on July 1, 2009 and has providedhé¢redisclosures as required.

In March 2008, the Financial Accounting Standardsafd (“FASB”) issued a statement for disclosures about derivatisteuments ar
hedging activities intended to improve financiapaging about derivative instruments and hedgingviéies by requiring enhanc
disclosures to enable investors to better undeddtair effects on an entityfinancial position, financial performance, andtcélows. Th
Company adopted this statement on January 1, 2000ne effect on the Compars/consolidated financial statements as we he
derivative or hedging activities.

In December 2007, the FASB issued guidance on lmmidive arrangements, which is effective for cdBmyear companies beginni
January 1, 2009. The pronouncement clarified thenaain which costs, revenues and sharing paynmatie to, or received by, a par
in a collaborative arrangement should be preseintéide income statement and set forth certain désekes that should be required in
partners’ financial statements. The implementatdrthis standard did not have an impact on the Goms consolidated financi
statements.

In December 2007, the FASB issued a statement teblesh accounting and reporting standards for ribacontrolling interest in
subsidiary and for the deconsolidation of a sulbsydiThe Company adopted this statement on Janlia®p09 with no effect on t
Company'’s consolidated financial statements asid@at have any noncontrolling interests in a sdiasy.

In December 2007, the FASB issued a statement smdss combinations. The statement defines theiracqas the entity that obta
control of one or more businesses in the businesbmation, establishes the acquisition date asl#te the acquirer achieves control
requires the acquirer to recognize the assetsiabiitles assumed and any noontrolling interest at their fair values as of tuisitior
date. The statement requires, among other thitngg, the acquisition related costs be recognizedraggy from the acquisition. T
Company adopted this guidance on January 1, 2008ukiness combinations for which the acquisitiateds on or after January 1, 2009.
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In June 2007, FASB issued guidance on "AccountorgNonrefundable Advance Payments for Goods ori€esvReceived for Use
Future Research and Development Activities" whidhs veffective for fiscal years beginning after Debem15, 2007. Nonrefundal
advance payments for goods or services that wilidexl or rendered for future research and developawtivities should be deferred :
capitalized. Such amounts should be recognizechaaxpense when the related goods are delivereéroicss are performed, or wt
goods or services are no longer expected to beigedv The adoption of this guidance did not haveimpact on the Compan
consolidated financial statements.

NOTE B — LICENSE, DEVELOPMENT, AND COMMERCIALIZATIO N AGREEMENT

On October 30, 2007, we and King Pharmaceuticalse&eh and Development, Inc. (“King”), a wholiysned subsidiary of Kir
Pharmaceuticals, Inc., entered into a License, Dpweent and Commercialization Agreement (the “KiAgreement”)to develop an
commercialize in the United States, Canada and édegihe "King Territory") certain opioid analgegicoducts utilizing our proprieta
Aversion® Technology. In addition, the King Agreement pr@sdKing with an option to license in the King Teory all future opioi

analgesic products developed utilizing Avers@oiﬁechnology. At December 31, 2009, King had exettit® option to license two additiol
product candidates including an undisclosed opamidlgesic tablet product and Vycav%(hydrocodone bitartrate/niacin/APAP) Tablets, ¢

of which utilize our Aversiof? Technology. We are responsible for using commbyadiaasonable efforts to develop Acurox@blets throug
regulatory approval by the FDA. The King Agreempravides that we or King may develop additionalo@p analgesic product candids

utilizing our Aversion® Technology and, if King exercises its option teelise such additional product candidates, theyheilsubject to tt
milestone and royalty payments and other termbiekiing Agreement.

At December 31, 2009, we had received aggregatmeaty of $56.2 million from King, consisting of 80 million nonrefundable upfroi
cash payment, $15.2 million in reimbursed reseamth development expenses relating to Acurd@edlets, $6.0 million in fees relating

King's exercise of its option to license an undiseld opioid analgesic tablet product and Vyca@é’rablets, and a $5.0 million milestone

relating to our successful achievement of the prymendpoints for our pivotal Phase Il clinical gyufor Acurox ® Tablets. The Kin
Agreement also provides for King's payment to usad$3.0 million fee upon King’ exercise of its option for each future opioid dua
candidate. In the event that King does not exeritgs option for a future opioid product candid&&g may be required to reimburse us
certain of our expenses relating to such futureidgdiroduct candidate. Further, we may receivéoup23 million in additional nomefundabl
milestone payments for each product candidate $egérto King, including AcuroX Tablets, which achieve certain regulatory milessoim
specific countries in the King Territory. We cdaareceive a onéme $50 million sales milestone payment upon itet attainment of $7¢
million in net sales of all of our licensed prodaiecross all King Territories. In addition, fotesaoccurring following the one year anniver:
of the first commercial sale of the first liceng@duct sold, King will pay us a royalty at one6ofates ranging from 5% to 25% based ot
level of combined annual net sales for all prodlicensed by us to King across all King Territori@asth the highest applicable royalty r
applied to such combined annual sales. King's ltpygayment obligations expire on a product by prctdand country-byountry basis upc
the later of (i) the expiration of the last validtpnt claim covering such product in such coundny(ii) fifteen (15) years from the fi
commercial sale of such product in such country.

The King Agreement expires upon the expiration @igs royalty payment and other payment obligationseuride King Agreement. Kir
may terminate the King Agreement in its entiretynith respect to any product at any time after Ma@&, 2010, upon the provision of not |

than 12 months’ prior written notice, and in itdiesty if regulatory approval of the NDA for AcurdXTablets is not received prior to March
2010 and with respect to a particular product wihpect to a country in which regulatory approwal $uch product is withdrawn by

regulatory authority in such countryWe do not expect to receive FDA approval of the NDAAcurox ® Tablets prior to March 31, 2010.

a result, King may terminate the King Agreementay time following such date upon written noticeus. We may terminate the Ki
Agreement with respect to a product in the Unitéates in the event such product is not commerclalipched by King within 120 days al
receipt of regulatory approval of such productmits entirety if King commences any interferenceopposition proceeding challenging
validity or enforceability any of our patent righiisensed to King under the King Agreement.

F-13




NOTE C — PREFERRED SHARES

As of the date of this Report, the Company hasssadd or authorized preferred shares. Prior te 2008, the Company was authorize
issue various series of convertible preferred stdockNovember 2005 all of the Compasyissued and outstanding preferred shares
automatically and mandatorily converted into thenfPany’s common stock in accordance with the terrhshe Companys Restate
Certification of Incorporation and in June 2009% tBompany amended its Restated Certificate of paration to eliminate all authoriz
preferred stock.

NOTE D — PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Property, plant and equipment are summarized &sifsi

December 31

(in thousands 2009 2008

Building and improvement $ 1468 $ 1,38t
Land and improvemen 161 161
Machinery and equipmel 26 23
Scientific equipmen 56¢ 47€
Computer hardware and softw: 251 22t
Office equipmen 27 52
Other personal proper 60 60

2,55¢ 2,38
Less accumulated depreciation and amortize (1,399 (1,309
Total property, plant and equipment, net $ 1,16($ 1,07¢

Depreciation and amortization expense for the yeaded December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007 was $180$0@ 3,000, and $130,0!
respectively.

NOTE E — ACCRUED EXPENSES
Accrued expenses are summarized as follows:

December 31

(in thousands) 2009 2008
Payroll, payroll taxes and benef $ 89 ¢ 77
Professional service 16C 16¢€
Franchise taxe 21 144
Property taxe 19 39
State income taxe - 94
Clinical and regulatory servict 75 17¢
Other fees and servic 88 18¢€

$ 452 ¢  88:

NOTE F — NOTES PAYABLE

Convertible Bridge Term Notes
A November 2006 amendment of the conversion feainrall of the then outstanding Bridge Loans, cedpkith the requirement under curi
accounting guidance to separate the value of thearsion feature from the debt, required the Comigarnrecord the value of the amen
conversion feature on that outstanding debt asbdity. Upon revaluing the aggregate conversiatdees on all outstanding Bridge Loans ¢
March 30, 2007 (the date immediately before furimaendment to the Bridge Loans), the Company recbtite resulting increase in value
$3.48 million loss. The increase in the Compangdbmmon stock trading price from December 31, 2@0March 30, 2007 resulted in
increase in the value of the conversion liabilithe Bridge Loan amendment on March 30, 2007 limitezl conversion price of the post-
October 2006 loans to no lower than $2.10 per shéfigh this limit in place, the outstanding consien feature no longer had to be reflecte
Company liabilities. As such, the Company record&?1.1 million reclassification of that liabilitg additional paid-in capital.

To compute the estimated value of the conversiatufes just prior to the reclassification descriladdve, the Company used the Black-
Scholes option-pricing model with the following asgptions on these dates:
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Mar 30,

2007
Company stock pric $ 8.5C
Exercise price Q)
Expected dividen: 0.C%
Risk —free interest rat 5.07%
Expected volatility none
Contracted tern 1 day

(1) The conversion price per share used to estirffatevalue of the Bridge Loan conversion rightsswequal to the fixe
conversion price per share set forth above for edde specified Bridge Loan amounts. While thédBe Loan Agreemer
provide for other than fixed conversion prices undertain circumstances, the Company has judgedtligafixed conversic
prices will most likely be the lowest price per shander any of the circumstances and the lendatditberefore select such fix
price for their conversion.

The conversion features related to additional $dilBon Bridge Note issuances in 2007 were not fegflito be separated and accounted f
fair value. However, based on the conversion pricose notes, the issuances did include benkéioiaversion features whereby the comi
stock to be issued upon conversion would be worherthan the underlying debt if converted uponadsse. That incremental value, compi
as $1.5 million was recorded as additional paidapital and as debt discount, which would be amedtiover the term of the notes.

NOTE G — COMMON STOCK WARRANTS

As a result of a November 2006 amendment to the gamyis then outstanding Bridge Loan AgreementsQbmpany$ outstanding commu
stock purchase warrants commenced being accountex fmarked-tonarket liability. Upon revaluing these warrantstjbefore their exerci
or as of March 30, 2007 (the date immediately =farther amendment to the Bridge Loan Agreemettis) Company recorded the resul
increase in value as a $1.7 million loss. The iaseein the Company’common stock trading price from December 31, 200darch 30, 20C
resulted in the increase in the value of the restbraarrant liability. The Bridge Loan agreement adrmeent on March 30, 2007 limited
conversion price of the Bridge Loans, and with thigt in place, the outstanding common stock passhwarrants were no longer require
be accounted for as a liability. As such, the Camyprecorded a combined $12.5 million reclassiiocabf that liability to additional paith
capital during the first quarter of 2007.

The Company has outstanding common stock purchaseamts at December 31, 2009 exercisable for ameggte 2,380,000 shares
common stock, all of which contained cashless eéserfeatures. Warrants for 64,000 and 2,316,00@esha an exercise price of $1.29
$3.40 per share, respectively, will expire in M&@1@ and August 2014, respectively, if unexerciSdtese warrants have a weighted ave
remaining term of 4.5 years and a weighted aveeagecise price of $3.34.

NOTE H - INCOME TAXES
Provision for Income Taxes
The reconciliation between the statutory federabine tax rate and the Company's effective incomestz is as follows :
December 31

(in thousands) 2009 2008 2007

Tax (benefit) at U.S. 34% statutory r: $ (454) % 7,39¢ $ (4,73)
Current state tax (benefit), net of Federal ef (41¢) 1,51¢ (413)
Research tax credi (200 (129 (220
Wage reported stock compensat (587) - -
Fair value change of conversion feature fair vi - - 1,18¢
Fair value change of warra - - 64¢
Debt discount amortizatic - - 91¢
Financing cost - - 311
Other (330 (325) (64)

(5,979 8,46 (2,367
Increase (decrease) in valuation allowa 8,451 (1,177) (7,237%)
Provision (benefit) for income tax: $ 2,47¢ $ 7,288 $ (9,600
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Tax expense for 2009 is deferred taxes, 2008 igpdsed of $0.2 million of current state taxes afdl$million of deferred taxes, and
2007 the entire $9.6 million tax benefit is defertaxes.

Deferred Tax Assets and Valuation Allowance
Deferred tax assets reflect the tax effects ofapetrating losses (“NOLs”}ax credit carryovers, and temporary differencesvben th
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for ficial reporting purposes and income tax purposes.ritost significant item of our defer
tax assets is derived from our Federal NOLs. Weehapproximately $23.1 million federal income taxhé#t at December 31, 20
derived from $68 million Federal NOLs at the 34%dral income tax rate, available to offset futuaeable income, some of which hi
limitations for use as prescribed under internaénele code IRC Section 382. Our NOLs will expirerarying amounts between 2010
2029 if not used. Income tax benefits of $3.0 iprilland $1.4 million from NOLs under valuation aance expired in 2009 and 20
respectively. The components of our deferred tartasare as follows:
December 31
(in thousands) 2009 2008
Deferred tax asset
Estimated future value of NOI

- Federa $ 23,112 $ 22,92

- State 3,86: 2,36¢
Research tax credi 194 754
Deferred program fee reven 611 1,81¢
Shar-based compensatic 10,50¢ 7,36¢
Other, net 41 98
Total deferred taxi 38,327  35,32(
Valuation allowance (38,327 (32,829
Net deferred tax assets $ -$ 2,491

Realization of deferred tax assets is dependent dipire earnings, if any, the timing and amountwifich may be uncertain. Valuat
allowances are placed on deferred tax assets wheertainty exist on their near term utilization.riBdic reviews are made by us on
valuation allowances and fluctuations can occuonsEehfluctuations are reflected as income tax exggens benefits in the period they oc
Prior to 2007 we were uncertain of achieving futeaenings and accordingly, we offset 100% of deftex assets with a valuation allowa
In 2007, based upon the economics of the King Ages#, we concluded that it was likely that we worgdlize sufficient future earnings
enable us to utilize at least $9.6 million of theiséerred tax assets and we reduced the valudtmmamce by that amount. Similarly, in 20
we concluded that it was likely that we would bdeato utilize at least another $1.2 million of thedeferred tax assets and we reduce
valuation allowance by that amount and $11.9 nmllaf deferred tax assets were used to offset 008 28deral and state tax liabilities.
2009, we increased the valuation allowance by $#lkon for the then available deferred tax assaid placed a valuation allowance ag:
the current year’s operating results.

Uncertainty in Income Taxes

On January 2007 we adopted FASBstatement regarding accounting for uncertaintyintcome taxes which defined the threshold
recognizing the benefits of tax-return positionshia financial statements as "more-likely-thast* to be sustained by the taxing authorities.
adoption of the standard did not result in esthbiig a contingent tax liability reserve or a cop@sding charge to retained earnings
December 31, 2009, 2008 or 2007, we had no lighiit income tax associated with uncertain tax fp@mss. The Company’ practice will be t
recognize interest and penalties related to unioetda positions in interest expense and other esperespectively. The Company files fec
and state tax returns. In the normal course ofnassi the Company is subject to examination by ¢ga&ithorities. With few exceptions,

Company believes it is no longer subject to U.8efal and state income tax examinations for yeefsre 2006.

NOTE | — EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS

401(k) and Profit-Sharing Plan
The Company has a 401(k) and Profit-Sharing Plaa ‘(Plan”)for all employees. Employees may elect to makesichaontribution of up 1
15% of their annual earnings. The Plan provides ttie Company can make discretionary matching dmrttons equal to 25% of the first ¢
of employee contributions for an aggregate emplaggribution of 1.5%, along with a discretionampfit-sharing contribution. The Compe
did not contribute matching or profit sharing cdmttions for the Plan in years 2009, 2008 and 2007.
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Stock Option Plans

The Company maintains various stock option plansusmary of the Company's stock option plans @ezfember 31, 2009, 2008, and 2!

and for the years then ended consisted of thevigilg:

Years Ended December :

2009 2008 2007

Number Weighted Number Weighted Number Weighted

Average of Average of Average

Options Exercise Options Exercise Options Exercise

(00C's) Price (00C' s) Price (00C' s) Price

Outstanding, beginning 2,96¢ 4.92 1,85¢ $ 2.6( 1,89¢ $ 2.6(C
Grantec 1,312 6.3¢ 1,16( 9.5¢ - -
Exercisec (525; 1.3C - - (31 3.8(
Forfeited or expire: (84) 7.98 (50) 23.6¢ (10) 3.6(
Outstanding, endin 3,671 5.9C 2,96¢ $ 4.9¢ 1,85¢ $ 2.6C
Options exercisable 2,712 5.4¢ 2,21t $ 3.2¢€ 1,827 $ 2.5¢€

The following table summarizes information aboutwested stock options outstanding at December(319:2

Outstanding a

December 31, 2008

Grantec
Vested

Forfeited or expired

Outstanding at December &

2009

Number of Weightec

Options No Average
Exercisabl Fair
(0007s Value

754 $  6.8¢

1,312 6.0¢€

(2,039 7.8¢

(68) 6.0z

95¢ §  6.77

The Company estimated the option’s fair value on diate of grant using the Black - Scholes optiaokpy model. BlackScholes utilize
assumptions related to volatility, the riske interest rate, the dividend yield (which iswased to be zero, as the Company has not pai
cash dividends) and employee exercise behaviore@&gg volatilities utilized in the BlacBeholes model are based on the historical volg
of the Company’s common stock price. The ffisde interest rate is derived from the U.S. Treasigld curve in effect at the time of grant. -
expected life of the grants is derived from histarifactors. No options were granted in 2007.

The assumptions used in the Black Scholes modidtermine fair value for the 2009 and 2008 stodioopgrants were:

Dividend yield

Risk-free interest rat

Average volatility

Forfeitures

Expected holding peric

Weighted average grant date fair va
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2009 2008
0.0% 0.0%
2.4% to 3.1% 3.63%
124% 141%
0.0% 0.0%

10 years 10 years
$6.06 $6.88




As of December 31, 2009, 2008, and 2007 the agtgeégainsic value of the option awards vested %488 million, $10.5 million, and $8
million, respectively. In addition, the aggregatérinsic value of option awards exercised during years ended December 31, 2009 and
was $1.7 million and $0.5 million, respectively.€eTtotal remaining unrecognized compensation cdate to the unvested option award
December 31, 2009 was $6.4 million and is expetddak recognized over the next seven month weigénedage remaining requisite sen
period. The total fair value of the option awarkattvested during the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007 was $8.2 million, $
million, and $0.1 million, respectively and wasognized as stock-based compensation. Shaded compensation from option awards it
amount of $1.7 million and $0.6 million is includéd research and development expense in the yealesdeDecember 31, 2009 and 2!
respectively. There was no stock-based compenshtiom option awards included in research and deraknt expense during 2007. Stock-
based compensation from option awards in the amou$6.5 million, $3.1 million and $0.1 million iscluded in general and administra
expenses in the years ended December 31, 2009,a2@03007, respectively.

Restricted Stock Unit Award Plan
The Company has a Restricted Stock Unit Award P12005 RSU Plan”) for its employees and non-empéogieectors. Vesting of an RSU
entitles the holder thereof to receive a shareoofroon stock of the Company on a distribution date.

At December 31, 2007, an aggregate of 2.95 miR&Us were outstanding and fully vested. During 2808 2008, 333,000 and 50,000 R
were granted, respectively, and 142,000 and 20R0®0s vested, respectively. During 2009, 17,000 R&/drds were canceled. At Decen
31, 2009 and 2008, 3.32 million and 3.0 million RSWere outstanding, respectively, and 3.11 milkow 2.97 million RSUs were vest
respectively. The RSUs have a weighted averagedie of $3.75 per share at December 31, 2009.

The stock-based compensation cost to be incurreth@®RSUs is the RSU’s fair value, which is the keamprice of the Company’commo
stock on the date of grant, less its exercise ddst. fair value of the RSU grants made in 2009 20@8 was $2.1 million and $0.4 millic
respectively. The total remaining unrecognized cengation cost related to the unvested RSU awardsiaied to $1.3 million at Deceml
31, 2009. The Company recognized compensationfomst the RSU awards of $1.0 million, $0.2 millicemyd $0.8 million during the ye:
ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007, respscti®ébckbased compensation from RSU awards in the amou#0.@f million and $0.
million is included in research and developmentemge in the years ended December 31, 2009 and &&Xpectively. There was no stock-
based compensation from RSU awards included inareseand development expense during 2008. Staskd compensation from R
awards in the amount of $0.8 million, $0.2 millicemd $0.4 million is included in general and adsti@tive expense in the years er
December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007, respectivelyreled tax benefits were recorded in calendar 688, 2008, or 2007.

As of December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007, the agtgagainsic value of the RSU awards outstanding aested was $16.6 million, $2
million and $18.0 million, respectively. As defingdthe 2005 RSU Plan, including a change in cdmfdhe Company or upon terminatior
an employees employment with the Company without cause, vgstill accelerate and the RSUs will fully vest. Alng a change of contr
onefourth of vested shares of common stock underlyangRSU award will be distributed (after payment$6f01 par value per share)
January 1 of each of 2011, 2012, 2013 and 201 cHange in control occurs (whether prior to oera®011), the vested shares underlying
RSU award will be distributed at or about the tiofiche change in control.

NOTE J — COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Employment Agreements
Each of Andrew D. Reddick, Robert B. Jones andrP&teClemens are parties to employment agreemeorigaiming similar terms expirit
December 31, 2010, which provide annual salary337$000, $300,000 and $212,000, respectively, thlegpayment of annual bonuses, in
discretion of the Company’Compensation Committee or Board of Directorsebam the achievement of targets, conditions, carpaters &
set by the Compensation Committee or the Boardidibrs.

Statutory Minimum Withholding Tax Obligations
Under our stock option plans and our 2005 RSU pbamn,employees may elect to have shares withhedah epercise of options and upon
exchange of RSUs in satisfaction of the statutoinyimum withholding tax obligations of such emplogeelating to such option exercise:
RSU exchanges.
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Financial Advisor Agreement
In connection with the Company’s August 2007 Unite@ing, the Company is obligated to pay a feeh® €Companys then financial advis
upon each exercise of the warrants issued in theQffering, in proportion to the number of warramxercised. The maximum amount of ¢
remaining fee assuming 100% exercise of the remgij339,000 warrants is $273,000. The Companynbaseflected this obligation a:
liability in its consolidated financial statemerats the payment is contingent upon the timing aredcése of the warrants by each of the wal
holders. Such fee, if any, will be paid to theaficial advisor and be offset against the equitggeds as the warrants are exercised.

NOTE K — QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA (UNAUDITED)
Selected quarterly consolidated financial datghi®wvn below.

(in thousands except share d¢ Three Month Period Ende
Mar. 31 Jun. 3C Sept. 3C Dec. 31
Calendar Year 20C
Total revenue (& $ 1,38C $ 897 $ 80t $ 75C
Loss from operation (2,197 (3,25€) (3,970 (4,077)
Net loss (b (1,277) (6,520 (3,959 (4,089
Loss per common sha
Basic $ (0.09) $ (0.19 $ (0.09 $ (0.09)
Diluted $ (0.09) $ 0.19 $ (0.09) $ (0.09)
Mar. 31 Jun. 3C Sept. 3C Dec. 31
Calendar Year 20(C
Total revenue (a $ 17,08 $ 15,68 $ 3,88( $ 7,78¢
Income (loss) from operatiol 12,13: 11,227 (3,18¢) 80¢
Net income (loss) (k 7,44¢ 6,87( 3,14¢ (2,999
Income (loss) per common sh
Basic $ 0.1¢ $ 0.1t $ 0.07 $ (0.07)
Diluted $ 0.1t $ 0.1 $ 0.0¢ $ (0.09)

(a) See Note A(9) for revenue recognition.

(b) The Company recorded valuation adjustments¢sodeferred income tax assets and recorded incaxexpense of $2.5
million and $3.6 million in quarters ended Jun, 2009 and Dec. 31, 2008, respectively, and recbimeome tax benefit of
$5.0 million in the quarter ended Sept. 30, 2008.
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ACURA PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.
EXHIBIT INDEX

The following exhibits are included as a part a$ thnnual Report on Form 10-K or incorporated het®y reference.
Exhibit
Number Exhibit Description
3.1 Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Regist (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1the Registrant
Form &K filed on June 25, 200¢

3.2 Certificate of Amendment Reverse Splitting CommaocE and restating but not changing text of parAdicle IlI
of Restated Certificate of Incorporation (incorgerhby Reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the ForrK &fed December -
2007).

3.3 Restated Bylaws of the Registrant (incorporatedebgrence to Exhibit 3.1 to the Forr-K filed on March 3, 2009

10.1 License, Development and Commercialization Agredrbgrand between the Registrant and King Pharmenzds
Research and Development, Inc. (incorporated byreete to Exhibit 10.1 of the Formk8filed on November .
2007) (confidential treatment has been requesteddudions of this Exhibit)

10.2 Securities Purchase Agreement dated as of Augyse@@/ “PIPE SP/") among the Registrant, Vivo Ventu
Fund VI, L.P., Vivo Ventures VI Affiliates Fund, . (collectively “Vivo"), GCE Holdings LLC, and certain otl
signatories thereto (incorporated by referencextuitit 10.1 to the Form-K filed on August 21, 2007

10.3 Form of Warrant dated as of August 20, 2007 issueduant to the PIPE SPA (incorporated by referéade<hibii
4.1 to the Form-K filed on August 21, 2007

104 Form of Warrants dated May 5, 2003 issued to GRlamners Ill, L.P., Galen Partners Internationl LL.P., Galel
Employee Fund Ill, L.P., Essex Woodlands Healthtves Fund V, L.P. and Care Capital Investmentkml,anc
others) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.the October 2007-3).

10.5 Amended and Restated Voting Agreement dated asebfury 6, 2004 among the Registrant, Care C
Investments 1l, LP, Essex Woodlands Health Ventufes\d V, L.P., Galen Partners Ill, L.P., and ot
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 of theer 8-K filed on February 10, 2004 (the “Februa®p2 Form 8-

K”)).

10.6 Joinder and Amendment to Amended and Restated §otigreement dated November 9, 2005 betweel
Registrant, GCE Holdings, Essex Woodlands Healthtes Fund V, L.P., Care Capital Investments R, Gale!
Partners Ill, L.P. and others (incorporated byneriee to Exhibit 10.1 to the Forn-K filed November 10, 2005

10.7 Second Amendment to Amended and Restated Votingeekgent dated as of January 24, 2008 betwee
Registrant and GCE Holdings, LLC (incorporated bference to Exhibit 10.1 to the FormK8filed January 2¢
2008).

10.8 Registrants 1995 Stock Option and Restricted Stock Purchéese (fhcorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 te
Registrant's Registration Statement on Fo-8, File No. 3.-98396).

Registrant’'s 1998 Stock Option Plan, as amendexbporated by reference to Appendix C to the Resyiss Prox

10.9 Statement filed on May 12, 200!
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Exhibit
Number

Exhibit Description

10.10

10.11

10.12

10.13

10.14

10.15

10.16

10.17

10.18

10.19

10.20

10.21

10.22

10.23

10.24

Registrar’s 2005 Restricted Stock Unit Award Plan, as amer{oexdrporated by reference to Appendix B to
Registrar’s Proxy Statement filed on April 2, 200

Registrar’s 2008 Stock Option Plan, as amended on June B9, @icorporated by reference to Appendix B ta
Proxy Statement filed on May 12, 20(

Executive Employment Agreement dated as of Augéist2D03 between the Registrant and Andrew D. Ré&
(“Reddick”) (incorporated by reference to Exhib@.2 to the Form 1@ for the quarter ended June 30, 2004
“June 2004 1-Q")).

Amendment to Executive Employment Agreement betwten Registrant and Reddick, dated May 27, .
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to theel2004 1-Q).

Second Amendment to Executive Employment Agreerhetween the Registrant and Reddick, dated May @45
incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.116 to Beem 10K for the year ending December 31, 2005 filec
February 21, 2006 (tt“2005 Form 1-K™)).

Third Amendment to Executive Employment Agreemeetiveen the Registrant and Reddick, dated Decenth
2005 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1the Form 8-K filed December 23, 2005 (tHeetember 20C
Form &K")).

Fourth Amendment to Executive Employment Agreenimttveen the Registrant and Reddick dated Decen®
2007 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.28h® Form 1K for the year ending December 31, 2007, files
March 5, 2008)

Fifth Amendment to Executive Employment Agreemeetiheen the Registrant and Reddick executed JuRD@¢
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Barm ¢-K filed on July 10, 2008

Executive Employment Agreement dated as of AprR@)4 between the Registrant and Ron J. Spivepi(incate:
by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the June 200-Q).

Amendment to Executive Employment Agreement datedeinber 22, 2005 between Registrant and Ron Jey
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to trec@mber 2005 Formr-K).

Second Amendment to Executive Employment Agreerdated December 19, 2007 between the RegistrariRar
J. Spivey (incorporated by reference to Exhibi2B0to the Form 16 for the year ending December 31, 2007, :
on March 5, 2008,

Third Amendment to Employment Amendment to Exeautizmployment Agreement executed July 9, :
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to oarrf &-K filed on July 10, 2008

Amended and Restate Employment Agreement effeasvef January 1, 2009 between the registrant amd J
Spivey (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 11@.®ur Form -K filed on July 10, 2008

Employment Agreement dated as of March 10, 1998vémt the Registrant and Peter ClemeClemen”)
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.44 to Beem 10K for the period ending December 31, 2007, filec
April 15, 1998).

First Amendment to Employment Agreement made asuwfe 28, 2000 between the Registrant and Cle
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.44A to Registrar’'s 2005 Form 1-K).
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Exhibit

Number Exhibit Description

10.25 Second Amendment to Executive Employment Agreerbetween Registrant and Clemens, dated as of Jab
2005 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1h® Registrant's Forn-K filed January 31, 2005

10.26 Third Amendment to Executive Employment Agreemeated December 22, 2005 between Registrant and @k
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to trec@mber 2005 Formr-K).

10.27 Fourth Amendment to Executive Employment Agreemeated December 16, 2007 between Registran
Clemens (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 1@®8e Form 1 for the year ending December 31, 2007,
on March 5, 2008}

10.28 Fifth Amendment to Executive Employment Agreemexgceited July 9, 2008 between Registrant and Cle
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to Barm &K filed on July 10, 2008

10.29 Employment Agreement dated as of March 18, 200&dxn the Registrant and Robert B. Jones (incorpdréat
reference to Exhibit 10.1 to our Forr-K filed on March 24, 200¢

*10.30 Consulting Agreement dated as of December 10, P@d8een Registrant and Garth Boe

14.1 Code of Ethics (incorporated by reference to ExHiBi1 of the Form-K filed on December 10, 2007

21 Subsidiaries of the Registrant (incorporated bgnexice to the Form 1R-for the fiscal year ended December
2006 filed on March 15, 2007

*23.1 Consent of BDO Seidman LLP, Independent RegistBrdalic Accounting Firm

*31.1 Certification of Periodic Report by Chief Executi@ficer pursuant to Rule 1-14 and 15-14 of the Securitie
Exchange Act of 193¢

*31.2 Certification of Periodic Report by Chief Financiafficer pursuant to Rule 1-14 and 15-14 of the Securitie
Exchange Act of 193¢

*32 Certification of Chief Executive Officer and Chieinancial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Sectio®@,3as adopte

pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbi-Oxley Act of 2002

*Filed or furnished herewith.
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CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

Acura Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
Palatine, Illinois

We hereby consent to the incorporation by referéendbe Registration Statements on Form S-8 (N88-13%1653, 333-151620, 3333172
333-123615, 333-63288, and 33-98356) and on Fofr('$s. 333146416) of Acura Pharmaceuticals, Inc. of our repdated March 2, 201
relating to the consolidated financial statemeatsl the effectiveness of Acura Pharmaceuticals,dmaternal control over financial reporti
which appear in this Form 10-K.

/s/ BDO Seidman, LLP

Chicago, lllinois
March 2, 2010
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CONSULTING AGREEMENT

This CONSULTING AGREEMENT (the "Agreement") is ddteas of December 10, 2009, and is between AC
PHARMACEUTICALS, INC., a New York corporation todeetr with its subsidiary (“Acura”), and Garth Boehh.D. (“Consultant”).

WHEREAS Consultant is employed by Acura pursuararioemployment agreement made as of March 23, gb@3Employmen
Agreement”);

WHEREAS, Consultant wishes to terminate the Empleytigreement;
WHEREAS, Acura desires to retain Consultant asndependent contractor to perform consulting sesvioe Acura; and

WHEREAS, Consultant is willing to perform such dees on the terms and conditions set forth herBi®@Ww, THEREFORE, tr
parties agree as follows:

1. Services and Compensation

(@) Commencing on December 14, 2009 {@®ensulting Commencement Date'fonsultant agrees to provide to Acura consu
services, from time to time, and on a matter bytendiasis, at Acura’s request to assist Acuragf@mple, (i) in conjunction with Acurg’
outside patent counsel, in evaluating Acura’s idspegents and filed patent applications; (ii) iveleping, authoring, and/or caithoring ne\
patent applications intended to encompass andgirobenmercially viable pharmaceutical products véthuse deterrent features and ben
(iii) in reviewing draft patent applications autkedrby Acura staff; (iv) in conjunction with Acuratent counsel, evaluating competitive pat
and published patent applications for freedom terafe and other relevant considerations; (v) inuateng technical aspects of competitive
potentially competitive products in developmenthwétbuse deterrent features and benefits; (vi) Ilalmorating with Acura's technical st
regarding development of new modifieelease oral solid dosage forms with abuse detefeatures using previously approved active
inactive pharmaceutical ingredients; and (vii) swther matters as may be requested by Acura frome to time during the term of tl
Agreement (“Services”)provided that prior to being obligated to perforny &ervice hereunder Consultant must agree inngritd perforr
such Service. The Services will be performed bypsidtant at such times and in such number of hasiishall be mutually agreed by Acura
Consultant.

(b) In the performance of the Servicesehrder, Consultant shall comply with all applieafdderal, state and local laws, regulations
guidelines.
(c) In consideration for the Servicesfpened by Consultant, Acura agrees to pay the Qarguthree hundred dollars ($ 300.00)

hour (the "Consulting Fee") and at 33% of the CtirgyFee for travel time, if any, relating to suglervices. Notwithstanding the forego
Consultant shall receive no Consulting Fee foffittse forty (40) hours of Services performed by Hiereunder.
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(d) In addition, reimbursement will be aeato the Consultant by Acura for reasonable exgeiscurred by the Consultant on Acgra’
behalf, including reimbursement for travel, meaid &dging subject to Acura’s prior approval.

(e) At the end of each month in whichv&ms are rendered, Consultant shall provide anigevto Acura and a copy of any receipts
any individual expense item exceeding $25.00. ifdbices shall include a daily written accountimgdaa brief description of the numbel
hours spent by the Consultant performing the Sesyiand expenses incurred. All invoices shall be ahd payable by Acura to Consul
within thirty (30) days after receipt by Acura.

2. Protection of Confidential Information . In view of the fact that the Consultant's wook Acura will bring him into close cont:
with the Company’s confidential information, inclad plans for future developments, the Consultgn¢es to the following:

2.1 Secrecy. During the Term (as defined in Section 5) artérathe date of termination of this Agreement, Qitasit will
preserve the confidential nature of, and not uselase, reveal, or make accessible to anyone thiaer Acuras$ officers, directors, employe
consultants or agents, otherwise than within thepscof his consulting duties and responsibilitieselander, any and all docume
information, knowledge or data of or pertainingoura, its subsidiaries or affiliates, includingitlwout limitation, the Aversion®@ echnology
or pertaining to any other individual, firm, corpéibn, partnership, joint venture, business, orzglivn, entity or other person with wh
Acura or any of its subsidiaries or affiliates mégy business during the Term (including licenseiegnkors, manufacturers, suppliers
customers of Acura or any of its subsidiaries fitigties) and which is not in the public domain¢liding trade secrets, "know how", names
lists of licensees, licensors, manufacturers, sepplnd customers, development plans or progratasstics, manufacturing and produc
methods, processes, techniques, pricing, marketitiods and plans, specifications, advertisinggéard campaigns or any other matters
all other confidential information of Acura, itstsidiaries and affiliates (hereinafter referrec$o"Confidential Information™). The restrictic
on the disclosure of Confidential Information impdsy this Section 2.1 shall not apply to any Gaerfitial Information that (i) was part of -
public domain at the time of its receipt by the €dtant or becomes part of the public domain in @@nner and for any reason other tha
act by the Consultant, and (ii) Consultant is Iggabmpelled (by applicable law, deposition, interatory, request for documents, subpc
civil investigative demand or similar process) tigctbse, in which event the Consultant shall previicura with prompt notice of su
requirement so that Acura may seek a protectiverasd other appropriate remedy, and if such proteairder or other remedy is not obtair
the Consultant shall exercise reasonable effortgpood faith to obtain assurance that confidentedtment will be accorded such Confidel
Information.

2.2 Return Memoranda, etc. The Consultant hereby agrees to deliver promptéxcura on termination of this Agreement
at any other time Acura may so request, all mendaamotes, records, email records, reports, mandatsvings, blueprints and otl
documents (and all hard and soft copies theredd}ing to Acura's business and all property assedi¢herewith, which the Consultant r
then possess or have under his control.
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2.3 Non-competition . The Consultant agrees that he shall not at ang prior to one (1) year after the expiration i
termination of this Agreement for any reason, omanage, operate, be a director or an employeea af consultant to or provide any servi
consultation or advice to any person, businesgaration, partnership, trust, limited liability cgeny or other firm or enterprise ("Persc
which is engaged in marketing, selling or distribgtproducts, or in developing product candidatesri for the United States, which coni
opioid anti-abuse or abuse deterrent technologyeohnology meant to achieve all or some of the safifects as Acura’s Aversi@
Technology or are potentially competitive with: @gura’s products or product candidates in develepnor (b) its licenses’ products ¢
product candidates in development that contain #iea® Technology or any similar abuse deterrenhrietogy (hereinafter the “Non-
compete”). For avoidance of doubt, the Non-comséiall apply only to the extent that Consultardgervice, consultation or advice for
Person directly relates to opioid anti-abuse orsabdeterrent technology, including Acwwaversion Technology. For avoidance of dc
product candidates are as evidenced by the cusndéitén product development plan and/or busineas pff Acura at the time of terminatior
this Agreement and/or described in Acura’s mosemgdiling on Form 8-K, Form 10-K or Form 1D-with the Securities and Exchal
Commission as of the date of the termination of thjreement. If any of the provisions of this S®stt2.3, or any part thereof, is hereine
construed to be invalid or unenforceable, the ssinadl not affect the remainder of such provisiopvisions, which shall be given full effe
without regard to the invalid portions. If anytbe provisions of this Section 2.3, or any partélé is held to be unenforceable because ¢
duration of such provision, the area covered thembthe type of conduct restricted therein, thetipa agree that the court making s
determination shall have the power to modify theatlan, geographic area and/or other terms of quolision and, as so modified, s
provision shall then be enforceable. In the evibratt the courts of any one or more jurisdictiohalishold such provisions wholly or partie
unenforceable by reason of the scope thereof @rweibke, it is the intention of the parties herdtattsuch determination not bar or in any
affect Acura's right to the relief provided for ber in the courts of any other jurisdictions asbteaches or threatened breaches of
provisions in such other jurisdictions, the abovevjsions as they relate to each jurisdiction befiog this purpose, severable into diverse
independent covenants.

2.4 Injunctive Relief . The Consultant acknowledges and agrees thaaubecof the unique and extraordinary nature ¢
services, any breach or threatened breach of thagiwns of Sections 2.1, 2.2, or 2.3 hereof wallse irreparable injury and incalculable h
to Acura, and Acura shall, accordingly, be entitlednjunctive and other equitable relief for sumeach or threatened breach and that res:
Acura to such injunctive or other equitable reBgill not be deemed to waive or to limit in anypest any right or remedy which Acura n
have with respect to such breach or threatenedhbrea

25 Expenses of Enforcement of Covenants In the event that any action, suit or proceedihtaw or in equity is brought
enforce the covenants contained in Section 2.&r 23, hereof or to obtain money damages for teadh thereof, the party prevailing in .
such action, suit or other proceeding shall betledtupon demand to reimbursement from the othewy gar all expenses (including, withc
limitation, reasonable attorneys' fees and dishmesgs) incurred in connection therewith.
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2.6 Non-Solicitation . The Consultant covenants and agrees not tor{ahtb cause or direct any Person to) hire or gdbic
employment any employee of Acura or any of its glibges or affiliates. The prohibitions of thie&ion 2.6 shall apply for six (6) mon
following the termination of this Agreement.

2.7 Information of other Parties . In performing the Services, Consultant shall ngtrieperly use or disclose any proprie
information or trade secrets of, any former or entremployer or other person or entity with whiabn8ultant has an agreement or duty to
in confidence information acquired by Consulta@bnsultant shall not bring onto the premises of rAcany unpublished document
proprietary information belonging to any prior ament employer, person or entity unless consetated writing by such employer, persor
entity. Consultant shall indemnify Acura and haldharmless from and against all claims, liabiktiedamages and expenses, inclu
reasonable attorney's fees and costs of suithgrisut of or in connection with any violation omithed violation of a third party's rig!
resulting in whole or in part from Acura's use lod twork product of Consultant under this Agreement.

3. Ownership Rights.

(@) Consultant acknowledges and agreas Atura will be the exclusive owner of all deligbles created by Consultant in
performance of the Services, including, withoutitation, all data, information, products, processes technology. Without limiting t
foregoing, all copyrightable material, notes, retsprdrawings, designs, inventions, improvementseld@ments, discoveries and trade se
conceived, made or discovered by Consultant, solelg collaboration with others, during the terfrtlis Agreement as a result of Consulte
performance of the Services (collectively, "Invens") will be the sole property of Acura. Consnttahall assign (or cause to be assigned
does hereby assign fully to Acura all Inventionsl @my copyrights, patents, mask work rights or oiheellectual property rights relati
thereto.

(b) Consultant shall assist Acura, ordigsignee, at Acura's expense, in every propertwagcure Acura's rights in the Inventions
any copyrights, patents, mask work rights or othtallectual property rights relating thereto iryaand all countries, including the disclosur
Acura of all pertinent information and data witlspect thereto, the execution of all applicatiopgcffications, oaths, assignments and all «
instruments that Acura may deem necessary in daepply for and obtain such rights and in orderassign and convey to Acura,
successors, assigns and nominees the sole andigrdlight, title and interest in and to such Inv@ms, and any copyrights, patents, mask \
rights or other intellectual property rights retatithereto. Consultant's obligation to executeaurse to be executed, when it is in Consuli
power to do so, any such instrument or papersosiitinue after the termination of this Agreement.

(c) If, in the course of performing theer@ces, Consultant incorporates into any Inventeveloped hereunder any invent
improvement, development, concept, discovery oemtiroprietary information owned by Consultant mmihich Consultant has an inter
then Consultant hereby grants to Acura a nonexa@usoyaltyfree, perpetual, irrevocable, worldwide licensentake, have made, modify, 1
and sell such item as part of or in connection withh Invention.
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(d) If Acura is unable for any reasonstrure Consultant's signature to apply for or syl any application for any United State
foreign patents or mask work or copyright registrag covering the Inventions assigned to Acura abtlven Consultant hereby irrevoce
designates and appoints Acura and its duly autbdrificers and agents as Consultant's agent &omhey in fact, to act for and in Consulta
behalf and stead to execute and file any such @djihs and to do all other lawfully permitted aiiSurther the prosecution and issuanc
patents, copyright and mask work registrationsetweiwith the same legal force and effect as if ebagtby Consultant.

4, Conflicting Obligations.

(@) Consultant hereby represents thdtaseno agreement or obligation that conflicts waitly of the provisions of this Agreement or
preclude Consultant from complying fully with theopisions of this Agreement. Consultant shall eiater into any such conflicting agreen
during the term of this Agreement. Nothing in tiigreement shall preclude the Consultant from ptiogj consulting services to oth
where there are no conflicts with the provisiongto$ Agreement. Consultant warrants and represiait Consultant has never been, it
currently, and during the term of this Agreemeritl mot become an individual who has been debabyethe FDA pursuant to 21 U.S.C. 33!
or (b) (“Debarred Individual”from providing services in any capacity to a perizat has an approved or pending drug product egijsn, o
an employer, employee or partner of a Debarredviddal.

5. Term and Termination.

(@) The term (the “Term”)of this Agreement will commence on the Consultingr@nencement Date and will continue until the et
of (i) the second (“Qd ") annual anniversary of the date hereof or (i§ tarmination of this Agreement pursuant to Sestifb) or 5(c).

(b) Acura may terminate this Agreemepfdr convenience, upon ninety (90) dapsior written notice to Consultant, or (i) immetidy
and without prior notice if Consultant is in breasftany material provision of this Agreement.

(c) Consultant may terminate this Agreetrfer convenience upon ninety (90) dapsior written notice to Acura, provided Consuli
has performed at least forty (40) hours of Servieagunder for Acura.

(d) Upon termination of this Agreemedt rights and duties of the parties toward eacleothall cease except: (i) that Acura shall pi
Consultant, within 30 days of the effective datdesfnination, all amounts owing to Consultant fensces completed and accepted by A
through the termination date, and (ii) Section ®{&ction of Confidential Information), Section @wnership Rights), Section 7 (Indepent
Contractors and Benefits), Section 8 (Arbitratid®@ction 9 (Indemnification) and Section 12 (OtRewvisions) will survive the termination
this Agreement.
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6. Assignment.

Neither this Agreement nor any right hereundemterest herein may be assigned or transferred Img@@mnt without the prior written cons
of Acura. Acura may not assign any of its rightsobligations under this Agreement without the prigitten consent of Consultant excep
connection with the sale of all or substantiallycdilAcura’s business, whether by means of a mesgde of stock, sale of assets, or otherwise.

7. Independent Contractors and Benefits

Consultant will at all times perform the Servicesam independent contractor. Nothing in this Agreet will in any way be construed
constitute the Consultant as an agent, employaepesentative of Acura. Consultant shall repgrircome all compensation receivec
Consultant pursuant to this Agreement and shallglaselfemployment and other taxes thereon. EffectivehenQonsulting Commencem
Date, Consultant will not be entitled to any Aceensored benefits, including, without limitatigajd vacation, sick leave, medical insura
and 401(k) participation. If Consultant is reclisd by a state or federal agency or court asrapleyee of Acura, Consultant will becom
reclassified employee and will receive no benefitsept those mandated by state or federal law, #dsnthe terms of Acura's benefit plan:
effect at the time of such reclassification Corentltvould otherwise be eligible for such benefits.

8. Arbitration .

(@) Except as provided in Section 8(dpwe Acura and Consultant agree that any disputeootroversy arising out of, relating to o
connection with the interpretation, validity, canstion, performance, breach or termination of thgreement will be settled by bindi
arbitration to be held in New York, New York, incacdance with the Commercial Arbitration Rules loé tAmerican Arbitration Associati
then in effect. The arbitrator may grant injunnsar other equitable relief in such dispute ortcrersy. The decision of the arbitrator will
final, conclusive and binding on the parties. Judgt may be entered on the arbitrator's decisi@mjncourt of competent jurisdiction.

(b) Acura and Consultant shall each pagtwlf of the costs and expenses of such arbitradimh each party shall separately pa
counsel fees and expenses, unless otherwise dirlegténe arbitrator.

(c) The parties may apply to any court@mpetent jurisdiction for a temporary restrainarder, preliminary injunction, or other intel
or conservatory relief, as necessary, without bred¢he above agreement to arbitrate and withbridgment of the powers of the arbitrator.
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(d) CONSULTANT HAS READ AND UNDERSTANDS EETION 8, WHICH DISCUSSES ARBITRATION. CONSULTAM
UNDERSTANDS THAT BY SIGNING THIS AGREEMENT, CONSULANT AGREES TO SUBMIT ANY CLAIMS ARISING OUT OfF
RELATING TO, OR IN CONNECTION WITH THIS AGREEMENTOR THE INTERPRETATION, VALIDITY, CONSTRUCTION
PERFORMANCE, BREACH OR TERMINATION THEREOF, TO BINNG ARBITRATION, EXCEPT AS PROVIDED IN SECTION 8
(c). THIS ARBITRATION CLAUSE CONSTITUTES A WAIVEROF CONSULTANT'S RIGHT TO A JURY TRIAL AND RELATES @
THE RESOLUTION OF ALL DISPUTES RELATING TO THIS AGEEMENT.

9. Indemnification .

(@) Consultant shall indemnify and holdrhless Acura and its directors, officers, and eyges from and against any and all expe
damages, claims, suits, actions, judgments and ¢ostluding but not limited to attorneys' feesiseng directly or indirectly from (i) ar
negligent, reckless or intentionally wrongful a€Gonsultant, (i) a determination by a court oeagy that the Consultant is not an indeper
contractor, or (iii) any breach by the Consultainioy of the covenants contained in this Agreement.

(b) Except as otherwise provided in Sertd(a), Acura shall indemnify and hold Consulthatmless from and against any anc
expenses, damages, claims, suits, actions, judgmemd costs (including but not limited to attordefees) arising from Consultar
performance of the Services. Acura's obligatiodeéend and indemnify Consultant is conditionedru@mnsultant (1) giving prompt writt
notice to Acura of the claim, (2) allowing Acurahave sole and exclusive control of the defensth@fclaim and any settlement negotiati
including the exclusive authority to compromise afgim and make all strategy decisions regardihfpaéts of the litigation or matter, and
at Acura's reasonable request and expense, agdistima in such defense.

10. Notices.

Every notice or other communication required ortearplated by this Agreement must be in writing aedt by one of the following metho
(1) personal delivery, in which case delivery vl deemed to occur the day of delivery; (2) cedifor registered mail, postage prepaid, re
receipt requested, in which case delivery will leemed to occur the day it is officially recordedtbg U.S. Postal Service as delivered tc
intended recipient; or (3) nexay delivery to a U.S. address by recognized ogétrdelivery service such as Federal Express, iictwbas
delivery will be deemed to occur upon receipt.eéith case, a notice or other communication seatp@arty must be directed to the addres
that party set forth below, or to another addressghated by that party by written notice:

If to Acura: If to Garth Boehm, Ph.D
Acura Pharmaceuticals, In Garth Boehm, Ph.C
616 N. North Court Suite 12 530 Mountain Avenur
Palatine, Illinois 6006 Westfield, NJ 0709

Attention: President & CE!
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11. Termination of Employment Agreement.

Consultants employment and the Employment Agreement are ded¢emminated by Consultant as of the Consulting @emcemer
Date without Good Reason (as defined in the Emp@nAgreement) and Acura agrees that Consultarit sba be in breach of tt
Employment Agreement by reason of such terminatibme provisions hereof (including, without limitat, those of Section 2 hereof) art
addition to, and not in derogation of, the surviyjprovisions of the Employment Agreement. Acurd @onsultant acknowledge that as of
Consulting Commencement Date Consultant has vétadseven thousand (7,000) Commencement Daté&iBtesi Stock Units (as defined
the Employment Agreement) and (ii) CommencementeDB@ptions (as defined in the Employment Agreemémtpurchase twentgigh
thousand (28,000) shares of Acwatommon stock, par value $.01 per share. All Centament Date Restricted Stock Units
Commencement Date Options not vested as of the ulomgs Commencement Date are forfeited and shathiteate effective as of su
date. Commencement Date Options which vested fwitie Consulting Commencement Date must be esextddy Consultant within twel
(12) months of the Consulting Commencement Daitndgawhich the Commencement Date Options will terate. Consultant acknowled
that the Commencement Date Restricted Stock Umits @mmencement Date Options are subject to thestaf their respective gre
agreements (as appended to the Employment Agregarahthe underlying plans referenced in such gagreements.

12. Other Provisions

This Agreement is governed by the laws of the Stétdew York without giving effect to principles abnflict of laws. This Agreement is 1
entire agreement of the parties and supersedegpranyagreements between them, whether writtenral, aith respect to the subject ma
hereof. No waiver, alteration, or modificationanfy of the provisions of this Agreement will be diimg unless in writing and signed by d
authorized representatives of the parties heréle invalidity or unenforceability of any provisiaf this Agreement, or any terms thereof,
not affect the validity of this Agreement as a whalhich shall at all times during the term of &kgreement remain in full force and effect.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have exetthis Agreement as of the day and year first alvenien.

ACURA PHARMACEUTICALS, INC

By: /s/Andrew Reddick 12/10/C By: /s/Garth Boehm 12/8/C
Andrew Reddick Garth Boehm, Ph.C
President and Chief Executive Offic Consultan
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EXHIBIT 31.1

CERTIFICATION

I, Andrew D. Reddick, certify that:

1.

2.

| have reviewed this Annual Report on Forn-K of Acura Pharmaceuticals, In

Based on my knowledge, this annual report doesamtain any untrue statement of a material factnoit to state a material fact
necessary to make the statements made, in ligheafircumstances under which such statements wade, not misleading with
respect to the period covered by this ref

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements$ céimer financial information included in this repdairly present in all materi
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amdtfe periods presented in this rep

The registrant's other certifying officer and | a@gponsible for establishing and maintaining disgte controls and procedures
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&)1&qd internal control over financial reporting ¢kefined in Exchange Act Rules
13e-15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the registrant and hav

(@) Designed such disclosure controls and proceduregused such disclosure controls and proceduties tiesigned under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhtibsidiaries, is made known
to us by others within those entities, particulahlying the period in which this report is beingpared

(b) Designed such internal control over financial réjpgr; or caused such internal control over finahetgorting to be designe
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repogiand the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in atanoce with generally accepted accounting princijj

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrantslassire controls and procedures and presentedsimethort our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure conaints procedures, as of the end of the period cougyelis report based on such
evaluation; ant

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the regmtsanternal control over financial reporting tloatcurred during the registrar
most recent fiscal quarter (its fourth fiscal qaedrthat has materially affected, or is reasonéikély to materially affect, the
registrant's internal control over financial refrogt and

The registrant's other certifying officer and | balisclosed, based on our most recent evaluatiorterhal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant's auditors and thataumnmittee of the registrant's board of direct@spersons performing the equivalent
functions):

(&) All significant deficiencies and material weaknessethe design or operation of internal contradiofinancial reporting which
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the regig's ability to record, process, summarize aport financial information;
and

(b)  Any fraud, whether or not material, that involveamagement or other employees who have a significéain the registrant
internal control over financial reportin

Date: March 2, 2010

/s/Andrew D. Reddicl

Andrew D. Reddicl
President and Chief Executive Offic




EXHIBIT 31.2

CERTIFICATION

I, Peter A. Clemens, certify that:

1.

2.

| have reviewed this Annual Report on Forn-K of Acura Pharmaceuticals, In

Based on my knowledge, this annual report doesamtain any untrue statement of a material factnoit to state a material fact
necessary to make the statements made, in ligheafircumstances under which such statements wade, not misleading with
respect to the period covered by this ref

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements$ céimer financial information included in this repdairly present in all materi
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amdtfe periods presented in this rep

The registrant's other certifying officer and | a@gponsible for establishing and maintaining disgte controls and procedures
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&)1&qd internal control over financial reporting ¢kefined in Exchange Act Rules
13e-15(f) and 15-15(f) ) for the registrant and ha

(@) Designed such disclosure controls and proceduregused such disclosure controls and proceduties tiesigned under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhtibsidiaries, is made known
to us by others within those entities, particulahlying the period in which this report is beingpared

(b) Designed such internal control over financial réjpgr; or caused such internal control over finahetgorting to be designe
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repogiand the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in atanoce with generally accepted accounting princijj

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrantslassire controls and procedures and presentedsimethort our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure conaints procedures, as of the end of the period cougyelis report based on such
evaluation; ant

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the regmtsanternal control over financial reporting tloatcurred during the registrar
most recent fiscal quarter (its fourth fiscal qaedrthat has materially affected, or is reasonéikély to materially affect, the
registrant's internal control over financial refrogt and

The registrant's other certifying officer and | balisclosed, based on our most recent evaluatiorterhal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant's auditors and thataumnmittee of the registrant's board of direct@spersons performing the equivalent
functions):

(&) All significant deficiencies and material weaknessethe design or operation of internal contradiofinancial reporting which
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the regig's ability to record, process, summarize aport financial information;
and

(b)  Any fraud, whether or not material, that involveamagement or other employees who have a significéain the registrant
internal control over financial reportin

Date: March 2, 2010

/s/Peter A. Clemer

Peter A. Clemen
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Offi




EXHIBIT 32
CERTIFICATION OF

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
AND
CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER

PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Andrew D. Reddick, certify, pursuant to 18 U.SI350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of #ibaBexley Act of 2002, that tt
Annual Report on Form 1K-of Acura Pharmaceuticals, Inc. for the fiscal yeaded December 31, 2009 fully complies with tguirement
of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Excleagt of 1934 and that information contained intséanual Report of Form 10K fait
presents, in all material respects, the finan@aldition and results of operations of Acura Pharunécals, Inc.

March 2, 201( By: /s/Andrew D. Reddicl
Andrew D. Reddicl
President and Chief Executive Offic

I, Peter A. Clemens, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.850, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of theaBasOxley Act of 2002, that the Annt
Report on Form 16 of Acura Pharmaceuticals, Inc. for the fiscal yeaded December 31, 2009 fully complies with tguirements ¢
Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange @& 1934 and that information contained in suafnéal Report of Form 10K fair
presents, in all material respects, the finanaaldition and results of operations of Acura Phamunécals, Inc.

March 2, 201( By: I/s/Peter A. Clemer
Peter A. Clemen
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Offi




